
 
 

Agenda - 
01.16.2024 - Page 1 

 

Watch Live via YouTube at:  
https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537 

  

Pursuant to Ordinance #08-17, Any citizen of the County 
may sign to speak in person at the Council Meeting 
(before the Council Meeting’s Regular Meeting start 
time) on the Public Comments Sign in Sheet on the 

Podium to address Council on matters pertaining to County Services 
and Operations. Presentations will be limited to three (3) minutes per 
person and total public input will be limited to 30 minutes.  Written 
Public Comments may also be submitted by 1PM on the date of the 
Council Meeting by emailing your comment to: 
comments@jaspercountysc.gov.  
 
To participate in a Public Hearing for a specific agenda item, you may 
either email written public comments to 
comments@jaspercountysc.gov by 1:00PM on Tuesday, January 16, 
2024; or you can speak in person at the Council Meeting by signing in 
on the Public Hearing Sign In Sheet located outside the Council 
Chambers Doors prior to the start of the meeting. Public Hearing 
Comments shall be limited to 3 minutes per person. 
 

Instructions may also be found at the Jasper County website 
www.jaspercountysc.gov  
        FOR MORE INFORMATION, PLEASE CALL (843) 717-3696 
 
 
 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia
mailto:comments@jaspercountysc.gov
http://www.jaspercountysc.gov/


 
 

Agenda - 
01.16.2024 - Page 2 

 

 
JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 

Jasper County Clementa C. Pinckney Government Bldg.  
     358 3rd Avenue, Ridgeland, SC 29936                                                                                                                                     

    Tuesday, January 16, 2024 

4:30PM 
 
1.     Call to Order by Chairman Sauls 
 

Clerk’s Report of Compliance with the Freedom of Information Act.  
*In compliance with the Freedom of Information Act, notice of meetings and agendas were posted      
and furnished to all news media and persons requesting notification* 
 

2.  Election of Officers: 
 
Andrew Fulghum – Election of Chairman 
Chairman – Election of Vice Chairman 
 
3.         Executive Session SECTION 30-4-70.   

(a) A public body may hold a meeting closed to the public for one or more of the following reasons: 
 

   (1) Discussion of employment, appointment, compensation, promotion, demotion,  
     discipline, or release of an employee, a student, or a person regulated by a public body or    

                 the appointment of a person to a public body – Finance Department; Coroner’s Office;   
                 Treasurer’s Office 

 
   (2)  Discussion of negotiations incident to proposed contract arrangements and proposed     

                 purchase or sale of property, the receipt of legal advice where the legal advice related to    
                 pending, threatened, or potential claim or other matters covered by the attorney-client  
                 privilege, settlement of legal claims, or the position of the public agency in other adversary  
                 situations involving the assertion against the agency of a claim – Tax Map #’s 063-26-14-001 and  

       063-26-14-002; Gillisonville Pond – Farmer Property Tax Map # 050-00-04-043 Development  
       Agreement; Heather Rath Consulting Agreement; Proposed Lease / Purchase Agreement for  
       Fire Apparatus; Cameron Heddings v Jasper County; Davis v Jasper County; Consideration of  
       Conflict of Interest Waivers Burr Foreman Project Peaches and Project Install; Tax Map # 067- 
       00-01-010; Work authorization # 23 for Professional Services between Jasper County and Holt     
       Consulting Company LLC.; Jasper County v Alvin Adkins et al.; lease agreement #062-21-01- 
       0001-J2 



 
 

Agenda - 
01.16.2024 - Page 3 

 

    (5)  Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision  
    of services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in 
    the area served by a public body – Prospect Update; Project Showcase; Project Peach; Project      
    Veggies     
 

ANY EXECUTIVE SESSION MATTER ON WHICH DISCUSSION HAS NOT BEEN COMPLETED MAY HAVE DISCUSSION SUSPENDED FOR 
PURPOSES OF BEGINNING THE OPEN SESSION AT ITS SCHEDULED TIME, AND COUNCIL MAY RETURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 
DISCUSSION AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF THE OPEN SESSION AGENDA ITEMS. PLEASE BE ADVISED THERE MAY BE VOTES BASED ON 
ITEMS FROM THE EXECUTIVE SESSION. 

 
4:  Return to Open Session at 6:30PM 

o 3.1 Action coming out of Executive Session 
 
5.  Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation:  
 
6.  Approval of the Consent Agenda Items: 
 
7.  Approval of Agenda:  
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
8.  Jackie O’Bannon – Antioch Education Center 
 
9.  Tedd Moyd – Jasper County Neighbor’s United (JCNU) 
 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

RESOLUTIONS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
10. Kimberly Burgess – Consideration of Resolution #R-2024-01 for the Peddler and Hawker’s License 
 
11. Kimberly Burgess – Consideration of Resolution #R-2024-02 for the Disposal of a Sheriff’s Department 
Van.  
______________________________________________________________________________________  

PUBLIC HEARINGS, ORDINANCES AND ACTION ITEMS 
 

 
12. Ryan Romano – Public Hearing and consideration of the 2nd reading of Ordinance 
#O-2024-01 an Ordinance Authorizing the Execution and Delivery of a Fee-In-Lieu of Ad 
Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement by and Between Jasper County, South Carolina and 
Project Showcase to Provide for Payment of a Fee-In-Lieu Of Taxes; Approving the Creation of 
a Multicounty Park with Hampton County, South Carolina; authorizing Certain Infrastructure 
Credits and; and Other Related Matters (Project Showcase). (1st reading 12.04.2023) 



 
 

Agenda - 
01.16.2024 - Page 4 

 

 
13. David Tedder – Consideration of the 3rd reading of Ordinance #O-2023-21 Amending 
Section 9-96(3) as adopted by Ordinance No. 2022-39 to provide for the appointment of 
members to the Levy Fire Protection Board. (1st reading 11.06.2023, 2nd reading 12.04.2023, Public 
hearings 12.04.2023) 
 

14. David Tedder – Consideration of the 3rd reading of Ordinance #O-2022-38 Authorizing The Execution 

And Delivery Of A Fee-In-Lieu Of Tax Agreement By And Between Gopher Hill Holdings, LLC And Its 

Assigns And Terminal Investment Corp. And Tico Manufacturing (The “Sponsors”), And Jasper County, 

And An Infrastructure Credit Agreement By And Between Gopher Hill Holdings, LLC And Terminal 

Investment Corporation And Tico Manufacturing (The “Companies”) And Its Assigns, And Jasper County; 

Authorizing And Approving Development Of A New Joint County Industrial And Business Park Pursuant 

To Section 4-1-170 Of The Code Of Laws Of South Carolina 1976, As Amended, In Conjunction With 

Hampton County (The “Park”); And Authorizing The Jasper County Council Chairman Or  County 

Administrator, As Appropriate, To Execute Such Agreements And Other Documents As May Be Necessary 

And Appropriate To Effect The Foregoing And To Provide For Other Matters Relating Thereto. (1st reading 

11.21.2022, 2nd reading 12.05.2022, Public hearings 12.05.2022 and 12.04.2023)  

15.  Lisa Wagner - Consideration of the 1st Reading of an Ordinance to amend the Official Zoning Map of 
Jasper County so as to transfer a property located at 951 Carolina Drive, bearing Jasper County Tax Map 
Number 067-00-01-003 from the Rural Preservation District to the Industrial Development District on the 
Jasper County Official Zoning Map. 
______________________________________________________________________________________  

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
16. Open Floor to the Public per Ordinance 08-17 Any citizen of the County may sign to speak in person at 
the Council Meeting (before the Council Meeting’s 6:30PM start time on the Sign-In Sheet on the 
Podium), to address Council on matters pertaining to County Services and Operations. Presentations will 
be limited to three (3) minutes per person and total public input will be limited to 30 minutes. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
17.  Administrator’s Report    
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

 
CONSENT AGENDA 

_______________________________________________________________________________________  
 

18.  Wanda Simmons – Consideration of the schedule of 2024 County Council Schedule Meeting Dates for 
approval at the January 16, 2024, meeting. 
 
19. Danny Lucas – Consideration of the Request for Proposals (RFP) Terminal South Redevelopment 
for Ridgeland Claude Dean Airport.  



 
 

Agenda - 
01.16.2024 - Page 5 

 

20.  Andrew Fulghum – A request for Technical Advice and Assistance from the Trust for Public Land and 
the Nature Conservancy. 
 
21. Kimberly Burgess – Consideration of a Government Contract Purchase to perform an IP Intercom and 
Audio Recording System and PLC Input / Output System upgrades at the Detention Center in an amount 
not to exceed $218,791.46 plus applicable sales tax.   
 
22. Earl Bostick – Ratification of the previous purchase for the installation of the new Internet Cable 
System for the 3rd floor of the Administrative Building which exceeded $25,000.  
 
23. Andrew Fulghum - Consideration of approval of a Consulting Contract with Heather Rath Consulting 
 
24.  Approval of the Minutes 10.16.2023, 11.06.2023 and 12.04.2023. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
25.   Council Members Comments 

 
26.  Possible Return to Executive Session to Continue Discussion on Matters Regarding Agenda  
Item II. 

*Council may act on any item appearing on the agenda including items discussed in executive 
session. 

 
27.  Adjournment: 
 
In accordance with South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, Section 30-4-80(d), as amended, notification of the 
meeting was posted on the County Council Building at a publicly accessible place and on the county website 
at least 24 hours prior to the meeting.  A copy of the agenda was given to the local news media and posted 
at the meeting location twenty-four hours prior to the meeting.  
 

Special Accommodations Available Upon Request to Individuals with Disabilities 
(843) 717-3696 

 









 
 
 
 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY OF JASPER  
RESOLUTION NO. R-2024-01 

 
 
A RESOLUTION RELATING TO THE BUSINESS AND LICENSURE OF PEDDLERS 

AND HAWKERS. 

WHEREAS, S. C. Code of Laws Section 40-41-10, et seq., provides that no person shall 
as a hawker or peddler expose or sell any goods, wares, and merchandise in any county in this 
State unless he has received and is ready to produce and exhibit a license of such county so to 
sell or expose for sale goods, wares and merchandise in such county; and 

WHEREAS, S. C. Code of Laws Section 40-41-30 provides that the governing body of 
each county shall fix and establish such fees in its county at the first meeting in January of each 
year; and 

WHEREAS, S. C. Code of Laws Section 40-41-90 provides for an exemption from the 
provisions of Chapter 41, Article 1, except for the provisions of Sections 40-14-70 and 40-41-
100 (regarding sales within one-half mile of certain religious meetings and penalties), to vendors 
of newspapers, magazines, vegetables, tobacco, provisions of any kind or agricultural products 
or to sales by sample by persons traveling for established commercial houses, but provides for 
applicability to vendors of every other class and kind of goods, wares and merchandise and to 
sales by sample or otherwise by such hawkers and peddlers of stoves, ranges, clocks, lightning 
rods, sewing machines, pianos or organs; and   

 

 

WHEREAS, Jasper County Council adopted a Business License Ordinance, codified at 

Section 8-31 et seq. of the County Code of Ordinances, which incorporates in Section 8-51 a 

Business License Schedule identified as “Exhibit B;” and  

WHEREAS, Appendix B does not establish a general classification for Peddlers and 
Hawkers because the Rate Class 9.41 “NAICS CODE 454390 Other Direct Selling 
Establishments (Regular Peddlers)” no longer exists; and  

 

WHEREAS, Jasper County wishes to allow peddlers, hawkers and solicitors to 



operate only under prescribed conditions in accordance with the aforementioned statute, and 
confirm by Resolution the applicable fees for hawkers and peddlers; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by Jasper County Council, in a meeting 
duly assembled, as follows: 

Section 1 - Definitions: 

The following words, terms, and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the 
meanings ascribed to them in this Resolution, except where the context clearly indicates a 
different meaning: 

a) “Peddler” means any person who goes from house to house or from place to place 
soliciting, selling or taking orders for or offering to sell or take orders for any goods, 
wares, merchandise, or services; except vendors of newspapers, magazines, 
vegetables, tobacco, provisions of any kind or agricultural products, to sales by 
sample by persons traveling for established commercial houses, or any other vendor 
specifically exempted by State Statute, and includes those who may otherwise be 
identified as “hawkers” or “solicitors.” 

b) “County” means the County of Jasper. 

c) “License official” means a person designated to administer the County Business License 
program. 

d) “Person” means any individual, firm, partnership, LLP, LLC, cooperative non-profit 
membership, corporation, joint venture, association, estate, trust, business trust, 
receiver, syndicate, holding company or other group or combination acting as unit, in 
the singular or plural, and the agent or employee having charge or control of a business 
in the absence of the principals. 

e) “Profession” means a calling, occupation, or activity engaged in with the object 
of gain, benefit or advantage, either directly or indirectly. 

Section 2 - License and fee: Every Person engaged in or intending to engage in the Profession of 
Peddler, in whole or in part, within unincorporated Jasper County, is required to pay an annual 
license fee to obtain a license. 

a) The required license fee shall be paid for each Peddler before commencing business 
and will be good in the County until the last day of December next after the date of 
issue, and  
 



b) In compliance with 6-1-400 (G)(1), the license fee for peddlers and hawkers will 
be equal to a fee double the base rate of their natural class for business license 
purposes, i.e., door to door vacuum sales would be taxed as sales, not 
peddling/hawking. 

Section 3 - Application for Peddler license: Any Person may apply for one or more Peddler 
licenses at the Clerk of Court’s Office, or upon receipt by the Jasper County Administrator of a 
letter from the Clerk of Court requesting to delegate the administration the Peddler license 
program to the County License Official’s office and a confirmation by the Administrator of such 
responsibilities, at the Jasper County Business License Office (in-person or on-line). The Clerk 
of Court, or in the case there has been a delegation of authority, the Business License Office, shall 
issue such permit upon payment of the applicable fee. 

 

 

Adopted this 16th day of January 2024  

           

      ____________________________ 

      __________________, Chairperson 

____________________________ 

      ATTEST: 

  

      _____________________________ 

      Wanda Simmons, Clerk to Council 

 

 

 
 

Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney: 
 
 

____________________   __________________ 
David Tedder     Date 





STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
JASPER COUNTY 

 
RESOLUTION #R-2024-02 

 
RESOLUTION OF JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 

 
To declare certain Sheriff’s Department property to be surplus  

and authorize its sale or disposition 
 
 
WHEREAS, the County Administrator has identified the property listed below as no 
longer necessary or useful to the County for the accomplishment of its mission, and 
recommends that it be declared surplus and sold or otherwise disposed of;  
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the property identified below is declared 
surplus pursuant to the Jasper County Purchasing and Procurement Ordinance, 
Ordinance #05-04 (as codified in Chapter 2, Article V of the Jasper County Code of 
Ordinances, Sections 2-401 et seq.), and specifically section 2-425(d) and the Chief 
Procurement Officer of the County is authorized and directed to sell or otherwise 
dispose of the property in accordance with that Ordinance.  The Chief Procurement 
officer of the County is authorized and directed to sell the described property through 
GovDeals.com, or such other method as the Chief Procurement Officer, in consultation 
with the County Administrator determines to be the most suitable to dispose of the 
property, with the County Administrator and the Director of Administrative 
Services/Chief Procurement Officer authorized to place the proceeds in the “Sheriff’s 
Department Drug Fund” account of the County.   
 

Unit #891, 2004 Honda Odyssey van, VIN #5FNRL18904B038682 
 

 
This Resolution made this _________ day of January 2024.  
 
        _______________________ 
                          , Chairman 
 
        ATTEST: 
    
        _______________________ 
                  Wanda Simmons, Clerk to Council 
 
 
Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney. 
 
___________________________ 
David L. Tedder                                 Date 



 





 

PPAB 10183882v2 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

COUNTY COUNCIL FOR JASPER COUNTY  

ORDINANCE NO. O-2024-01 

 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FEE-IN-LIEU 

OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT BY AND 

BETWEEN JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA AND ANHINGA 

LLC, A COMPANY PREVIOUSLY KNOWN TO THE COUNTY AS 

PROJECT SHOWCASE, TO PROVIDE FOR PAYMENT OF A FEE-IN-

LIEU OF TAXES; APPROVING THE CREATION OF A MULTICOUNTY 

PARK WITH HAMPTON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA; 

AUTHORIZING CERTAIN INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS AND; AND 

OTHER RELATED MATTERS.   

 

WHEREAS, Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council 

(“County Council”) is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44, Code of Laws of South 

Carolina, 1976, as amended (“FILOT Act”), to encourage manufacturing and commercial enterprises to 

locate in the State of South Carolina (“South Carolina” or “State”) or to encourage manufacturing and 

commercial enterprises now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and 

employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the State by entering into an agreement with a 

sponsor, as defined in the FILOT Act, that provides for the payment of a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem tax 

(“FILOT Payments”), with respect to economic development property, as defined in the FILOT Act; 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4, Section 

1, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (collectively, “MCIP Act”), the County is authorized 

to jointly develop multicounty parks with counties having contiguous borders with the County and, in the 

County’s discretion, include property within the boundaries of such multicounty parks. Under the authority 

provided in the MCIP Act, the County wishes to create a multicounty park with Hampton County, South 

Carolina more particularly known as the Project Showcase Park (“Park”) by entering into an Agreement 

for Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (Project Showcase) the form of which is 

attached here as Exhibit B (“Park Agreement”); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT and MCIP Acts, the County is authorized to provide credits 

(“Infrastructure Credits”) against FILOT Payments derived from economic development property to pay 

costs of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving or expanding (i) infrastructure serving a project or 

the County and (ii) improved and unimproved real estate and personal property used in the operation of a 

commercial enterprise or manufacturing facility (“Infrastructure”); 

WHEREAS, Anhinga LLC, a company previously known to the County as Project Showcase 

(“Sponsor”), desires to establish a manufacturing facility in the County (“Project”) consisting of taxable 

investment in real and personal property of not less than $14,000,000 and the creation of 140, new full-time 

jobs; and 

WHEREAS, at the request of the Sponsor and as an inducement to locate the Project in the County, the 

County desires to enter into a Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement with the Sponsor, 

as Sponsor, the form of which is attached as Exhibit A (“Fee Agreement”), pursuant to which the County 

will provide certain incentives to the Sponsor with respect to the Project, including (i) providing for FILOT 

Payments, to be calculated as set forth in the Fee Agreement, with respect to the portion of the Project 

which constitutes economic development property; and (2) locating the Project in the Park; and (3) 

providing Infrastructure Credits and other incentives, as described in the Fee Agreement, to assist in paying 

the costs of certain Infrastructure.  



 

 2 
PPAB 10183882v2 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows:   

Section 1. Statutory Findings.  Based on information supplied to the County by the Sponsor, County 

Council evaluated the Project based on relevant criteria including, the purposes the Project is to accomplish, 

the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created, and the anticipated 

costs and benefits to the County, and hereby finds: 

(a) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, 

employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally;  

(b) The Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated municipality or a 

charge against its general credit or taxing power;  

(c) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes and 

the benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

Section 2. Approval of Incentives; Authorization to Execute and Deliver Fee Agreement.  The 

incentives as described in this Ordinance (“Ordinance”), and as more particularly set forth in the Fee 

Agreement, with respect to the Project are hereby approved. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee 

Agreement that is before this meeting are approved and all of the Fee Agreement’s terms and conditions 

are incorporated in this Ordinance by reference. The Chair of County Council (“Chair”) is authorized and 

directed to execute the Fee Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the County, subject to the approval 

of any revisions or changes as are not materially adverse to the County by the County Administrator and 

counsel to the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby authorized and directed to attest the Fee 

Agreement and to deliver the Fee Agreement to the Sponsor. 

Section 3. Inclusion within the Park.  The creation of the Park and the inclusion of the Project in the 

Park is authorized and approved. The Chair, the County Administrator and the Clerk to County Council are 

each authorized to execute such documents and take such further actions as may be necessary to complete 

the expansion of the Park boundaries. The Park Agreement is approved and will be complete on adoption 

of this Ordinance by County Council and the adoption of an approving companion ordinance by the 

Hampton County, South Carolina. 

Section 4.  Further Assurances.  The County Council confirms the authority of the Chair, the County 

Administrator, the Director of Economic Development, the Clerk to County Council, and various other 

County officials and staff, acting at the direction of the Chair, the County Administrator, the Director of 

Economic Development or Clerk to County Council, as appropriate, to take whatever further action and to 

negotiate, execute and deliver whatever further documents as may be appropriate to effect the intent of this 

Ordinance and the incentives offered to the Sponsor under this Ordinance and the Fee Agreement. 

Section 5. Savings Clause.  The provisions of this Ordinance are separable. If any part of this Ordinance 

is, for any reason, unenforceable then the validity of the remainder of this Ordinance is unaffected. 

Section 6. General Repealer.  Any prior ordinance, resolution, or order, the terms of which are in 

conflict with this Ordinance, is, only to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

Section 7. Effectiveness.  This Ordinance is effective after its third reading and public hearing.  

  



 

 3 
PPAB 10183882v2 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

 

        

Chair, Jasper County Council 

(SEAL) 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

        

Clerk of Council, Jasper County Council 

 

 

First Reading: 12.04.2023   

Second Reading: 01.16.2024  

Public Hearing: 01.16.2024  

Third Reading:   



 

PPAB 10183882v2 

EXHIBIT A 

FORM OF FEE AGREEMENT 

 

  



 

 5 
PPAB 10183882v2 

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF PARK AGREEMENT 

 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
COUNTY COUNCIL FOR JASPER COUNTY

ORDINANCE NO. __________

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A
FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND INCENTIVE
AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH
CAROLINA AND ANHINGA LLC, A COMPANY PREVIOUSLY
KNOWN TO THE COUNTY AS PROJECT SHOWCASE, TO PROVIDE
FOR PAYMENT OF A FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAXES; APPROVING THE
CREATION OF A MULTICOUNTY PARK WITH HAMPTON COUNTY,
SOUTH CAROLINA; AUTHORIZING CERTAIN INFRASTRUCTURE
CREDITS AND; AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS.

WHEREAS, Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council
(“County Council”) is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44, Code of Laws of
South Carolina, 1976, as amended (“FILOT Act”), to encourage manufacturing and commercial
enterprises to locate in the State of South Carolina (“South Carolina” or “State”) or to encourage
manufacturing and commercial enterprises now located in the State to expand their investments and thus
make use of and employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the State by entering into an
agreement with a sponsor, as defined in the FILOT Act, that provides for the payment of a fee-in-lieu of
ad valorem tax (“FILOT Payments”), with respect to economic development property, as defined in the
FILOT Act;

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4,
Section 1, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (collectively, “MCIP Act”), the County is
authorized to jointly develop multicounty parks with counties having contiguous borders with the County
and, in the County’s discretion, include property within the boundaries of such multicounty parks. Under
the authority provided in the MCIP Act, the County wishes to create a multicounty park with Hampton
County, South Carolina more particularly known as the Project Showcase Park (“Park”) by entering into
an Agreement for Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (Project Showcase) the
form of which is attached here as Exhibit B (“Park Agreement”);

WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT and MCIP Acts, the County is authorized to provide credits
(“Infrastructure Credits”) against FILOT Payments derived from economic development property to pay
costs of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving or expanding (i) infrastructure serving a project or
the County and (ii) improved and unimproved real estate and personal property used in the operation of a
commercial enterprise or manufacturing facility (“Infrastructure”);

WHEREAS, Anhinga LLC, a company currentlypreviously known to the County as Project
Showcase,  (“Sponsor”), desires to establish a manufacturing facility in the County (“Project”) consisting
of taxable investment in real and personal property of not less than $14,000,000 and the creation of 140,
new full-time jobs; and

WHEREAS, at the request of the Sponsor and as an inducement to locate the Project in the County,
the County desires to enter into a Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement with the
Sponsor, as Sponsor, the form of which is attached as Exhibit A (“Fee Agreement”), pursuant to which
the County will provide certain incentives to the Sponsor with respect to the Project, including (i)
providing for FILOT Payments, to be calculated as set forth in the Fee Agreement, with respect to the
portion of the Project which constitutes economic development property; and (2) locating the Project in

PPAB 10183882v110183882v2



the Park; and (3) providing Infrastructure Credits and other incentives, as described in the Fee
Agreement, to assist in paying the costs of certain Infrastructure.

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows:

Section 1. Statutory Findings.  Based on information supplied to the County by the Sponsor, County
Council evaluated the Project based on relevant criteria including, the purposes the Project is to
accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created, and
the anticipated costs and benefits to the County, and hereby finds:

(a) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing
services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally;

(b) The Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated municipality or a
charge against its general credit or taxing power;

(c) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes and
the benefits of the Project are greater than the costs.

Section 2. Approval of Incentives; Authorization to Execute and Deliver Fee Agreement. The
incentives as described in this Ordinance (“Ordinance”), and as more particularly set forth in the Fee
Agreement, with respect to the Project are hereby approved. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee
Agreement that is before this meeting are approved and all of the Fee Agreement’s terms and conditions
are incorporated in this Ordinance by reference. The Chair of County Council (“Chair”) is authorized and
directed to execute the Fee Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the County, subject to the
approval of any revisions or changes as are not materially adverse to the County by the County
Administrator and counsel to the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby authorized and
directed to attest the Fee Agreement and to deliver the Fee Agreement to the Sponsor.

Section 3. Inclusion within the Park.  The creation of the Park and the inclusion of the Project in the
Park is authorized and approved. The Chair, the County Administrator and the Clerk to County Council
are each authorized to execute such documents and take such further actions as may be necessary to
complete the expansion of the Park boundaries. The Park Agreement is approved and will be complete on
adoption of this Ordinance by County Council and the adoption of an approving companion ordinance by
the Hampton County, South Carolina.

Section 4. Further Assurances. The County Council confirms the authority of the Chair, the
County Administrator, the Director of Economic Development, the Clerk to County Council, and various
other County officials and staff, acting at the direction of the Chair, the County Administrator, the
Director of Economic Development or Clerk to County Council, as appropriate, to take whatever further
action and to negotiate, execute and deliver whatever further documents as may be appropriate to effect
the intent of this Ordinance and the incentives offered to the Sponsor under this Ordinance and the Fee
Agreement.

Section 5. Savings Clause. The provisions of this Ordinance are separable. If any part of this
Ordinance is, for any reason, unenforceable then the validity of the remainder of this Ordinance is
unaffected.

Section 6. General Repealer. Any prior ordinance, resolution, or order, the terms of which are in
conflict with this Ordinance, is, only to the extent of that conflict, repealed.

2
PPAB 10183882v110183882v2



Section 7. Effectiveness.  This Ordinance is effective after its third reading and public hearing.

3
PPAB 10183882v110183882v2



JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

Chair, Jasper County Council
(SEAL)
ATTEST:

Clerk of Council, Jasper County Council

First Reading: December 4, 2023
Second Reading:
Public Hearing:
Third Reading:

4
PPAB 10183882v110183882v2



EXHIBIT A

FORM OF FEE AGREEMENT

PPAB 10183882v110183882v2



EXHIBIT B

FORM OF PARK AGREEMENT

6
PPAB 10183882v110183882v2



 

PPAB 10183962v2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

 

 

BETWEEN 

 

 

 

ANHINGA LLC 

 

 

AND 

 

 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

 

 

 

EFFECTIVE AS OF [] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

ii 
PPAB 10183962v2 

_________________________ 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

_________________________ 

 

 Page 

 

Recitals .......................................................................................................................................................... 1 

 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

 

Section 1.1 Terms. .................................................................................................................................... 1 

 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 

Section 2.1 Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the County ................................................ 4 

Section 2.2 Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the Sponsor .............................................. 5 

 

ARTICLE III 

THE PROJECT 

 

Section 3.1 The Project ............................................................................................................................. 5 

Section 3.2 Leased Property ...................................................................................................................... 6 

Section 3.3 Filings and Reports ................................................................................................................ 6 

 

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 

 

Section 4.1 FILOT Payments .................................................................................................................... 6 

Section 4.2 FILOT Payments on Replacement Property .......................................................................... 7 

Section 4.3 Removal of Components of the Project ................................................................................. 7 

Section 4.4 Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property ................................................ 7 

Section 4.5 Condemnation ........................................................................................................................ 8 

Section 4.6 Calculating FILOT Payments on Diminution in Value.......................................................... 8 

Section 4.7 Payment of Ad Valorem Taxes ............................................................................................... 8 

Section 4.8 Place of FILOT Payments ...................................................................................................... 8 

 

ARTICLE V 

ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES 

 

Section 5.1 Infrastructure Credits ............................................................................................................. 9 

 

ARTICLE VI 

CLAW BACK 

 

Section 6.1 Claw Back .............................................................................................................................. 9 

 

  



 

iii 
PPAB 10183962v2 

ARTICLE VII 

DEFAULT 

 

Section 7.1 Events of Default ................................................................................................................... 9 

Section 7.2 Remedies on Default ............................................................................................................ 10 

Section 7.3 Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses ............................................................. 10 

Section 7.4 Remedies Not Exclusive ...................................................................................................... 10 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

 

Section 8.1 Right to Inspect .................................................................................................................... 10 

Section 8.2 Confidentiality ..................................................................................................................... 11 

Section 8.3 Indemnification Covenants .................................................................................................. 11 

Section 8.4 No Liability of County’s Personnel ..................................................................................... 12 

Section 8.5 Limitation of Liability .......................................................................................................... 12 

Section 8.6 Assignment ........................................................................................................................... 12 

Section 8.7 No Double Payment; Future Changes in Legislation ........................................................... 12 

Section 8.8 Administration Expenses ..................................................................................................... 12 

 

ARTICLE IX 

SPONSOR AFFILIATES 

 

Section 9.1 Sponsor Affiliates ................................................................................................................ 12 

Section 9.2 Primary Responsibility ......................................................................................................... 13 

 

ARTICLE X 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Section 10.1 Notices ................................................................................................................................. 13 

Section 10.2 Provision of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Sponsor ....................................... 14 

Section 10.3 Counterparts ......................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 10.4 Governing Law .................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 10.5 Headings ............................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 10.6 Amendments ........................................................................................................................ 14 

Section 10.7 Agreement to Sign Other Documents .................................................................................. 14 

Section 10.8 Interpretation; Invalidity; Change in Laws .......................................................................... 14 

Section 10.9 Force Majeure ...................................................................................................................... 14 

Section 10.10 Termination; Termination by Sponsor ................................................................................. 15 

Section 10.11 Entire Agreement ................................................................................................................. 15 

Section 10.12 Waiver .................................................................................................................................. 15 

Section 10.13 Business Day ........................................................................................................................ 15 

Section 10.14 Agreement’s Construction ................................................................................................... 15 

 

Exhibit A – Description of Property ......................................................................................................... A-1 

Exhibit B – Form of Joinder Agreement ................................................................................................... B-1 

Exhibit C – Description of Infrastructure Credit ...................................................................................... C-1 

Exhibit D – Description of Claw Back ..................................................................................................... D-1 

 

  



 

iv 
PPAB 10183962v2 

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF 

FEE AGREEMENT 

 

The parties have agreed to waive the requirement to recapitulate the contents of this Fee Agreement 

pursuant to Section 12-44-55 of the Code (as defined herein). However, the parties have agreed to include 

a summary of the key provisions of this Fee Agreement for the convenience of the parties. This summary 

is included for convenience only and is not to be construed as a part of the terms and conditions of this Fee 

Agreement.  
 

 

PROVISION BRIEF DESCRIPTION SECTION REFERENCE 

Sponsor Name Anhinga LLC Section 1.1 

Project Location Hardeeville Commerce Park Exhibit A 

FILOT   

• Phase Exemption 

Period 

20 years Section 1.1. 

• Contract Minimum 

Investment 

Requirement 

14,000,000 Section 1.1 

• Contract Minimum 

Jobs Requirement 

140 Section 1.1. 

• Investment Period 5 years Section 1.1 

• Assessment Ratio 6% Section 4.1(a)(ii) 

• Millage Rate 343 Section 4.1(a)(iii) 

• Fixed or Five-Year 

Adjustable Millage 

fixed Section 4.1(a)(iii) 

Multicounty Park Project Showcase Park Section 1.1 

Infrastructure Credit   

• Brief Description 30% Exhibit C 

• Credit Term 10 year Exhibit C 

• Claw Back 

Information 

Pro-rata Exhibit D 

 

 

 



 

 
1 

PPAB 10183962v2 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT 

THIS FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT (“Fee Agreement”) is entered 

into, effective, as of [], 2023, between Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”), a body politic and 

corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“State”), acting through the Jasper 

County Council (“County Council”) as the governing body of the County, and Anhinga LLC, a company 

previously known to the County as Project Showcase (“Sponsor”). 

WITNESSETH: 

(a)  Title 12, Chapter 44, (“Act”) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended 

(“Code”), authorizes the County to induce manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate in the State 

or to encourage manufacturing and commercial enterprises currently located in the State to expand their 

investments and thus make use of and employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the State by 

entering into an agreement with a sponsor, as defined in the Act, that provides for the payment of a fee-in-

lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) with respect to Economic Development Property, as defined below; 

(b)  Sections 4-1-175 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to provide credits 

(“Infrastructure Credit”) against payments in lieu of taxes for the purpose of defraying of the cost of 

designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding (i) the infrastructure serving the County or a 

project and (ii) for improved and unimproved real estate, and personal property, including machinery and 

equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or commercial enterprise (collectively, 

“Infrastructure”);  

(c)  The Sponsor has committed to establish a manufacturing facility (“Facility”) in the County, 

consisting of taxable investment in real and personal property of not less than $14,000,000 and the creation 

of 140 new, full-time jobs; 

(d)  By an ordinance enacted on [], 2023, County Council authorized the County to enter into 

this Fee Agreement with the Sponsor to provide for a FILOT and the other incentives as more particularly 

described in this Fee Agreement to induce the Sponsor to locate its Facility in the County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 

agreements hereinafter contained, the parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Terms. The defined terms used in this Fee Agreement have the meaning given below, 

unless the context clearly requires otherwise. 

“Act” means Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code, and all future acts successor or supplemental thereto 

or amendatory of this Fee Agreement. 

“Act Minimum Investment Requirement” means an investment of at least $2,500,000 in the 

Project within five years of the Commencement Date.  

“Administration Expenses” means the reasonable expenses incurred by the County in the 

negotiation, approval and implementation of the terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement, including 

reasonable attorney’s and consultant’s fees. Administration Expenses does not include any costs, expenses, 

including attorney’s fees, incurred by the County (i) in defending challenges to the FILOT Payments, 

Infrastructure Credits or other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement brought by third parties or the 



 

 
2 

PPAB 10183962v2 

Sponsor or its affiliates and related entities, or (ii) in connection with matters arising at the request of the 

Sponsor outside of the immediate scope of this Fee Agreement, including amendments to the terms of this 

Fee Agreement. 

“Code” means the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended. 

“Commencement Date” means the last day of the property tax year during which Economic 

Development Property is placed in service. The Commencement Date shall not be later than the last day of 

the property tax year which is three years from the year in which the County and the Sponsor enter into this 

Fee Agreement. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, the Commencement Date is expected to be December 

31, 2024. 

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” means a taxable investment in real and personal 

property at the Project of not less than $14,000,000.  

“Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement” means not less than 140 full-time, jobs created by the 

Sponsor in the County in connection with the Project.  

“County” means Jasper County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 

subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as the 

governing body of the County. 

“County Council” means the Jasper County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“Credit Term” means the years during the Fee Term in which the Infrastructure Credit is applicable, 

as described in Exhibit C.  

“Department” means the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Diminution in Value” means a reduction in the fair market value of Economic Development 

Property, as determined in Section 4.1(a)(i) of this Fee Agreement, which may be caused by (i) the removal 

or disposal of components of the Project pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Fee Agreement; (ii) a casualty as 

described in Section 4.4 of this Fee Agreement; or (iii) a condemnation as described in Section 4.5 of this 

Fee Agreement. 

“Economic Development Property” means those items of real and tangible personal property of 

the Project placed in service not later than the end of the Investment Period that (i) satisfy the conditions of 

classification as economic development property under the Act, and (ii) are identified by the Sponsor in its 

annual filing of a PT-300S or comparable form with the Department (as such filing may be amended from 

time to time).  

“Equipment” means all of the machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and fixtures, 

together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions. 

“Event of Default” means any event of default specified in Section 7.1 of this Fee Agreement. 

“Fee Agreement” means this Fee-In-Lieu Of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement. 

“Fee Term” means the period from the effective date of this Fee Agreement until the Final 

Termination Date. 



 

 
3 

PPAB 10183962v2 

“FILOT Payments” means the amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem property taxes as 

provided in Section 4.1. 

“Final Phase” means the Economic Development Property placed in service during the last year 

of the Investment Period.  

“Final Termination Date” means the date on which the last FILOT Payment with respect to the 

Final Phase is made, or such earlier date as the Fee Agreement is terminated in accordance with the terms 

of this Fee Agreement. Assuming the Phase Termination Date for the Final Phase is December 31, 2058, 

the Final Termination Date is expected to be January 15, 2060, which is the due date of the last FILOT 

Payment with respect to the Final Phase.  

“Improvements” means all improvements to the Real Property, including buildings, building 

additions, roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with all additions, fixtures, accessions, 

replacements, and substitutions. 

“Infrastructure” means (i) the infrastructure serving the County or the Project, (ii) improved and 

unimproved real estate, and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation 

of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise, or (iii) such other items as may be described in or permitted 

under Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

 

“Infrastructure Credit” means the credit provided to the Sponsor pursuant to Section 12-44-70 of 

the Act and Section 5.1 of this Fee Agreement, with respect to the Infrastructure. Infrastructure Credits are 

to be used for the payment of Infrastructure constituting real property, improvements and infrastructure 

before any use for the payment of Infrastructure constituting personal property, notwithstanding any 

presumptions to the contrary in the MCIP Act or otherwise. 

 

“Investment Period” means the period beginning with the first day of any purchase or acquisition 

of Economic Development Property and ending five years after the Commencement Date, as may be 

extended pursuant to Section 12-44-30(13) of the Act. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, the Investment 

Period, unless so extended, is expected to end on December 31, 2028.  

“MCIP Act” means Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 

and Sections 4-1-170, 4-1-172, 4-1-175, and 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Multicounty Park” means the multicounty industrial or business park governed by the Agreement 

for Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (Project Showcase), dated as of [], 2023, 

between the County and Hampton County, South Carolina. 

“Net FILOT Payment” means the FILOT Payment net of the Infrastructure Credit. 

“Phase” means the Economic Development Property placed in service during a particular year of 

the Investment Period. 

“Phase Exemption Period” means, with respect to each Phase, the period beginning with the 

property tax year the Phase is placed in service during the Investment Period and ending on the Phase 

Termination Date.  

“Phase Termination Date” means, with respect to each Phase, the last day of the property tax year 

which is the 19th year following the first property tax year in which the Phase is placed in service. 



 

 
4 

PPAB 10183962v2 

“Project” means all the Equipment, Improvements, and Real Property in the County that the 

Sponsor determines to be necessary, suitable, or useful by the Sponsor in connection with its investment in 

the County.  

“Real Property” means real property that the Sponsor uses or will use in the County for the 

purposes that Section 2.2(b) describes, and initially consists of the land identified on Exhibit A of this Fee 

Agreement. 

“Removed Components” means Economic Development Property which the Sponsor, in its sole 

discretion, (a) determines to be inadequate, obsolete, worn-out, uneconomic, damaged, unsuitable, 

undesirable, or unnecessary pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Fee Agreement or otherwise; or (b) elects to be 

treated as removed pursuant to Section 4.4(c) or Section 4.5(b)(iii) of this Fee Agreement.  

“Replacement Property” means any property which is placed in service as a replacement for any 

Removed Component regardless of whether the Replacement Property serves the same functions as the 

Removed Component it is replacing and regardless of whether more than one piece of Replacement 

Property replaces a single Removed Component. 

“Sponsor” means Anhinga LLC, a company previously known to the County as Project Showcase 

and any surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any merger, consolidation, or transfer of assets; or any 

other person or entity which may succeed to the rights and duties of the Sponsor under this Fee Agreement. 

“Sponsor Affiliate” means an entity that participates in the investment or job creation at the Project 

and, following receipt of the County’s approval pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Fee Agreement, joins this 

Fee Agreement by delivering a Joinder Agreement, the form of which is attached as Exhibit B to this Fee 

Agreement. 

“State” means the State of South Carolina. 

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement 

shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement or 

document. 

The term “investment” or “invest” as used in this Fee Agreement includes not only investments 

made by the Sponsor, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments made by or for the 

benefit of the Sponsor in connection with the Project through federal, state, or local grants, to the extent 

such investments are or, but for the terms of this Fee Agreement, would be subject to ad valorem taxes to 

be paid by the Sponsor. 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1. Representations and Warranties of the County. The County represents and warrants 

as follows: 

(a)  The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State and acts 

through the County Council as its governing body. The Act authorizes and empowers the County to enter 

into the transactions that this Fee Agreement contemplates and to carry out its obligations under this Fee 

Agreement. The County has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement and all other 

documents, certificates or other agreements contemplated in this Fee Agreement and has obtained all 



 

 
5 

PPAB 10183962v2 

consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill its obligations 

under this Fee Agreement. 

 

(b)  Based on representations by the Sponsor, County Council evaluated the Project based on 

all relevant criteria including the purposes the Project is to accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and 

nature of the investment resulting from the Project, and the anticipated costs and benefits to the County and 

following the evaluation, the County determined that (i) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general 

public welfare of the County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not 

otherwise adequately provided locally; (ii) the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or 

any incorporated municipality and to no charge against the County’s general credit or taxing power; (iii) 

the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and (iv) the 

benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

 

(c)  The County identified the Project, as a “project” on December 4, 2023 and adopted an 

Inducement Resolution, as defined in the Act on December 4, 2023. 

 

(d)  The County is not in default of any of its obligations (contractual or otherwise) as a result 

of entering into and performing its obligations under this Fee Agreement. 

 

(e)  The County has located or will take all reasonable action to locate the Project in the 

Multicounty Park.  

 

Section 2.2. Representations and Warranties of the Sponsor. The Sponsor represents and warrants 

as follows:  

 

(a)  The Sponsor is in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization, is duly 

authorized to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business in 

the State), has power to enter into this Fee Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and delivery 

of this Fee Agreement. 

 

(b)  The Sponsor intends to operate the Project as a manufacturing facility and for such other 

purposes that the Act permits as the Sponsor may deem appropriate. 

 

(c)  The Sponsor’s execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement and its compliance with the 

provisions of this Fee Agreement do not result in a default under any agreement or instrument to which the 

Sponsor is now a party or by which it is bound. 

 

(d)  The Sponsor will use commercially reasonable efforts to achieve the Contract Minimum 

Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement. 

 

(e)  The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County and the availability of the 

FILOT and other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement has been instrumental in inducing the Sponsor 

to locate the Project in the County. 

 

(f)  The Sponsor has retained legal counsel to confirm, or has had a reasonable opportunity to 

consult legal counsel to confirm, its eligibility for the FILOT and other incentives granted by this Fee 

Agreement and has not relied on the County, its officials, employees or legal representatives with respect 

to any question of eligibility or applicability of the FILOT and other incentives granted by this Fee 

Agreement. 

 



 

 
6 

PPAB 10183962v2 

ARTICLE III 

THE PROJECT 

Section 3.1. The Project. The Sponsor intends and expects to (i) construct or acquire the Project 

and (ii) meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement 

within the Investment Period. The Sponsor anticipates that the first Phase of the Project will be placed in 

service during the calendar year ending December 31, 2024. Notwithstanding anything contained in this 

Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Sponsor is not obligated to complete the acquisition of the Project. 

However, if the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement is not met, the benefits provided to the 

Sponsor, or Sponsor Affiliate, if any, pursuant to this Fee Agreement may be reduced, modified or 

terminated as provided in this Fee Agreement. 

Section 3.2. Leased Property. To the extent that State law allows or is revised or construed to 

permit leased assets including a building, or personal property to be installed in a building, to constitute 

Economic Development Property, then any property leased by the Sponsor is, at the election of the Sponsor, 

deemed to be Economic Development Property for purposes of this Fee Agreement, subject, at all times, to 

the requirements of State law and this Fee Agreement with respect to property comprising Economic 

Development Property. 

Section 3.3. Filings and Reports.  

(a)  The Sponsor shall file a copy of this Fee Agreement and a completed PT-443 with the 

Economic Development Director and the Department and the Auditor, Treasurer and Assessor of the 

County and partner county to the Multicounty Park. 

 

(b)  On request by the County Administrator or the Economic Development Director, the 

Sponsor shall remit to the Economic Development Director records accounting for the acquisition, 

financing, construction, and operation of the Project which records (i) permit ready identification of all 

Economic Development Property; (ii) confirm the dates that the Economic Development Property or Phase 

was placed in service; and (iii) include copies of all filings made in accordance with this Section.  

 

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 

 

Section 4.1. FILOT Payments.  

 

(a)  The FILOT Payment due with respect to each Phase through the Phase Termination Date 

is calculated as follows: 

 

(i) The fair market value of the Phase calculated as set forth in the Act (for the Real 

Property portion of the Phase, the County and the Sponsor have elected to use the fair 

market value established in the first year of the Phase Exemption Period), multiplied 

by 

 

(ii) An assessment ratio of six percent (6%), multiplied by 

 

(iii) A fixed millage rate equal to 343, which is the cumulative millage rate levied by or on 

behalf of all the taxing entities within which the Project is located as of June 30, 2022. 

 

The calculation of the FILOT Payment must allow all applicable property tax exemptions except 

those excluded pursuant to Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the Act. The Sponsor acknowledges that (i) the 



 

 
7 

PPAB 10183962v2 

calculation of the annual FILOT Payment is a function of the Department and is wholly dependent on the 

Sponsor timely submitting the correct annual property tax returns to the Department, (ii) the County has no 

responsibility for the submission of returns or the calculation of the annual FILOT Payment, and (iii) failure 

by the Sponsor to submit the correct annual property tax return could lead to a loss of all or a portion of the 

FILOT and other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement.  

 

(b)  If a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no further appeal is 

allowable declares the FILOT Payments invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the 

parties shall negotiate the reformation of the calculation of the FILOT Payments to most closely afford the 

Sponsor with the intended benefits of this Fee Agreement. If such order has the effect of subjecting the 

Economic Development Property to ad valorem taxation, this Fee Agreement shall terminate, and the 

Sponsor shall owe the County regular ad valorem taxes from the date of termination, in accordance with 

Section 4.7. 

 

Section 4.2. FILOT Payments on Replacement Property. If the Sponsor elects to place 

Replacement Property in service, then, pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the 

Act, the Sponsor shall make the following payments to the County with respect to the Replacement Property 

for the remainder of the Phase Exemption Period applicable to the Removed Component of the Replacement 

Property: 

 

(a)  FILOT Payments, calculated in accordance with Section 4.1, on the Replacement Property 

to the extent of the original income tax basis of the Removed Component the Replacement Property is 

deemed to replace.   

(b)  Regular ad valorem tax payments to the extent the income tax basis of the Replacement 

Property exceeds the original income tax basis of the Removed Component the Replacement Property is 

deemed to replace.  

Section 4.3. Removal of Components of the Project. Subject to the other terms and provisions of 

this Fee Agreement, the Sponsor is entitled to remove and dispose of components of the Project in its sole 

discretion. Components of the Project are deemed removed when scrapped, sold or otherwise removed from 

the Project. If the components removed from the Project are Economic Development Property, then the 

Economic Development Property is a Removed Component, no longer subject to this Fee Agreement and 

is subject to ad valorem property taxes to the extent the Removed Component remains in the State and is 

otherwise subject to ad valorem property taxes. 

 

Section 4.4. Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property.  

(a)  Election to Terminate.  If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, explosion, 

or any other casualty, then the Sponsor may terminate this Fee Agreement. For the property tax year 

corresponding to the year in which the damage or casualty occurs, the Sponsor is obligated to make FILOT 

Payments with respect to the damaged Economic Development Property only to the extent property subject 

to ad valorem taxes would have been subject to ad valorem taxes under the same circumstances for the 

period in question. 

(b)  Election to Restore and Replace. If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, 

explosion, or any other casualty, and the Sponsor does not elect to terminate this Fee Agreement, then the 

Sponsor may restore and replace the Economic Development Property. All restorations and replacements 

made pursuant to this subsection (b) are deemed, to the fullest extent permitted by law and this Fee 

Agreement, to be Replacement Property. 



 

 
8 

PPAB 10183962v2 

(c)  Election to Remove. If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, explosion, or 

any other casualty, and the Sponsor elects not to terminate this Fee Agreement pursuant to subsection (a) 

and elects not to restore or replace pursuant to subsection (b), then the damaged portions of the Economic 

Development Property are deemed Removed Components. 

Section 4.5. Condemnation. 

(a)  Complete Taking. If at any time during the Fee Term title to or temporary use of the 

Economic Development Property is vested in a public or quasi-public authority by virtue of the exercise of 

a taking by condemnation, inverse condemnation, or the right of eminent domain; by voluntary transfer 

under threat of such taking; or by a taking of title to a portion of the Economic Development Property which 

renders continued use or occupancy of the Economic Development Property commercially unfeasible in 

the judgment of the Sponsor, the Sponsor shall have the option to terminate this Fee Agreement by sending 

written notice to the County within a reasonable period of time following such vesting. 

 

(b)  Partial Taking. In the event of a partial taking of the Economic Development Property or 

a transfer in lieu, the Sponsor may elect: (i) to terminate this Fee Agreement; (ii) to restore and replace the 

Economic Development Property, with such restorations and replacements deemed, to the fullest extent 

permitted by law and this Fee Agreement, to be Replacement Property; or (iii) to treat the portions of the 

Economic Development Property so taken as Removed Components. 

 

(c)  In the year in which the taking occurs, the Sponsor is obligated to make FILOT Payments 

with respect to the Economic Development Property so taken only to the extent property subject to ad 

valorem taxes would have been subject to taxes under the same circumstances for the period in question. 

 

Section 4.6. Calculating FILOT Payments on Diminution in Value. If there is a Diminution in 

Value, the FILOT Payments due with respect to the Economic Development Property or Phase so 

diminished shall be calculated by substituting the diminished value of the Economic Development Property 

or Phase for the original fair market value in Section 4.1(a)(i) of this Fee Agreement.  

Section 4.7. Payment of Ad Valorem Taxes.  If Economic Development Property becomes subject 

to ad valorem taxes as imposed by law pursuant to the terms of this Fee Agreement or the Act, then the 

calculation of the ad valorem taxes due with respect to the Economic Development Property in a particular 

property tax year shall: (i) include the property tax reductions that would have applied to the Economic 

Development Property if it were not Economic Development Property; and (ii) include a credit for FILOT 

Payments the Sponsor has made with respect to the Economic Development Property. 

Section 4.8. Place of FILOT Payments. All FILOT Payments shall be made directly to the County 

in accordance with applicable law. 

  



 

 
9 

PPAB 10183962v2 

ARTICLE V 

ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES 

 

Section 5.1. Infrastructure Credits. To assist in paying for costs of Infrastructure, the Sponsor is 

entitled to claim an Infrastructure Credit to reduce certain FILOT Payments due and owing from the 

Sponsor to the County under this Fee Agreement. The term, amount and calculation of the Infrastructure 

Credit is described in Exhibit C. In no event may the Sponsor’s aggregate Infrastructure Credit claimed 

pursuant to this Section exceed the aggregate expenditures by the Sponsor on Infrastructure. 

 

For each property tax year in which the Infrastructure Credit is applicable (“Credit Term”), the 

County shall prepare and issue the annual bills with respect to the Project showing the Net FILOT Payment, 

calculated in accordance with Exhibit C. Following receipt of the bill, the Sponsor shall timely remit the 

Net FILOT Payment to the County in accordance with applicable law. 

 

 

ARTICLE VI 

CLAW BACK 

 

Section 6.1. Claw Back. If the Sponsor fails to perform its obligations under this Fee Agreement 

as described in Exhibit D, then the Sponsor is subject to the claw backs as described in Exhibit D. Any 

amount that may be due from the Sponsor to the County as calculated in accordance with or described in 

Exhibit D is due within 30 days of receipt of a written statement from the County. If not timely paid, the 

amount due from the Sponsor to the County is subject to the minimum amount of interest that the law may 

permit with respect to delinquent ad valorem tax payments. The repayment obligation arising under this Section 

and Exhibit D survives termination of this Fee Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE VII 

DEFAULT 

 

Section 7.1. Events of Default. The following are “Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement: 

 

(a)  Failure to make FILOT Payments, which failure has not been cured within 30 days 

following receipt of written notice from the County specifying the delinquency in FILOT Payments and 

requesting that it be remedied; 

 

(b)  Failure to timely pay any amount, except FILOT Payments, due under this Fee Agreement;  

 

(c)  A Cessation of Operations. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, a “Cessation of 

Operations”  means a publicly announced closure of the Facility, a layoff of a majority of the employees 

working at the Facility, or a substantial reduction in production that continues for a period of twelve (12) 

months; 

 

(d)  A representation or warranty made by the Sponsor which is deemed materially incorrect 

when deemed made; 

 

(e)  Failure by the Sponsor to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 

under this Fee Agreement (other than those under (a), above), which failure has not been cured within 30 

days after written notice from the County to the Sponsor specifying such failure and requesting that it be 

remedied, unless the Sponsor has instituted corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently 

pursuing corrective action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to 

include the period during which the Sponsor is diligently pursuing corrective action; 



 

 
10 

PPAB 10183962v2 

 

(f)  A representation or warranty made by the County which is deemed materially incorrect 

when deemed made; or 

 

(g)  Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 

hereunder, which failure has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the Sponsor to the 

County specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the County has instituted 

corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is 

corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to include the period during which the County is 

diligently pursuing corrective action. 

 

Section 7.2. Remedies on Default.  

(a)  If an Event of Default by the Sponsor has occurred and is continuing, then the County may 

take any one or more of the following remedial actions: 

(i)  terminate this Fee Agreement; or 

(ii)  take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to 

collect amounts due or otherwise remedy the Event of Default or recover its damages. 

(b)  If an Event of Default by the County has occurred and is continuing, the Sponsor may take 

any one or more of the following actions: 

(i)  bring an action for specific enforcement; 

(ii)  terminate this Fee Agreement; or 

(iii)  in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such action as is 

appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent allowed by law. 

Section 7.3. Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses. On the occurrence of an Event 

of Default, if a party is required to employ attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection 

of payments due under this Fee Agreement or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any 

obligation or agreement, the prevailing party is entitled to seek reimbursement of the reasonable fees of 

such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred. 

Section 7.4. Remedies Not Exclusive. No remedy described in this Fee Agreement is intended to 

be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy is cumulative and in addition 

to every other remedy given under this Fee Agreement or existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

ARTICLE VIII 

PARTICULAR RIGHTS AND COVENANTS 

 

Section 8.1. Right to Inspect.  The County and its authorized agents, at any reasonable time on 

prior written notice (which may be given by email), may enter and examine and inspect the Project for the 

purposes of permitting the County to carry out its duties and obligations in its sovereign capacity (such as, 

without limitation, for such routine health and safety purposes as would be applied to any other 

manufacturing or commercial facility in the County). 



 

 
11 

PPAB 10183962v2 

Section 8.2. Confidentiality. The County acknowledges that the Sponsor may utilize confidential 

and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and techniques (“Confidential 

Information”) and that disclosure of the Confidential Information could result in substantial economic harm 

to the Sponsor. The Sponsor may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County 

pursuant to this Fee Agreement as “Confidential Information.” Except as required by law, the County, or 

any employee, agent, or contractor of the County, shall not disclose or otherwise divulge any labeled 

Confidential Information to any other person, firm, governmental body or agency. The Sponsor 

acknowledges that the County is subject to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, 

must disclose certain documents and information on request, absent an exemption. If the County is required 

to disclose any Confidential Information to a third party, the County will use its best efforts to provide the 

Sponsor with as much advance notice as is reasonably possible of such disclosure requirement prior to 

making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with any attempts by the Sponsor to obtain judicial or 

other relief from such disclosure requirement. 

Section 8.3. Indemnification Covenants.  

 

(a)  Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Sponsor shall indemnify and save the 

County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless 

against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this Fee Agreement, 

performance of the County’s obligations under this Fee Agreement or the administration of its duties 

pursuant to this Fee Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this Fee 

Agreement.  

 

(b)  The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Sponsor shall reimburse the 

County for all of its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or defense 

against such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a), above. The County shall provide a statement 

of the costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Sponsor shall pay the County within 30 days of 

receipt of the statement. The Sponsor may request reasonable documentation evidencing the costs shown 

on the statement. However, the County is not required to provide any documentation which may be 

privileged or confidential to evidence the costs. 

 

(c)  The County may request the Sponsor to resist or defend against any claim on behalf of an 

Indemnified Party. On such request, the Sponsor shall resist or defend against such claim on behalf of the 

Indemnified Party, at the Sponsor’s expense. The Sponsor is entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage 

and control the defense of or response to such claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the Sponsor is not 

entitled to settle any such claim without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

 

(d)  Notwithstanding anything in this Section or this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the 

Sponsor is not required to indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs 

arising from any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, which are unrelated 

to the execution of this Fee Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Fee Agreement, 

or the administration of its duties under this Fee Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having 

entered into this Fee Agreement; or (ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own negligence, bad faith, 

fraud, deceit, or willful misconduct. 

 

(e)  An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs 

provided in this Section unless it provides the Sponsor with prompt notice, reasonable under the 

circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, copies of 

any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of claims, in order to 

afford the Sponsor notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which to defend or otherwise respond 

to a claim. 



 

 
12 

PPAB 10183962v2 

 

Section 8.4. No Liability of County Personnel. All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements 

and obligations of the County contained in this Fee Agreement are binding on members of the County 

Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County only in his or her official 

capacity and not in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse for the payment of any moneys under 

this Fee Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected or appointed official, 

officer, agent, servant or employee of the County and no recourse for the payment of any moneys or 

performance of any of the covenants and agreements under this Fee Agreement or for any claims based on 

this Fee Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected or appointed official, 

officer, agent, servant or employee of the County except solely in their official capacity. 

Section 8.5. Limitation of Liability. The County is not liable to the Sponsor for any costs, expenses, 

losses, damages, claims or actions in connection with this Fee Agreement, except from amounts received 

by the County from the Sponsor under this Fee Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Fee 

Agreement to the contrary, any financial obligation the County may incur under this Fee Agreement is 

deemed not to constitute a pecuniary liability or a debt or general obligation of the County. 

Section 8.6. Assignment. The Sponsor may assign this Fee Agreement in whole or in part with the 

prior written consent of the County or a subsequent written ratification by the County, which may be done 

by resolution, and which consent or ratification the County will not unreasonably withhold. The Sponsor 

agrees to notify the County and the Department of the identity of the proposed transferee within 60 days of 

the transfer. In case of a transfer, the transferee assumes the transferor’s basis in the Economic Development 

Property for purposes of calculating the FILOT Payments.  

Section 8.7. No Double Payment; Future Changes in Legislation. Notwithstanding anything 

contained in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, and except as expressly required by law, the Sponsor is 

not required to make a FILOT Payment in addition to a regular ad valorem property tax payment in the 

same year with respect to the same piece of Economic Development Property. The Sponsor is not required 

to make a FILOT Payment on Economic Development Property in cases where, absent this Fee Agreement, 

ad valorem property taxes would otherwise not be due on such property. 

Section 8.8. Administration Expenses. The Sponsor will reimburse, or cause reimbursement to, 

the County for Administration Expenses in the amount of $10,000. The Sponsor will reimburse the County 

for its Administration Expenses on receipt of a written request from the County or at the County’s direction, 

which request shall include a statement of the amount and nature of the Administration Expense. The 

Sponsor shall pay the Administration Expense as set forth in the written request no later than 60 days 

following receipt of the written request from the County. The payment by the Sponsor of the County’s 

Administration Expenses shall not be construed as prohibiting the County from engaging, at its discretion, 

the counsel of the County’s choice. 

ARTICLE IX 

SPONSOR AFFILIATES 

 

Section 9.1. Sponsor Affiliates. The Sponsor may designate Sponsor Affiliates from time to time, 

including at the time of execution of this Fee Agreement, pursuant to and subject to the provisions of Section 

12-44-130 of the Act. To designate a Sponsor Affiliate, the Sponsor must deliver written notice to the 

Economic Development Director identifying the Sponsor Affiliate and requesting the County’s approval of 

the Sponsor Affiliate. Except with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate designated at the time of execution of this 

Fee Agreement, which may be approved in the County Council ordinance authorizing the execution and 

delivery of this Fee Agreement, approval of the Sponsor Affiliate may be given by the County 

Administrator delivering written notice to the Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliate following receipt by the 



 

 
13 

PPAB 10183962v2 

County Administrator of a recommendation from the Economic Development Committee of County 

Council to allow the Sponsor Affiliate to join in the investment at the Project. The Sponsor Affiliate’s 

joining in the investment at the Project will be effective on delivery of a Joinder Agreement, the form of 

which is attached as Exhibit B, executed by the Sponsor Affiliate to the County.  

 

Section 9.2. Primary Responsibility.  Notwithstanding the addition of a Sponsor Affiliate, the 

Sponsor acknowledges that it has the primary responsibility for the duties and obligations of the Sponsor 

and any Sponsor Affiliate under this Fee Agreement, including the payment of FILOT Payments or any 

other amount due to or for the benefit of the County under this Fee Agreement. For purposes of this Fee 

Agreement, “primary responsibility” means that if the Sponsor Affiliate fails to make any FILOT Payment 

or remit any other amount due under this Fee Agreement, the Sponsor shall make such FILOT Payments 

or remit such other amounts on behalf of the Sponsor Affiliate.  

 

ARTICLE X 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.1. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be 

provided under this Fee Agreement is effective when delivered to the party named below or when deposited 

with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed 

as follows (or addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the 

other party), except where the terms of this Fee Agreement require receipt rather than sending of any notice, 

in which case such provision shall control: 

IF TO THE SPONSOR: 

Anhinga LLC 

40 Boright Avenue 

Kenilworth, NJ 07033 

 

WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice): 

Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP 

Attn: Ray E. Jones 

1221 Main Street, Suite 1100 (29201) 

Post Office Box 1509 

Columbia, South Carolina 29202-1509 

 

IF TO THE COUNTY: 

Jasper County, South Carolina 

Attn: Jasper County Administrator 

P.O. Box 1149 

358 Third Avenue 

Ridgeland, South Carolina 29936 

WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice): 

Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP 

Attn: Ray E. Jones 

1221 Main Street, Suite 1100 (29201) 

Post Office Box 1509 

Columbia, South Carolina 29202-1509 



 

 
14 

PPAB 10183962v2 

 

Section 10.2. Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Sponsor. Except as 

otherwise specifically provided in this Fee Agreement, nothing in this Fee Agreement expressed or implied 

confers on any person or entity other than the County and the Sponsor any right, remedy, or claim under or 

by reason of this Fee Agreement, this Fee Agreement being intended to be for the sole and exclusive benefit 

of the County and the Sponsor. 

Section 10.3. Counterparts. This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 

and all of the counterparts together constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 10.4. Governing Law. South Carolina law, exclusive of its conflicts of law provisions that 

would refer the governance of this Fee Agreement to the laws of another jurisdiction, governs this Fee 

Agreement and all documents executed in connection with this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.5. Headings. The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are 

inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.6. Amendments. This Fee Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of 

the parties to this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.7. Agreement to Sign Other Documents. From time to time, and at the expense of the 

Sponsor, to the extent any expense is incurred, the County agrees to execute and deliver to the Sponsor 

such additional instruments as the Sponsor may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and 

reasonably within the purposes and scope of the Act and this Fee Agreement to effectuate the purposes of 

this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.8. Interpretation; Invalidity; Change in Laws.  

(a)  If the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other issue is 

unclear under this Fee Agreement, then the parties intend that the interpretation of this Fee Agreement be 

done in a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion of property under the terms of this Fee Agreement 

and the maximum incentive permissible under the Act, to the extent not inconsistent with any of the explicit 

terms of this Fee Agreement.  

(b)  If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any 

reason, the remaining provisions of this Fee Agreement are unimpaired, and the parties shall reform such 

illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, and enforceable intent 

of this Fee Agreement so as to afford the Sponsor with the maximum benefits to be derived under this Fee 

Agreement, it being the intention of the County to offer the Sponsor the strongest inducement possible, 

within the provisions of the Act, to locate the Project in the County.  

(c)  The County agrees that in case the FILOT incentive described in this Fee Agreement is 

found to be invalid and the Sponsor does not realize the economic benefit it is intended to receive from the 

County under this Fee Agreement as an inducement to locate in the County, the County agrees to negotiate 

with the Sponsor to provide a special source revenue or Infrastructure Credit to the Sponsor (in addition to 

the Infrastructure Credit explicitly provided for above) to the maximum extent permitted by law, to allow 

the Sponsor to recoup all or a portion of the loss of the economic benefit resulting from such invalidity. 

Section 10.9. Force Majeure. The Sponsor is not responsible for any delays or non-performance 

caused in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by strikes, accidents, freight embargoes, fires, floods, 

inability to obtain materials, conditions arising from governmental orders or regulations, war or national 



 

 
15 

PPAB 10183962v2 

emergency, acts of God, and any other cause, similar or dissimilar, beyond the Sponsor’s reasonable 

control. 

Section 10.10. Termination; Termination by Sponsor.  

(a)  Unless first terminated under any other provision of this Fee Agreement, this Fee 

Agreement terminates on the Final Termination Date. 

(b)  The Sponsor is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all 

or part of the Project on providing the County with 30 days’ notice. 

(c)  Any monetary obligations due and owing at the time of termination and any provisions 

which are intended to survive termination, survive such termination.  

(d)  In the year following termination, all Economic Development Property is subject to ad 

valorem taxation or such other taxation or payment in lieu of taxation that would apply absent this Fee 

Agreement. The Sponsor’s obligation to make FILOT Payments under this Fee Agreement terminates to 

the extent of and in the year following the year the Sponsor terminates this Fee Agreement pursuant to this 

Section. 

Section 10.11. Entire Agreement. This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all 

agreements of the parties, and neither party is bound by any agreement or any representation to the other 

party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in certificates delivered in connection with 

the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.12. Waiver. Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or 

condition of this Fee Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 10.13. Business Day. If any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee 

Agreement, required to be taken, made, or given on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the 

jurisdiction in which the party obligated to act is situated, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, 

made, or given on the following business day with the same effect as if taken, made or given as required 

under this Fee Agreement, and no interest will accrue in the interim. 

Section 10.14. Agreement’s Construction. Each party and its counsel have reviewed this Fee 

Agreement and any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against a drafting 

party does not apply in the interpretation of this Fee Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this  Fee 

Agreement. 

[Signature pages follow] 



 

PPAB 10183962v2 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused 

this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Chair of County Council  and to be 

attested by the Clerk of the County Council; and the Sponsor has caused this Fee Agreement to be executed 

by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 

 

 

 

 JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

(SEAL) By: _______________________________________ 

  County Council Chair 

  Jasper County, South Carolina  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: _____________________________________ 

 Clerk to County Council   

 Jasper County, South Carolina 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement] 

 

 

  



 

PPAB 10183962v2 

 ANHINGA LLC 

 

        

 By:         

 Its:         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement] 



 

A-1 
PPAB 10183962v2 

EXHIBIT A 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 



 

B-1 
PPAB 10183962v2 

EXHIBIT B (see Section 9.1) 

FORM OF JOINDER AGREEMENT 

Reference is hereby made to the Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement, effective [], 2023 (“Fee 

Agreement”), between Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”) and Anhinga LLC (“Sponsor”). 

 

1. Joinder to Fee Agreement. 

 

[   ], a [STATE] [corporation]/[limited liability company]/[limited partnership] 

authorized to conduct business in the State of South Carolina, hereby (a) joins as a party to, and agrees to 

be bound by and subject to all of the terms and conditions of, the Fee Agreement as if it were a Sponsor 

[except the following: __________________________]; (b) shall receive the benefits as provided under 

the Fee Agreement with respect to the Economic Development Property placed in service by the Sponsor 

Affiliate as if it were a Sponsor [except the following __________________________]; (c) acknowledges 

and agrees that (i) according to the Fee Agreement, the undersigned has been designated as a Sponsor 

Affiliate by the Sponsor for purposes of the Project; and (ii) the undersigned qualifies or will qualify as a 

Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement and Section 12-44-30(20) and Section 12-44-130 of the Act.  

 

2. Capitalized Terms. 

 

Each capitalized term used, but not defined, in this Joinder Agreement has the meaning of that term set 

forth in the Fee Agreement. 

 

3. Representations of the Sponsor Affiliate. 

 

The Sponsor Affiliate represents and warrants to the County as follows: 

(a) The Sponsor Affiliate is in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization, is duly 

authorized to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business in 

the State), has power to enter into this Joinder Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and 

delivery of this Joinder Agreement. 

(b) The Sponsor Affiliate’s execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement, and its compliance with 

the provisions of this Joinder Agreement, do not result in a default, not waived or cured, under any 

agreement or instrument to which the Sponsor Affiliate is now a party or by which it is bound. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement and the availability of the FILOT and other 

incentives provided by this Joinder Agreement has been instrumental in inducing the Sponsor Affiliate to 

join with the Sponsor in the Project in the County. 

 

4. Governing Law. 

 

This Joinder Agreement is governed by and construed according to the laws, without regard to 

principles of choice of law, of the State of South Carolina. 

 

5. Notice.   

Notices under Section 10.1 of the Fee Agreement shall be sent to: 

 

[                       ] 

 

  



 

B-2 
PPAB 10183962v2 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Joinder Agreement to be effective as of 

the date set forth below.  

 

____________________           

Date      Name of Entity 

      By:         

      Its:       

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County acknowledges it has consented to the addition of the above-

named entity as a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement effective as of the date set forth above.  

 

             

      JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

             

             

      By:       

      Its:       

  



 

C-1 
PPAB 10183962v2 

EXHIBIT C (see Section 5.1) 

DESCRIPTION OF INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT 

 

30% INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT FOR 10 YEARS



 

D-1 
PPAB 10183962v2 

EXHIBIT D (see Section 6.1) 

DESCRIPTION OF CLAW BACK 

 

The claw back is a pro-rata repayment or reduction of future benefits calculated in accordance with 

the formula below  

 

Repayment Amount = Total Received x Claw Back Percentage 

 

Claw Back Percentage = 100% - Overall Achievement Percentage 

 

Overall Achievement Percentage = (Investment Achievement Percentage + Jobs Achievement 

Percentage) / 2 

 

Investment Achievement Percentage = Actual Investment Achieved / Contract Minimum 

Investment Requirement [may not exceed 100%] 

 

Jobs Achievement Percentage = Actual New, Full-Time Jobs Created / Contract Minimum Jobs 

Requirement [may not exceed 100%] 

 

In calculating the each achievement percentage, only the investment made or new jobs achieved up 

to the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement will be 

counted.  

For example, and by way of example only, if the County granted $500,000 in Infrastructure Credits, 

and $8,000,000 had been invested at the Project and 100 jobs had been created by the end of the Investment 

Period, the Repayment Amount would be calculated as follows: 

 

Jobs Achievement Percentage = 100/140 =71.43% 

 

Investment Achievement Percentage = $8,000,000/$14,000,000 = 57.14% 

 

Overall Achievement Percentage = (71.43% + 57.14%)/2 =64.29% 

 

Claw Back Percentage = 100% - 64.29% = 35.71% 

 

Repayment Amount = $500,000 x 35.71% = $178,550 

 

The Sponsor shall pay any amounts described in or calculated pursuant to this Exhibit D within 30 

days of receipt of a written statement from the County. If not timely paid by the Sponsor, the amount due is 

subject to the minimum amount of interest that the law may permit with respect to delinquent ad valorem tax 

payments. The repayment obligation described in this Exhibit D survives termination of this Fee Agreement. 



PPAB 10183962v110183962v2

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES [AND INCENTIVE]  AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

PROJECT SHOWCASEANHINGA LLC

AND

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

EFFECTIVE AS OF []



_________________________

TABLE OF CONTENTS
_________________________

Page

Recitals []1

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 Terms. []1

ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.1 Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the County []4
Section 2.2 Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the Sponsor []5

ARTICLE III
THE PROJECT

Section 3.1 The Project []5
Section 3.2 Leased Property []6
Section 3.3 Filings and Reports []6

ARTICLE IV
FILOT PAYMENTS

Section 4.1 FILOT Payments []6
Section 4.2 FILOT Payments on Replacement Property []7
Section 4.3 Removal of Components of the Project []7
Section 4.4 Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property []7
Section 4.5 Condemnation []8
Section 4.6 Calculating FILOT Payments on Diminution in Value []8
Section 4.7 Payment of Ad Valorem Taxes []8
Section 4.8 Place of FILOT Payments []8

[ARTICLE V
ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES]

[Section 5.1 Infrastructure Credits] []9
[Section 5.2 Other Incentives] []

ARTICLE VI
CLAW BACK

Section 6.1 Claw Back []9

ii
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



ARTICLE VII
DEFAULT

Section 7.1 Events of Default []9
Section 7.2 Remedies on Default []10
Section 7.3 Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses []10
Section 7.4 Remedies Not Exclusive []10

ARTICLE VIII
PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

Section 8.1 Right to Inspect []10
Section 8.2 Confidentiality []11
Section 8.3 Indemnification Covenants []11
Section 8.4 No Liability of County’s Personnel []12
Section 8.5 Limitation of Liability []12
Section 8.6 Assignment []12
Section 8.7 No Double Payment; Future Changes in Legislation []12
Section 8.8 Administration Expenses []12

ARTICLE IX
SPONSOR AFFILIATES

Section 9.1 Sponsor Affiliates []12
Section 9.2 Primary Responsibility []13

ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.1 Notices []13
Section 10.2 Provision of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Sponsor []14
Section 10.3 Counterparts []14
Section 10.4 Governing Law []14
Section 10.5 Headings []14
Section 10.6 Amendments []14
Section 10.7 Agreement to Sign Other Documents []14
Section 10.8 Interpretation; Invalidity; Change in Laws []14
Section 10.9 Force Majeure []14
Section 10.10 Termination; Termination by Sponsor []15
Section 10.11 Entire Agreement []15
Section 10.12 Waiver []15
Section 10.13 Business Day []15
Section 10.14 Agreement’s Construction []15

Exhibit A – Description of Property A-1
Exhibit B – Form of Joinder Agreement B-1
[Exhibit C – Description of Infrastructure Credit] C-1
[Exhibit D – Description of Claw Back] D-1

iii
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



iv
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2

 Investment Period

Exhibit A

5 years

Project ShowcaseAnhinga LLC

Section 1.1

 Assessment Ratio

FILOT

6%

Section 1.1

Section 4.1(a)(ii)

BRIEF DESCRIPTION

 Millage Rate 343 Section 4.1(a)(iii)

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF
FEE AGREEMENT

The parties have agreed to waive the requirement to recapitulate the contents of this Fee Agreement
pursuant to Section 12-44-55 of the Code (as defined herein). However, the parties have agreed to
include a summary of the key provisions of this Fee Agreement for the convenience of the parties. This
summary is included for convenience only and is not to be construed as a part of the terms and conditions
of this Fee Agreement.

 Fixed or Five-Year
Adjustable Millage

 Phase Exemption
Period

fixed

Project Location

Section 4.1(a)(iii)

20 years

SECTION REFERENCE

Multicounty Park

Section 1.1.

Project Showcase Park

Hardeeville Commerce Park

Section 1.1
Infrastructure Credit

 Contract Minimum
Investment
Requirement

Exhibit A

14,000,000

 Brief Description

Section 1.1

30% Exhibit C

 Credit Term

 Contract Minimum
Jobs Requirement

10 year

Tax Map No.

Exhibit C

140

Sponsor Name

 Claw Back
Information

Section 1.1.

Pro-rata Exhibit D

PROVISION



FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT

THIS FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT (“Fee Agreement”) is entered
into, effective, as of [], 2023, between Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”), a body politic and
corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“State”), acting through the Jasper
County Council (“County Council”) as the governing body of the County, and a Company
currentlyAnhinga LLC, a company previously known to the County as Project Showcase (“Sponsor”).

WITNESSETH:

(a) Title 12, Chapter 44, (“Act”) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended
(“Code”), authorizes the County to induce manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate in the
State or to encourage manufacturing and commercial enterprises currently located in the State to expand
their investments and thus make use of and employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the
State by entering into an agreement with a sponsor, as defined in the Act, that provides for the payment
of a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) with respect to Economic Development Property, as
defined below;

(b) Sections 4-1-175 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to provide credits
(“Infrastructure Credit”) against payments in lieu of taxes for the purpose of defraying of the cost of
designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding (i) the infrastructure serving the County or a
project and (ii) for improved and unimproved real estate, and personal property, including machinery and
equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or commercial enterprise (collectively,
“Infrastructure”);

(c) The Sponsor has committed to establish a manufacturing facility (“Facility”) in the County,
consisting of taxable investment in real and personal property of not less than $14,000,000 and the creation
of 140 new, full-time jobs;

(d) By an ordinance enacted on [], 2023, County Council authorized the County to enter into
this Fee Agreement with the Sponsor to provide for a FILOT and the other incentives as more
particularly described in this Fee Agreement to induce the Sponsor to locate its Facility in the County.

NOW, THEREFORE, AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and
agreements hereinafter contained, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1. Terms. The defined terms used in this Fee Agreement have the meaning given
below, unless the context clearly requires otherwise.

“Act” means Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code, and all future acts successor or supplemental
thereto or amendatory of this Fee Agreement.

“Act Minimum Investment Requirement” means an investment of at least $2,500,000 in the
Project within five years of the Commencement Date.

“Administration Expenses” means the reasonable expenses incurred by the County in the
negotiation, approval and implementation of the terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement, including
reasonable attorney’s and consultant’s fees. Administration Expenses does not include any costs,
expenses, including attorney’s fees, incurred by the County (i) in defending challenges to the FILOT

1
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



Payments[, Infrastructure Credits or other incentives]  provided by this Fee Agreement brought by third
parties or the Sponsor or its affiliates and related entities, or (ii) in connection with matters arising at the
request of the Sponsor outside of the immediate scope of this Fee Agreement, including amendments to
the terms of this Fee Agreement.

“Code” means the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended.

“Commencement Date” means the last day of the property tax year during which Economic
Development Property is placed in service. The Commencement Date shall not be later than the last day
of the property tax year which is three years from the year in which the County and the Sponsor enter
into this Fee Agreement. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, the Commencement Date is expected to be
[DATE]December 31, 2024.

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” means a taxable investment in real and personal
property at the Project of not less than $14,000,000.

“Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement” means not less than 140 full-time, jobs created by the
Sponsor in the County in connection with the Project.

“County” means Jasper County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political
subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as the
governing body of the County.

“County Council” means the Jasper County Council, the governing body of the County.

“Credit Term” means the years during the Fee Term in which the Infrastructure Credit is
applicable, as described in Exhibit C.

“Department” means the South Carolina Department of Revenue.

“Diminution in Value” means a reduction in the fair market value of Economic Development
Property, as determined in Section 4.1(a)(i) of this Fee Agreement, which may be caused by (i) the
removal or disposal of components of the Project pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Fee Agreement; (ii) a
casualty as described in Section 4.4 of this Fee Agreement; or (iii) a condemnation as described in
Section 4.5 of this Fee Agreement.

“Economic Development Property” means those items of real and tangible personal property of
the Project placed in service not later than the end of the Investment Period that (i) satisfy the conditions
of classification as economic development property under the Act, and (ii) are identified by the Sponsor
in its annual filing of a PT-300S or comparable form with the Department (as such filing may be
amended from time to time).

“Equipment” means all of the machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and fixtures,
together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions.

“Event of Default” means any event of default specified in Section 7.1 of this Fee Agreement.

“Fee Agreement” means this Fee-In-Lieu Of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement.

“Fee Term” means the period from the effective date of this Fee Agreement until the Final
Termination Date.

2
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



“FILOT Payments” means the amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem property taxes as
provided in Section 4.1.

“Final Phase” means the Economic Development Property placed in service during the last year
of the Investment Period.

“Final Termination Date” means the date on which the last FILOT Payment with respect to the
Final Phase is made, or such earlier date as the Fee Agreement is terminated in accordance with the terms
of this Fee Agreement. Assuming the Phase Termination Date for the Final Phase is December 31, 2058,
the Final Termination Date is expected to be January 15, 2060, which is the due date of the last FILOT
Payment with respect to the Final Phase.

“Improvements” means all improvements to the Real Property, including buildings, building
additions, roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with all additions, fixtures, accessions,
replacements, and substitutions.

“Infrastructure” means (i) the infrastructure serving the County or the Project, (ii) improved and
unimproved real estate, and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation
of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise, or (iii) such other items as may be described in or permitted
under Section 4-29-68 of the Code.

“Infrastructure Credit” means the credit provided to the Sponsor pursuant to Section 12-44-70
of the Act and Section 5.1 of this Fee Agreement, with respect to the Infrastructure. Infrastructure Credits
are to be used for the payment of Infrastructure constituting real property, improvements and
infrastructure before any use for the payment of Infrastructure constituting personal property,
notwithstanding any presumptions to the contrary in the MCIP Act or otherwise.

“Investment Period” means the period beginning with the first day of any purchase or
acquisition of Economic Development Property and ending five years after the Commencement Date, as
may be extended pursuant to Section 12-44-30(13) of the Act. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, the
Investment Period, unless so extended, is expected to end on December 31, 2028.

“MCIP Act” means Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the Constitution of the State of South
Carolina, and Sections 4-1-170, 4-1-172, 4-1-175, and 4-29-68 of the Code.

“Multicounty Park” means the multicounty industrial or business park governed by the
Agreement for Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (Project Showcase), dated as
of [], 2023, between the County and Hampton County, South Carolina.

“Net FILOT Payment” means the FILOT Payment net of the Infrastructure Credit.

“Phase” means the Economic Development Property placed in service during a particular year of
the Investment Period.

“Phase Exemption Period” means, with respect to each Phase, the period beginning with the
property tax year the Phase is placed in service during the Investment Period and ending on the Phase
Termination Date.

“Phase Termination Date” means, with respect to each Phase, the last day of the property tax
year which is the 19th year following the first property tax year in which the Phase is placed in service.

3
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



“Project” means all the Equipment, Improvements, and Real Property in the County that the
Sponsor determines to be necessary, suitable, or useful by the Sponsor in connection with its investment
in the County.

“Real Property” means real property that the Sponsor uses or will use in the County for the
purposes that Section 2.2(b) describes, and initially consists of the land identified on Exhibit A of this
Fee Agreement.

“Removed Components” means Economic Development Property which the Sponsor, in its sole
discretion, (a) determines to be inadequate, obsolete, worn-out, uneconomic, damaged, unsuitable,
undesirable, or unnecessary pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Fee Agreement or otherwise; or (b) elects to
be treated as removed pursuant to Section 4.4(c) or Section 4.5(b)(iii) of this Fee Agreement.

“Replacement Property” means any property which is placed in service as a replacement for any
Removed Component regardless of whether the Replacement Property serves the same functions as the
Removed Component it is replacing and regardless of whether more than one piece of Replacement
Property replaces a single Removed Component.

“Sponsor” means Anhinga LLC, a company currentlypreviously known to the County as Project
Showcase and any surviving, resulting, or transferee entity in any merger, consolidation, or transfer of
assets; or any other person or entity which may succeed to the rights and duties of the Sponsor under this
Fee Agreement.

“Sponsor Affiliate” means an entity that participates in the investment or job creation at the
Project and, following receipt of the County’s approval pursuant to Section 9.1 of this Fee Agreement,
joins this Fee Agreement by delivering a Joinder Agreement, the form of which is attached as Exhibit B
to this Fee Agreement.

“State” means the State of South Carolina.

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement
shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement or
document.

The term “investment” or “invest” as used in this Fee Agreement includes not only investments
made by the Sponsor, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments made by or for the
benefit of the Sponsor in connection with the Project through federal, state, or local grants, to the extent
such investments are or, but for the terms of this Fee Agreement, would be subject to ad valorem taxes to
be paid by the Sponsor.

ARTICLE II
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.1. Representations and Warranties of the County. The County represents and
warrants as follows:

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State and
acts through the County Council as its governing body. The Act authorizes and empowers the County to
enter into the transactions that this Fee Agreement contemplates and to carry out its obligations under
this Fee Agreement. The County has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement
and all other documents, certificates or other agreements contemplated in this Fee Agreement and has

4
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



obtained all consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill
its obligations under this Fee Agreement.

(b) Based on representations by the Sponsor, County Council evaluated the Project based on
all relevant criteria including the purposes the Project is to accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and
nature of the investment resulting from the Project, and the anticipated costs and benefits to the County
and following the evaluation, the County determined that (i) the Project is anticipated to benefit the
general public welfare of the County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public
benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally; (ii) the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of
the County or any incorporated municipality and to no charge against the County’s general credit or
taxing power; (iii) the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public
purposes; and (iv) the benefits of the Project are greater than the costs.

(c) The County identified the Project, as a “project” on []December 4, 2023 and adopted an
Inducement Resolution, as defined in the Act on []December 4, 2023.

(d) The County is not in default of any of its obligations (contractual or otherwise) as a
result of entering into and performing its obligations under this Fee Agreement.

(e) The County has located or will take all reasonable action to locate the Project in the
Multicounty Park.

Section 2.2. Representations and Warranties of the Sponsor. The Sponsor represents and
warrants as follows:

(a) The Sponsor is in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization, is duly
authorized to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business in
the State), has power to enter into this Fee Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and
delivery of this Fee Agreement.

(b) The Sponsor intends to operate the Project as a manufacturing facility and for such other
purposes that the Act permits as the Sponsor may deem appropriate.

(c) The Sponsor’s execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement and its compliance with the
provisions of this Fee Agreement do not result in a default under any agreement or instrument to which
the Sponsor is now a party or by which it is bound.

(d) The Sponsor will use commercially reasonable efforts to achieve the Contract Minimum
Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement.

(e) The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County and the availability of
the FILOT and other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement has been instrumental in inducing the
Sponsor to locate the Project in the County.

(f) The Sponsor has retained legal counsel to confirm, or has had a reasonable opportunity
to consult legal counsel to confirm, its eligibility for the FILOT and other incentives granted by this Fee
Agreement and has not relied on the County, its officials, employees or legal representatives with respect
to any question of eligibility or applicability of the FILOT and other incentives granted by this Fee
Agreement.

5
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



ARTICLE III
THE PROJECT

Section 3.1. The Project. The Sponsor intends and expects to (i) construct or acquire the Project
and (ii) meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs
Requirement within the Investment Period. The Sponsor anticipates that the first Phase of the Project will
be placed in service during the calendar year ending December 31, 2024. Notwithstanding anything
contained in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Sponsor is not obligated to complete the acquisition
of the Project. However, if the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement is not met, the benefits
provided to the Sponsor, or Sponsor Affiliate, if any, pursuant to this Fee Agreement may be reduced,
modified or terminated as provided in this Fee Agreement.

Section 3.2. Leased Property. To the extent that State law allows or is revised or construed to
permit leased assets including a building, or personal property to be installed in a building, to constitute
Economic Development Property, then any property leased by the Sponsor is, at the election of the
Sponsor, deemed to be Economic Development Property for purposes of this Fee Agreement, subject, at
all times, to the requirements of State law and this Fee Agreement with respect to property comprising
Economic Development Property.

Section 3.3. Filings and Reports.

(a) The Sponsor shall file a copy of this Fee Agreement and a completed PT-443 with the
Economic Development Director and the Department and the Auditor, Treasurer and Assessor of the
County and partner county to the Multicounty Park.

(b) On request by the County Administrator or the Economic Development Director, the
Sponsor shall remit to the Economic Development Director records accounting for the acquisition,
financing, construction, and operation of the Project which records (i) permit ready identification of all
Economic Development Property; (ii) confirm the dates that the Economic Development Property or
Phase was placed in service; and (iii) include copies of all filings made in accordance with this Section.

ARTICLE IV
FILOT PAYMENTS

Section 4.1. FILOT Payments.

(a) The FILOT Payment due with respect to each Phase through the Phase Termination Date
is calculated as follows:

(i) The fair market value of the Phase calculated as set forth in the Act (for the Real
Property portion of the Phase, the County and the Sponsor have elected to [use the
fair market value established in the first year of the Phase Exemption
Period]/[determine the Real Property’s fair market value by appraisal as if the Real
Property were not subject to this Fee Agreement, except that such appraisal may not
occur more than once every five years]), multiplied by

(ii) An assessment ratio of six percent (6%), multiplied by

(iii) A fixed millage rate equal to 343, which is the cumulative millage rate levied by or
on behalf of all the taxing entities within which the Project is located as of June 30,
2022.

6
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



The calculation of the FILOT Payment must allow all applicable property tax exemptions except
those excluded pursuant to Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the Act. The Sponsor acknowledges that (i) the
calculation of the annual FILOT Payment is a function of the Department and is wholly dependent on the
Sponsor timely submitting the correct annual property tax returns to the Department, (ii) the County has
no responsibility for the submission of returns or the calculation of the annual FILOT Payment, and
(iii) failure by the Sponsor to submit the correct annual property tax return could lead to a loss of all or a
portion of the FILOT and other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement.

(b) If a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no further appeal is
allowable declares the FILOT Payments invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the
parties shall negotiate the reformation of the calculation of the FILOT Payments to most closely afford
the Sponsor with the intended benefits of this Fee Agreement. If such order has the effect of subjecting
the Economic Development Property to ad valorem taxation, this Fee Agreement shall terminate, and the
Sponsor shall owe the County regular ad valorem taxes from the date of termination, in accordance with
Section 4.7.

Section 4.2. FILOT Payments on Replacement Property. If the Sponsor elects to place
Replacement Property in service, then, pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the
Act, the Sponsor shall make the following payments to the County with respect to the Replacement
Property for the remainder of the Phase Exemption Period applicable to the Removed Component of the
Replacement Property:

(a) FILOT Payments, calculated in accordance with Section 4.1, on the Replacement
Property to the extent of the original income tax basis of the Removed Component the Replacement
Property is deemed to replace.

(b) Regular ad valorem tax payments to the extent the income tax basis of the Replacement
Property exceeds the original income tax basis of the Removed Component the Replacement Property is
deemed to replace.

Section 4.3. Removal of Components of the Project. Subject to the other terms and provisions of
this Fee Agreement, the Sponsor is entitled to remove and dispose of components of the Project in its
sole discretion. Components of the Project are deemed removed when scrapped, sold or otherwise
removed from the Project. If the components removed from the Project are Economic Development
Property, then the Economic Development Property is a Removed Component, no longer subject to this
Fee Agreement and is subject to ad valorem property taxes to the extent the Removed Component
remains in the State and is otherwise subject to ad valorem property taxes.

Section 4.4. Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property.

(a) Election to Terminate.  If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire,
explosion, or any other casualty, then the Sponsor may terminate this Fee Agreement. For the property
tax year corresponding to the year in which the damage or casualty occurs, the Sponsor is obligated to
make FILOT Payments with respect to the damaged Economic Development Property only to the extent
property subject to ad valorem taxes would have been subject to ad valorem taxes under the same
circumstances for the period in question.

(b) Election to Restore and Replace. If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire,
explosion, or any other casualty, and the Sponsor does not elect to terminate this Fee Agreement, then the
Sponsor may restore and replace the Economic Development Property. All restorations and replacements

7
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



made pursuant to this subsection (b) are deemed, to the fullest extent permitted by law and this Fee
Agreement, to be Replacement Property.

(c) Election to Remove. If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, explosion,
or any other casualty, and the Sponsor elects not to terminate this Fee Agreement pursuant to subsection
(a) and elects not to restore or replace pursuant to subsection (b), then the damaged portions of the
Economic Development Property are deemed Removed Components.

Section 4.5. Condemnation.

(a) Complete Taking. If at any time during the Fee Term title to or temporary use of the
Economic Development Property is vested in a public or quasi-public authority by virtue of the exercise
of a taking by condemnation, inverse condemnation, or the right of eminent domain; by voluntary
transfer under threat of such taking; or by a taking of title to a portion of the Economic Development
Property which renders continued use or occupancy of the Economic Development Property
commercially unfeasible in the judgment of the Sponsor, the Sponsor shall have the option to terminate
this Fee Agreement by sending written notice to the County within a reasonable period of time following
such vesting.

(b) Partial Taking. In the event of a partial taking of the Economic Development Property or
a transfer in lieu, the Sponsor may elect: (i) to terminate this Fee Agreement; (ii) to restore and replace
the Economic Development Property, with such restorations and replacements deemed, to the fullest
extent permitted by law and this Fee Agreement, to be Replacement Property; or (iii) to treat the portions
of the Economic Development Property so taken as Removed Components.

(c) In the year in which the taking occurs, the Sponsor is obligated to make FILOT Payments
with respect to the Economic Development Property so taken only to the extent property subject to ad
valorem taxes would have been subject to taxes under the same circumstances for the period in question.

Section 4.6. Calculating FILOT Payments on Diminution in Value. If there is a Diminution in
Value, the FILOT Payments due with respect to the Economic Development Property or Phase so
diminished shall be calculated by substituting the diminished value of the Economic Development
Property or Phase for the original fair market value in Section 4.1(a)(i) of this Fee Agreement.

Section 4.7. Payment of Ad Valorem Taxes.  If Economic Development Property becomes subject
to ad valorem taxes as imposed by law pursuant to the terms of this Fee Agreement or the Act, then the
calculation of the ad valorem taxes due with respect to the Economic Development Property in a particular
property tax year shall: (i) include the property tax reductions that would have applied to the Economic
Development Property if it were not Economic Development Property; and (ii) include a credit for FILOT
Payments the Sponsor has made with respect to the Economic Development Property.

Section 4.8. Place of FILOT Payments. All FILOT Payments shall be made directly to the
County in accordance with applicable law.

8
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



[ARTICLE V
ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES]

Section 5.1. Infrastructure Credits. To assist in paying for costs of Infrastructure, the Sponsor is
entitled to claim an Infrastructure Credit to reduce certain FILOT Payments due and owing from the
Sponsor to the County under this Fee Agreement. The term, amount and calculation of the Infrastructure
Credit is described in Exhibit C. In no event may the Sponsor’s aggregate Infrastructure Credit claimed
pursuant to this Section exceed the aggregate expenditures by the Sponsor on Infrastructure.

For each property tax year in which the Infrastructure Credit is applicable (“Credit Term”), the
County shall prepare and issue the annual bills with respect to the Project showing the Net FILOT
Payment, calculated in accordance with Exhibit C. Following receipt of the bill, the Sponsor shall timely
remit the Net FILOT Payment to the County in accordance with applicable law.

[Section 5.2. Other Incentives.]

ARTICLE VI
CLAW BACK

Section 6.1. Claw Back. If the Sponsor fails to perform its obligations under this Fee Agreement
as described in Exhibit D, then the Sponsor is subject to the claw backs as described in Exhibit D. Any
amount that may be due from the Sponsor to the County as calculated in accordance with or described in
Exhibit D is due within 30 days of receipt of a written statement from the County. If not timely paid, the
amount due from the Sponsor to the County is subject to the minimum amount of interest that the law may
permit with respect to delinquent ad valorem tax payments. The repayment obligation arising under this
Section and Exhibit D survives termination of this Fee Agreement.

ARTICLE VII
DEFAULT

Section 7.1. Events of Default. The following are “Events of Default” under this Fee
Agreement:

(a) Failure to make FILOT Payments, which failure has not been cured within 30 days
following receipt of written notice from the County specifying the delinquency in FILOT Payments and
requesting that it be remedied;

(b) Failure to timely pay any amount, except FILOT Payments, due under this Fee
Agreement;

(c) A Cessation of Operations. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, a “Cessation of
Operations”  means a publicly announced closure of the Facility, a layoff of a majority of the employees
working at the Facility, or a substantial reduction in production that continues for a period of twelve (12)
months;

(d) A representation or warranty made by the Sponsor which is deemed materially incorrect
when deemed made;

9
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



(e) Failure by the Sponsor to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants
under this Fee Agreement (other than those under (a), above), which failure has not been cured within 30
days after written notice from the County to the Sponsor specifying such failure and requesting that it be
remedied, unless the Sponsor has instituted corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently
pursuing corrective action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to
include the period during which the Sponsor is diligently pursuing corrective action;

(f) A representation or warranty made by the County which is deemed materially incorrect
when deemed made; or

(g) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants
hereunder, which failure has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the Sponsor to the
County specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the County has instituted
corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is
corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to include the period during which the County is
diligently pursuing corrective action.

Section 7.2. Remedies on Default.

(a) If an Event of Default by the Sponsor has occurred and is continuing, then the County
may take any one or more of the following remedial actions:

(i) terminate this Fee Agreement; or

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to
collect amounts due or otherwise remedy the Event of Default or recover its damages.

(b) If an Event of Default by the County has occurred and is continuing, the Sponsor may
take any one or more of the following actions:

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement;

(ii) terminate this Fee Agreement; or

(iii) in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such action as is
appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent allowed by law.

Section 7.3. Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses. On the occurrence of an Event
of Default, if a party is required to employ attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection
of payments due under this Fee Agreement or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any
obligation or agreement, the prevailing party is entitled to seek reimbursement of the reasonable fees of
such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred.

Section 7.4. Remedies Not Exclusive. No remedy described in this Fee Agreement is intended to
be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy is cumulative and in
addition to every other remedy given under this Fee Agreement or existing at law or in equity or by
statute.

ARTICLE VIII
PARTICULAR RIGHTS AND COVENANTS

10
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



Section 8.1. Right to Inspect.  The County and its authorized agents, at any reasonable time on
prior written notice (which may be given by email), may enter and examine and inspect the Project for
the purposes of permitting the County to carry out its duties and obligations in its sovereign capacity
(such as, without limitation, for such routine health and safety purposes as would be applied to any other
manufacturing or commercial facility in the County).

Section 8.2. Confidentiality. The County acknowledges that the Sponsor may utilize confidential
and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and techniques
(“Confidential Information”) and that disclosure of the Confidential Information could result in
substantial economic harm to the Sponsor. The Sponsor may clearly label any Confidential Information
delivered to the County pursuant to this Fee Agreement as “Confidential Information.” Except as
required by law, the County, or any employee, agent, or contractor of the County, shall not disclose or
otherwise divulge any labeled Confidential Information to any other person, firm, governmental body or
agency. The Sponsor acknowledges that the County is subject to the South Carolina Freedom of
Information Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain documents and information on request, absent an
exemption. If the County is required to disclose any Confidential Information to a third party, the County
will use its best efforts to provide the Sponsor with as much advance notice as is reasonably possible of
such disclosure requirement prior to making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with any
attempts by the Sponsor to obtain judicial or other relief from such disclosure requirement.

Section 8.3. Indemnification Covenants.

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, the Sponsor shall indemnify and save the
County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless
against and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this Fee Agreement,
performance of the County’s obligations under this Fee Agreement or the administration of its duties
pursuant to this Fee Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this Fee
Agreement.

(b) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Sponsor shall reimburse the
County for all of its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or
defense against such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a), above. The County shall provide a
statement of the costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Sponsor shall pay the County within
30 days of receipt of the statement. The Sponsor may request reasonable documentation evidencing the
costs shown on the statement. However, the County is not required to provide any documentation which
may be privileged or confidential to evidence the costs.

(c) The County may request the Sponsor to resist or defend against any claim on behalf of an
Indemnified Party. On such request, the Sponsor shall resist or defend against such claim on behalf of the
Indemnified Party, at the Sponsor’s expense. The Sponsor is entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage
and control the defense of or response to such claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the Sponsor is
not entitled to settle any such claim without the consent of that Indemnified Party.

(d) Notwithstanding anything in this Section or this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the
Sponsor is not required to indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs
arising from any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, which are
unrelated to the execution of this Fee Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Fee
Agreement, or the administration of its duties under this Fee Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the
County having entered into this Fee Agreement; or (ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own
negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or willful misconduct.

11
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



(e) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of
costs provided in this Section unless it provides the Sponsor with prompt notice, reasonable under the
circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, copies of
any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of claims, in order to
afford the Sponsor notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which to defend or otherwise
respond to a claim.

Section 8.4. No Liability of County Personnel. All covenants, stipulations, promises,
agreements and obligations of the County contained in this Fee Agreement are binding on members of
the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County only in his
or her official capacity and not in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse for the payment of any
moneys under this Fee Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected or
appointed official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County and no recourse for the payment of
any moneys or performance of any of the covenants and agreements under this Fee Agreement or for any
claims based on this Fee Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected or
appointed official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County except solely in their official
capacity.

Section 8.5. Limitation of Liability. The County is not liable to the Sponsor for any costs,
expenses, losses, damages, claims or actions in connection with this Fee Agreement, except from
amounts received by the County from the Sponsor under this Fee Agreement. Notwithstanding anything
in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, any financial obligation the County may incur under this Fee
Agreement is deemed not to constitute a pecuniary liability or a debt or general obligation of the County.

Section 8.6. Assignment. The Sponsor may assign this Fee Agreement in whole or in part with
the prior written consent of the County or a subsequent written ratification by the County, which may be
done by resolution, and which consent or ratification the County will not unreasonably withhold. The
Sponsor agrees to notify the County and the Department of the identity of the proposed transferee within
60 days of the transfer. In case of a transfer, the transferee assumes the transferor’s basis in the Economic
Development Property for purposes of calculating the FILOT Payments.

Section 8.7. No Double Payment; Future Changes in Legislation. Notwithstanding anything
contained in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, and except as expressly required by law, the Sponsor is
not required to make a FILOT Payment in addition to a regular ad valorem property tax payment in the
same year with respect to the same piece of Economic Development Property. The Sponsor is not
required to make a FILOT Payment on Economic Development Property in cases where, absent this Fee
Agreement, ad valorem property taxes would otherwise not be due on such property.

Section 8.8. Administration Expenses. The Sponsor will reimburse, or cause reimbursement to,
the County for Administration Expenses in the amount of $10,000. The Sponsor will reimburse the
County for its Administration Expenses on receipt of a written request from the County or at the
County’s direction, which request shall include a statement of the amount and nature of the
Administration Expense. The Sponsor shall pay the Administration Expense as set forth in the written
request no later than 60 days following receipt of the written request from the County. The payment by
the Sponsor of the County’s Administration Expenses shall not be construed as prohibiting the County
from engaging, at its discretion, the counsel of the County’s choice.

ARTICLE IX
SPONSOR AFFILIATES

12
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



Section 9.1. Sponsor Affiliates. The Sponsor may designate Sponsor Affiliates from time to
time, including at the time of execution of this Fee Agreement, pursuant to and subject to the provisions
of Section 12-44-130 of the Act. To designate a Sponsor Affiliate, the Sponsor must deliver written
notice to the Economic Development Director identifying the Sponsor Affiliate and requesting the
County’s approval of the Sponsor Affiliate. Except with respect to a Sponsor Affiliate designated at the
time of execution of this Fee Agreement, which may be approved in the County Council ordinance
authorizing the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement, approval of the Sponsor Affiliate may be
given by the County Administrator delivering written notice to the Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliate
following receipt by the County Administrator of a recommendation from the Economic Development
Committee of County Council to allow the Sponsor Affiliate to join in the investment at the Project. The
Sponsor Affiliate’s joining in the investment at the Project will be effective on delivery of a Joinder
Agreement, the form of which is attached as Exhibit B, executed by the Sponsor Affiliate to the County.

Section 9.2. Primary Responsibility.  Notwithstanding the addition of a Sponsor Affiliate, the
Sponsor acknowledges that it has the primary responsibility for the duties and obligations of the Sponsor
and any Sponsor Affiliate under this Fee Agreement, including the payment of FILOT Payments or any
other amount due to or for the benefit of the County under this Fee Agreement. For purposes of this Fee
Agreement, “primary responsibility” means that if the Sponsor Affiliate fails to make any FILOT
Payment or remit any other amount due under this Fee Agreement, the Sponsor shall make such FILOT
Payments or remit such other amounts on behalf of the Sponsor Affiliate.

ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.1. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be
provided under this Fee Agreement is effective when delivered to the party named below or when
deposited with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid,
addressed as follows (or addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in
writing to the other party), except where the terms of this Fee Agreement require receipt rather than
sending of any notice, in which case such provision shall control:

IF TO THE SPONSOR:

[]Anhinga LLC
40 Boright Avenue
Kenilworth, NJ 07033

WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice):

Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP
Attn: Ray E. Jones
1221 Main Street, Suite 1100 (29201)
Post Office Box 1509
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-1509

IF TO THE COUNTY:

Jasper County, South Carolina
Attn: Jasper County Administrator
P.O. Box 1149
358 Third Avenue

13
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



Ridgeland, South Carolina 29936

WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice):

Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP
Attn: Ray E. Jones
1221 Main Street, Suite 1100 (29201)
Post Office Box 1509
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-1509

Section 10.2. Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Sponsor. Except as
otherwise specifically provided in this Fee Agreement, nothing in this Fee Agreement expressed or
implied confers on any person or entity other than the County and the Sponsor any right, remedy, or
claim under or by reason of this Fee Agreement, this Fee Agreement being intended to be for the sole and
exclusive benefit of the County and the Sponsor.

Section 10.3. Counterparts. This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts, and all of the counterparts together constitute one and the same instrument.

Section 10.4. Governing Law. South Carolina law, exclusive of its conflicts of law provisions
that would refer the governance of this Fee Agreement to the laws of another jurisdiction, governs this
Fee Agreement and all documents executed in connection with this Fee Agreement.

Section 10.5. Headings. The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are
inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Fee Agreement.

Section 10.6. Amendments. This Fee Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of
the parties to this Fee Agreement.

Section 10.7. Agreement to Sign Other Documents. From time to time, and at the expense of the
Sponsor, to the extent any expense is incurred, the County agrees to execute and deliver to the Sponsor
such additional instruments as the Sponsor may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and
reasonably within the purposes and scope of the Act and this Fee Agreement to effectuate the purposes of
this Fee Agreement.

Section 10.8. Interpretation; Invalidity; Change in Laws.

(a) If the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other issue is
unclear under this Fee Agreement, then the parties intend that the interpretation of this Fee Agreement be
done in a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion of property under the terms of this Fee
Agreement and the maximum incentive permissible under the Act, to the extent not inconsistent with any
of the explicit terms of this Fee Agreement.

(b) If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for
any reason, the remaining provisions of this Fee Agreement are unimpaired, and the parties shall reform
such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, and
enforceable intent of this Fee Agreement so as to afford the Sponsor with the maximum benefits to be
derived under this Fee Agreement, it being the intention of the County to offer the Sponsor the strongest
inducement possible, within the provisions of the Act, to locate the Project in the County.

(c) The County agrees that in case the FILOT incentive described in this Fee Agreement is
found to be invalid and the Sponsor does not realize the economic benefit it is intended to receive from

14
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



the County under this Fee Agreement as an inducement to locate in the County, the County agrees to
negotiate with the Sponsor to provide a special source revenue or Infrastructure Credit to the Sponsor [(in
addition to the Infrastructure Credit explicitly provided for above)]  to the maximum extent permitted by
law, to allow the Sponsor to recoup all or a portion of the loss of the economic benefit resulting from
such invalidity.

Section 10.9. Force Majeure. The Sponsor is not responsible for any delays or non-performance
caused in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by strikes, accidents, freight embargoes, fires, floods,
inability to obtain materials, conditions arising from governmental orders or regulations, war or national
emergency, acts of God, and any other cause, similar or dissimilar, beyond the Sponsor’s reasonable
control.

Section 10.10. Termination; Termination by Sponsor.

(a) Unless first terminated under any other provision of this Fee Agreement, this Fee
Agreement terminates on the Final Termination Date.

(b) The Sponsor is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all
or part of the Project on providing the County with 30 days’ notice.

(c) Any monetary obligations due and owing at the time of termination and any provisions
which are intended to survive termination, survive such termination.

(d) In the year following termination, all Economic Development Property is subject to ad
valorem taxation or such other taxation or payment in lieu of taxation that would apply absent this Fee
Agreement. The Sponsor’s obligation to make FILOT Payments under this Fee Agreement terminates to
the extent of and in the year following the year the Sponsor terminates this Fee Agreement pursuant to
this Section.

Section 10.11. Entire Agreement. This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and
all agreements of the parties, and neither party is bound by any agreement or any representation to the
other party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in certificates delivered in
connection with the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement.

Section 10.12. Waiver. Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or
condition of this Fee Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party.

Section 10.13. Business Day. If any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee
Agreement, required to be taken, made, or given on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the
jurisdiction in which the party obligated to act is situated, such action, payment, or notice may be taken,
made, or given on the following business day with the same effect as if taken, made or given as required
under this Fee Agreement, and no interest will accrue in the interim.

Section 10.14. Agreement’s Construction. Each party and its counsel have reviewed this Fee
Agreement and any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against a drafting
party does not apply in the interpretation of this Fee Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this
Fee Agreement.

[Signature pages follow]

15
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused
this Fee Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Chair of County Council  and to
be attested by the Clerk of the County Council; and the Sponsor has caused this Fee Agreement to be
executed by its duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written.

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

(SEAL) By: _______________________________________
County Council Chair
Jasper County, South Carolina

ATTEST:

By: _____________________________________
Clerk to County Council
Jasper County, South Carolina

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes [and Incentive]  Agreement]

PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



PROJECT SHOWCASEANHINGA LLC

By:  
Its:  

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement]

PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



EXHIBIT A
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION

A-1
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



EXHIBIT B (see Section 9.1)
FORM OF JOINDER AGREEMENT

Reference is hereby made to the Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement, effective [], 2023
(“Fee Agreement”), between Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”) and []Anhinga LLC (“Sponsor”).

1. Joinder to Fee Agreement.

[ ], a [STATE] [corporation]/[limited liability company]/[limited partnership]
authorized to conduct business in the State of South Carolina, hereby (a) joins as a party to, and agrees to
be bound by and subject to all of the terms and conditions of, the Fee Agreement as if it were a Sponsor
[except the following: __________________________]; (b) shall receive the benefits as provided under
the Fee Agreement with respect to the Economic Development Property placed in service by the Sponsor
Affiliate as if it were a Sponsor [except the following __________________________]; (c)
acknowledges and agrees that (i) according to the Fee Agreement, the undersigned has been designated
as a Sponsor Affiliate by the Sponsor for purposes of the Project; and (ii) the undersigned qualifies or
will qualify as a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement and Section 12-44-30(20) and Section
12-44-130 of the Act.

2. Capitalized Terms.

Each capitalized term used, but not defined, in this Joinder Agreement has the meaning of that term
set forth in the Fee Agreement.

3. Representations of the Sponsor Affiliate.

The Sponsor Affiliate represents and warrants to the County as follows:

(a) The Sponsor Affiliate is in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization, is duly
authorized to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business in
the State), has power to enter into this Joinder Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and
delivery of this Joinder Agreement.

(b) The Sponsor Affiliate’s execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement, and its compliance
with the provisions of this Joinder Agreement, do not result in a default, not waived or cured, under any
agreement or instrument to which the Sponsor Affiliate is now a party or by which it is bound.

(c) The execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement and the availability of the FILOT and other
incentives provided by this Joinder Agreement has been instrumental in inducing the Sponsor Affiliate to
join with the Sponsor in the Project in the County.

4. Governing Law.

This Joinder Agreement is governed by and construed according to the laws, without regard to
principles of choice of law, of the State of South Carolina.

5. Notice.
Notices under Section 10.1 of the Fee Agreement shall be sent to:

[                       ]

B-1
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Joinder Agreement to be effective as of
the date set forth below.

____________________
Date Name of Entity

By:
Its:

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County acknowledges it has consented to the addition of the
above-named entity as a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement effective as of the date set forth
above.

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

By:
Its:

B-2
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



EXHIBIT C (see Section 5.1)
DESCRIPTION OF INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT

30% INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT FOR 10 YEARS

C-1
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



EXHIBIT D (see Section 6.1)
DESCRIPTION OF CLAW BACK

The claw back is a pro-rata repayment or reduction of future benefits calculated in accordance
with the formula below

Repayment Amount = Total Received x Claw Back Percentage

Claw Back Percentage = 100% - Overall Achievement Percentage

Overall Achievement Percentage = (Investment Achievement Percentage + Jobs Achievement
Percentage) / 2

Investment Achievement Percentage = Actual Investment Achieved / Contract Minimum
Investment Requirement [may not exceed 100%]

Jobs Achievement Percentage = Actual New, Full-Time Jobs Created / Contract Minimum
Jobs Requirement [may not exceed 100%]

In calculating the each achievement percentage, only the investment made or new jobs achieved
up to the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement and the Contract Minimum Jobs Requirement will
be counted.

For example, and by way of example only, if the County granted $500,000 in Infrastructure
Credits, and $8,000,000 had been invested at the Project and 100 jobs had been created by the end of the
Investment Period, the Repayment Amount would be calculated as follows:

Jobs Achievement Percentage = 100/140 =71.43%

Investment Achievement Percentage = $8,000,000/$14,000,000 = 57.14%

Overall Achievement Percentage = (71.43% + 57.14%)/2 =64.29%

Claw Back Percentage = 100% - 64.29% = 35.71%

Repayment Amount = $500,000 x 35.71% = $178,550

The Sponsor shall pay any amounts described in or calculated pursuant to this Exhibit D within 30
days of receipt of a written statement from the County. If not timely paid by the Sponsor, the amount due is
subject to the minimum amount of interest that the law may permit with respect to delinquent ad valorem
tax payments. The repayment obligation described in this Exhibit D survives termination of this Fee
Agreement.

D-1
PPAB 10183962v110183962v2



 

1 

PPAB 10183755v2 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

     ) AGREEMENT FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT 

COUNTY OF JASPER   ) OF MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL/ 

     ) BUSINESS PARK (PROJECT SHOWCASE) 

COUNTY OF HAMPTON  )  

THIS AGREEMENT FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF MULTI-COUNTY 

INDUSTRIAL/BUSINESS PARK (PROJECT SHOWCASE) for the establishment of a multi-county 

industrial/business park to be located within Jasper County and Hampton County is made and entered into 

as of _____, 2024, by and between Jasper County, South Carolina (“Jasper County”) and Hampton County, 

South Carolina (“Hampton County”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Jasper County and Hampton County are contiguous counties which, pursuant to an 

Ordinance enacted by Jasper County Council on [], 2023 and an Ordinance enacted by Hampton County 

Council on [], 2023, have each determined that, in order to promote economic development and thus 

encourage investment and provide additional employment opportunities within both of said counties, there 

should be established in Jasper County a multi-county industrial/business park (the “Park”), to be located 

upon property more particularly described on Exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS, as a consequence of the establishment of the Park, property comprising the Park and 

all property having a situs therein is exempt from ad valorem taxation pursuant to Article VIII, Section 

13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution, but the owners or lessees of such property shall pay annual fees 

in an amount equivalent to the property taxes or other in-lieu-of payments that would have been due and 

payable except for such exemption. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreement, representations and benefits 

contained in this Agreement and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Binding Agreement.  This Agreement serves as a written instrument setting forth the 

entire agreement between the parties and shall be binding on Jasper County and Hampton County, their 

successors and assigns. 

2. Authorization.  Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution provides 

that counties may jointly develop an industrial or business park with other counties within the geographical 

boundaries of one or more of the member counties, provided that certain conditions specified therein are met 

and further provided that the General Assembly of the State of South Carolina provides by law a manner in 

which the value of property in such park will be considered for purposes of bonded indebtedness of political 

subdivisions and school districts and for purposes of computing the index of taxpaying ability pursuant to 

any provision of law which measures the relative fiscal capacity of a school district to support its schools 

based on the assessed valuation of taxable property in the district as compared to the assessed valuation of 

taxable property in all school districts in South Carolina. The Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 

amended (the “Code”) and particularly, Section 4-1-170 thereof, satisfies the conditions imposed by Article 

VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution and provides the statutory vehicle whereby a multi-

county industrial or business park may be created. 

  



 

2 

PPAB 10183755v2 

3. Location of the Park. 

(A) The Park consists of property that is located in Jasper County and which now or will be 

owned by project sponsors for the purpose of establishing industrial, distribution and/or commercial 

facilities, the property being more particularly described in Exhibit A hereto. It is specifically recognized 

that the Park may from time to time consist of non-contiguous properties within Jasper County. The 

boundaries of the Park may be enlarged or diminished from time to time as authorized by ordinance of the 

Jasper County Council (“Jasper Approval”), and resolution of the Hampton County Council (“Hampton 

Approval”). Except as permitted by the Intergovernmental Agreement dated as of November 5, 2021 

between Jasper County and the City of Hardeeville, South Carolina (“2021 IGA”) attached hereto as Exhibit 

B, if any property proposed for inclusion in the Park is located, at the time such inclusion is proposed, 

within the boundaries of a municipality, then the municipality must give its consent prior to the inclusion 

of the property in the Park. 

(B) In the event of any enlargement or diminution of the boundaries of the Park, this 

Agreement shall be deemed amended and there shall be attached hereto a revised Exhibit A which shall 

contain a legal description of the boundaries of the Park as enlarged or diminished, together with a 

copy of Jasper Approval and the Hampton Approval pursuant to which such enlargement or diminution 

was authorized. 

(C) Prior to any Jasper Approval authorizing the diminution of the boundaries of the Park, a 

public hearing shall first be held by Jasper County Council. Notice of such public hearing shall be published 

in a newspaper of general circulation in Jasper County, at least once and not less than fifteen (15) days prior 

to such hearing. Notice of such public hearing shall also be given by certified mail that is deposited with 

the U.S. Postal Service at least fifteen (15) days prior to such public hearing upon the owner and, if 

applicable, the lessee of any property which would be excluded from the Park by virtue of the diminution. 

4. Fee in Lieu of Taxes. 

(A) Pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution, all property 
located in the Park is exempt from all ad valorem taxation. The owners or lessees of any property situated 
in the Park shall pay in accordance with this Agreement an amount (referred to as fees in lieu of ad valorem 
taxes) equivalent to the ad valorem taxes or other in-lieu-of payments that would have been due and payable 

but for the location of such property within the Park. 

(B) The amount of the annual fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes may be reduced if the owner or 
lessee of property located in the Park (i) has negotiated a fee in-lieu-of taxes arrangement with respect to 
the property with Jasper County pursuant to the provisions of Sections 12-44-10, et seq., 4-12-30, or 4-29-
67 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, or any successor provisions thereto as may 
be provided under South Carolina law, or (ii) receives a special source revenue or infrastructure credit with 

respect to the property under the provisions of Section 4-1-175 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, 
as amended, or any successor provisions thereto as may be provided under South Carolina law (collectively, 
(i) and (ii), “Negotiated Fee in Lieu of Tax Agreements”). 

5. Allocation of Expenses.  Jasper County and Hampton County shall bear expenses incurred 
in connection with the Park, including, but not limited to, those incurred in the administration, development, 
operation, maintenance and promotion of the Park, in the following proportions: 

   A. Jasper County – 100% 

   B. Hampton County – 0% 



 

3 

PPAB 10183755v2 

6. Allocation of Revenues.  Jasper County and Hampton County shall receive an allocation 
of all revenues generated by the Park through payment of fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes (“Park 
Revenues”) in the following proportions: 

   A. Jasper County – 99% 
   B. Hampton County – 1% 

Any payment from Jasper County to Hampton County of Hampton County’s allocable share of Park 
Revenues shall be made and accompanied by a statement showing the manner in which total payment 

and each County’s share were calculated. If any Park Revenues are received by Jasper County through 
payment by any owner, or any lessee/tenant, or any other taxpayer is made under protest, or otherwise 

as part of a dispute, then Jasper County is not obligated to pay Hampton County more than Hampton 
County’s share of the undisputed portion of the Park Revenues until thirty (30) days after the final 

resolution of the protest or dispute. 

7. Revenue Allocation within Each County.  Park Revenues received shall be distributed to 
and within the County as follows: 

(A) Revenues generated by the Park through the payment of fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes 

shall be distributed to Jasper County and to Hampton County, as the case may be, according to the 
proportions established by this Agreement. With respect to revenues allocable to Jasper County by way of 

fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes generated from properties within the Park, such revenue shall be distributed 

within Jasper County pursuant to the 2021 IGA. 

(B) With respect to revenues allocable to Hampton County by way of fees in lieu of ad valorem 
taxes generated from properties located in the Park, such revenue shall be distributed within Hampton 
County in accordance with a distribution scheme established by the Hampton County Council and, in the 
absence of any such adopted distribution scheme, on a pro rata basis to the millage levying entities in 
Hampton County. 

8. Fees in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Pursuant to Title 4 or Title 12 of the Code.  It is 

hereby agreed that the entry by Jasper County into any one or more Negotiated Fee in Lieu of Tax 

Agreements with respect to property located within the Park and the terms of such agreements shall be 

at the sole discretion of Jasper County. 

9. Consent by the City and Other Municipalities.  In accordance with the Act, the City 

of Hardeeville, by Resolution No. 2021-11-4F and the terms of the 2021 IGA, has consented to the 

location of the property within the City’s geographical boundaries in the Park as described on Exhibit 

A as of the effective date of this Agreement.  

10. Assessed Valuation.  For the purpose of calculating the bonded indebtedness limitation 

and for the purpose of computing the index of taxpaying ability pursuant to Section 59-20-20(3) of the 

Code, allocation of the assessed value of property within the Park to Jasper County and Hampton County 

and to each of the taxing entities within the participating counties shall be in accordance with the 

allocation of revenue received and retained by each of the counties and by each of the taxing entities 

within the participating counties, pursuant to Sections 6 and 7 herein. 

11. Governing Laws and Regulations.  Any applicable ordinances and regulations of Jasper 

County including those concerning zoning, health and safety, and building code requirements shall apply 

to the Park properties located in the Jasper County portion of the Park unless any such property is within 



 

4 

PPAB 10183755v2 

the boundaries of a municipality in which case, the municipality’s applicable ordinances and regulations 

shall apply. 

11. South Carolina Law Controlling.  This Agreement has been entered into in the State of 

South Carolina and shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with South Carolina law. 

12. Severability.  In the event and to the extent (and only to the extent) that any provision 

or any part of a provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable by any court of 

competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable the remainder of that 

provision or any other provision of this Agreement. 

13. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts. 

14. Additional Parties.  This Agreement may be amended from time to time to add additional 

counties located in South Carolina, subject to Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the Constitution of South 

Carolina and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code, by ordinance of the Jasper County Council, and by resolution 

of the Hampton County Council; provided, however, that to the extent permitted by law, additional counties 

may be added as parties hereto with only the enactment of an ordinance of the Jasper County Council only 

in the event that such additional county’s allocation of Park Revenues hereunder shall be allocated solely 

out of Jasper County’s residual net share of the Park Revenues provided for its use and distribution pursuant 

to Section 7 hereof. 

15. Term; Termination.  Except as specifically provided in this Section 15, Jasper County 

and Hampton County agree that this Agreement may not be terminated in its entirety by unilateral action 

of any party and shall remain in effect for a period equal to the longer of (i) [thirty-one (31)] years 

commencing with the effective date of this Agreement or (ii) a period of time of sufficient length to 

facilitate any special source revenue credits due with respect to Park property.  This Agreement may be 

terminated at any time upon adoption of ordinances by the County Councils of both Jasper County and 

Hampton County, which ordinances must specifically authorize the termination of this Agreement. 

16. Law Enforcement Jurisdiction.  Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all authority 

and power within the boundaries of the Park properties is vested with the Sheriff’s Office of Jasper County, 

for matters within their jurisdiction. If any of the Park properties are within the boundaries of a municipality, 

then jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise law enforcement jurisdiction is also vested with the law 

enforcement officials of the municipality for matters within their jurisdiction. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement to be effective as of 

the day and the year first above written. 

 

[signatures on following page] 

  



 

5 

PPAB 10183755v2 

 

 

       JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

       By: _____________________________ 

        Chair, County Council 

        Jasper County, South Carolina 

 

[SEAL] 

 

Attest: 

 

By: _______________________ 

 County Council Clerk 

 Jasper County, South Carolina 

 

 

       HAMPTON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

       By: __________________________________ 

        Chair, County Council 

        Hampton County, South Carolina 

 

[SEAL] 

 

Attest: 

 

By: _______________________ 

 County Council Clerk 

 Hampton County, South Carolina 

 

  



 

6 

PPAB 10183755v2 

Exhibit A  

Property 

 

 

  



 

7 

PPAB 10183755v2 

Exhibit B 

Intergovernmental Agreement 



1
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2

)
)
)
)
)
)

AGREEMENT FOR DEVELOPMENT OF
A JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND
BUSINESS PARK (PROJECT SHOWCASE)

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
) AGREEMENT FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT

COUNTY OF JASPER ) OF MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL/
) BUSINESS PARK (PROJECT SHOWCASE)

COUNTY OF HAMPTON )

THIS AGREEMENT for the development of a joint countyFOR THE ESTABLISHMENT
OF MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL/BUSINESS PARK (PROJECT SHOWCASE) for the
establishment of a multi-county industrial and /business park to be located within Jasper County and
Hampton County is made and entered into as of []_____, 20232024, by and between Jasper County,
South Carolina (“Jasper County”) and Hampton County, South Carolina (“Hampton County”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Jasper County and Hampton County are contiguous counties which, pursuant to an
Ordinance enacted by Jasper County Council on [], 2023 and an Ordinance enacted by Hampton County
Council on [], 2023, have each determined that, in order to promote economic development and thus
encourage investment and provide additional employment opportunities within both of said counties,
there should be developedestablished in Jasper County and Hampton County a joint countya
multi-county industrial and /business park (the Jasper County/Hampton County Park (Project
Showcase), referred to herein as the “Park”), to be located upon property more particularly described
inon Exhibit A hereto; and

WHEREAS, as a consequence of the developmentestablishment of the Park, property
comprising the Park and all property having a situs therein is exempt from ad valorem taxation pursuant
to Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution, but the owners or lessees of such
property shall pay annual fees in an amount equivalent to the property taxes or other in-lieu-of payments
that would have been due and payable except for such exemption.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreement, representations and benefits
contained in this Agreement and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of
which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:

1. 1. Binding Agreement. This Agreement serves as a written instrument setting
forth the entire agreement between the parties and shall be binding on Jasper County and Hampton
County, their successors and assigns.

2. 2. Authorization. Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution
provides that counties may jointly develop an industrial or business park with other counties within the
geographical boundaries of one or more of the member counties, provided that certain conditions
specified therein are met and further provided that the General Assembly of the State of South Carolina
provides by law a manner in which the value of property in such park will be considered for purposes of
bonded indebtedness of political subdivisions and school districts and for purposes of computing the
index of taxpaying ability pursuant to any provision of law which measures the relative fiscal capacity of

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

COUNTY OF JASPER

COUNTY OF HAMPTON



a school district to support its schools based on the assessed valuation of taxable property in the district
as compared to the assessed valuation of taxable property in all school districts in South Carolina. The
Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (the “Code”) and particularly, Section 4-1-1704-
-1-170 thereof, satisfies the conditions imposed by Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina
Constitution and provides the statutory vehicle whereby a joint countymulti-county industrial or
business park may be created.

2
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2



3. 3. Location of the Park.

(A) As of the original execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Park initiallyThe
Park consists of property that is located in Jasper County and which is now or is anticipated to be
owned and/or operated by a company currently known to the County as Project Showcase
(collectively, the “Company”), aswill be owned by project sponsors for the purpose of establishing
industrial, distribution and/or commercial facilities, the property being more particularly described in
Exhibit A (Jasper Property) hereto. It is specifically recognized that the Park may from time to time
consist of non-contiguous properties within each countyJasper County. The boundaries of the Park may
be enlarged or diminished from time to time as authorized by unilateral ordinance of the county council
of the County in which the property to be added to the Park is located.  IfJasper County Council
(“Jasper Approval”), and resolution of the Hampton County Council (“Hampton Approval”). Except as
permitted by the Intergovernmental Agreement dated as of November 5, 2021 between Jasper County and
the City of Hardeeville, South Carolina (“2021 IGA”) attached hereto as Exhibit B, if any property
proposed for inclusion in the Park is located, at the time such inclusion is proposed, within the
boundaries of a municipality, then the municipality must give its consent prior to the inclusion of the
property in the Park.

(B) (B) In the event of any enlargement or diminution of the boundaries of the Park,
this Agreement shall be deemed amended and there shall be attached hereto a revised Exhibit A
(Jasper Property) or a revised Exhibit B (Hampton Property) which shall contain a legal
description of the boundaries of the Park within Jasper County or Hampton County, as the case
may be, as enlarged or diminished, together with a copy of the ordinance of the county
councilJasper Approval and the Hampton Approval pursuant to which such enlargement or
diminution was authorized.

(C) (C) Prior to the adoption by the respective county council of an ordinanceany
Jasper Approval authorizing the diminution of the boundaries of the Park, a public hearing shall first be
held by such county councilJasper County Council. Notice of such public hearing shall be published in
a newspaper of general circulation in the respective countyJasper County, at least once and not less
than fifteen (15) days prior to such hearing. Notice of such public hearing shall also be served in the
manner of service of process atgiven by certified mail that is deposited with the U.S. Postal Service at
least fifteen (15) days prior to such public hearing upon the owner and, if applicable, the lessee of any
property which would be excluded from the Park by virtue of the diminution.

4. 4. Fee in Lieu of Taxes.

(A) Pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution, all property
located in the Park is exempt from all ad valorem taxation. The owners or lessees of any property situated
in the Park shall pay in accordance with this Agreement an amount (referred to as fees in lieu of ad
valorem taxes) equivalent to the ad valorem taxes or other in-lieu-of payments that would have been due
and payable but for the location of such property within the Park.

(B) The amount of the annual fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes may be reduced if the owner or
lessee of property located in the Park (i) has negotiated a fee in-lieu-of taxes arrangement with respect to
the property with Jasper County pursuant to the provisions of Sections 12-44-10, et seq., 4-12-30, or
4-29-67 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, or any successor provisions thereto as
may be provided under South Carolina law, or (ii) receives a special source revenue or infrastructure
credit with respect to the property under the provisions of Section 4-1-175 of the Code of Laws of South

3
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2



Carolina 1976, as amended, or any successor provisions thereto as may be provided under South Carolina
law (collectively, (i) and (ii), “Negotiated Fee in Lieu of Tax Agreements”).

5. 5. Allocation of Expenses. Jasper County and Hampton County shall bear
expenses incurred in connection with the Park, including, but not limited to, those incurred in the
administration, development, operation, maintenance and promotion of the Park, in the following
proportions:

If the property is located in the Jasper County portion of the Park:

A. A. Jasper County – 100%
B. B. Hampton County – 0%

If the property is located in the Hampton County portion of the Park:

A. Jasper County 0%
B. Hampton County 100%

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, to the extent that privately owned
property is located in the Park, the owner of such property shall bear, exclusively, any expense
associated with such property.

6. 6. Allocation of Revenues. RevenuesJasper County and Hampton County shall
receive an allocation of all revenues generated by the Park through the payment of fees in lieu of ad
valorem taxes shall be distributed in accordance with the attached Exhibit B.(“Park Revenues”)
in the following proportions:

A. Jasper County – 99%
B. Hampton County – 1%

Any payment from Jasper County to Hampton County of Hampton County’s allocable share of Park
Revenues shall be made and accompanied by a statement showing the manner in which total
payment and each County’s share were calculated. If any Park Revenues are received by Jasper
County through payment by any owner, or any lessee/tenant, or any other taxpayer is made under
protest, or otherwise as part of a dispute, then Jasper County is not obligated to pay Hampton
County more than Hampton County’s share of the undisputed portion of the Park Revenues until
thirty (30) days after the final resolution of the protest or dispute.

7. Revenue Allocation within Each County. Park Revenues received shall be distributed
to and within the County as follows:

(A) Revenues generated by the Park through the payment of fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes
shall be distributed to Jasper County and to Hampton County, as the case may be, according to the
proportions established by this Agreement. With respect to revenues allocable to Jasper County by way
of fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes generated from properties within the Park, such revenue shall be
distributed within Jasper County pursuant to the 2021 IGA.

(B) With respect to revenues allocable to Hampton County by way of fees in lieu of ad
valorem taxes generated from properties located in the Park, such revenue shall be distributed within
Hampton County in accordance with a distribution scheme established by the Hampton County Council

4
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2



and, in the absence of any such adopted distribution scheme, on a pro rata basis to the millage levying
entities in Hampton County.

8. 7. Fees in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Pursuant to Title 4 or Title 12 of the
Code. It is hereby agreed that the entry by Jasper County into any one or more fee in lieu of ad
valorem tax agreements pursuant to Title 4 or Title 12 of the Code or any successor or
comparable statutes (“Negotiated Fee in Lieu of Tax Agreements”),  with respect to property located
within the Jasper County portion of the Park and the terms of such agreements shall be at the sole
discretion of Jasper County.  It is further agreed that entry by Hampton County into any one or
more Negotiated Fee in Lieu of Tax Agreements with respect to property located within the
Hampton County portion of the Park and the terms of such agreements shall be at the sole
discretion of Hampton County.

9. Consent by the City and Other Municipalities.  In accordance with the Act, the City
of Hardeeville, by Resolution No. 2021-11-4F and the terms of the 2021 IGA, has consented to the
location of the property within the City’s geographical boundaries in the Park as described on Exhibit
A as of the effective date of this Agreement.

10. 8. Assessed Valuation. For the purpose of calculating the bonded indebtedness
limitation and for the purpose of computing the index of taxpaying ability pursuant to Section
59-20-20(3) of the Code, allocation of the assessed value of property within the Park to Jasper County
and Hampton County and to each of the taxing entities within the participating counties shall be in
accordance with the allocation of revenue received and retained by each of the counties and by each
of the taxing entities within the participating counties, pursuant to SectionSections 6 and Section 7
of this Agreementherein.

11. 9. Applicable OrdinancesGoverning Laws and Regulations. Any applicable
ordinances and regulations of Jasper County including those concerning zoning, health and safety, and
building code requirements shall apply to the Park properties located in the Jasper County portion of the
Park unless any such property is within the boundaries of a municipality in which case, the
municipality’s applicable ordinances and regulations shall apply.  Any applicable ordinances and
regulations of Hampton County including those concerning zoning, health and safety, and
building code requirements shall apply to the Park properties located in the Hampton County
portion of the Park unless any such property is within the boundaries of a municipality in which
case, the municipality’s applicable ordinances and regulations shall apply.

10. Law Enforcement Jurisdiction.  Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all
authority and power within the boundaries of the Park properties located in Jasper County is
vested with the Sheriff’s Office of Jasper County, for matters within their jurisdiction.
Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all authority and power within the boundaries of the
Park properties located in Hampton County is vested with the Sheriff’s Office of Hampton
County, for matters within their jurisdiction.  If any of the Park properties located in either Jasper
County or Hampton County are within the boundaries of a municipality, then jurisdiction to make
arrests and exercise law enforcement jurisdiction is also vested with the law enforcement
officials of the municipality for matters within their jurisdiction.

11. Emergency Services.  All emergency services in the Park shall be provided by
those emergency service providers who provide the respective emergency services in that portion
of the Host County.

5
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2



11. 12. South Carolina Law Controlling.  This Agreement has been entered into in the
State of South Carolina and shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with South Carolina law.

12. 13. Severability. In the event and to the extent (and only to the extent) that any
provision or any part of a provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable by any
court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable the
remainder of that provision or any other provision or part of a provision of this Agreement.

13. 14. Counterpart Execution. This Agreement may be executed in multiple
counterparts, each of which shall be an original but all of which shall constitute but one and the
same instrument.

15. Term; Termination.  This Agreement shall extend until December 31, 2027, or
such other date as shall be specified in any amendment hereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing
provisions of this Agreement or any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, this
Agreement shall not expire and may not be terminated to the extent that Jasper County or
Hampton County has outstanding contractual covenants, commitments or agreements to any
owner or lessee of Park property, including, but not limited to the Company, to provide, or to
facilitate the provision of incentives requiring inclusion of property of such owner or lessee
within the boundaries of a joint county industrial or business park created pursuant to Article
VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code, unless
Jasper County shall first (i) obtain the written the consent of such owner or lessee and, to the
extent required (ii) include the property of such owner or lessee as part of another joint county
industrial or business park created pursuant to Article III, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina
Constitution and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code, which inclusion is effective immediately upon
termination of this Agreement.

14. Additional Parties. This Agreement may be amended from time to time to add
additional counties located in South Carolina, subject to Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the Constitution
of South Carolina and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code, by ordinance of the Jasper County Council, and by
resolution of the Hampton County Council; provided, however, that to the extent permitted by law,
additional counties may be added as parties hereto with only the enactment of an ordinance of the Jasper
County Council only in the event that such additional county’s allocation of Park Revenues hereunder
shall be allocated solely out of Jasper County’s residual net share of the Park Revenues provided for its
use and distribution pursuant to Section 7 hereof.

15. Term; Termination. Except as specifically provided in this Section 15, Jasper
County and Hampton County agree that this Agreement may not be terminated in its entirety by
unilateral action of any party and shall remain in effect for a period equal to the longer of (i)
[thirty-one (31)] years commencing with the effective date of this Agreement or (ii) a period of time
of sufficient length to facilitate any special source revenue credits due with respect to Park property.
This Agreement may be terminated at any time upon adoption of ordinances by the County Councils
of both Jasper County and Hampton County, which ordinances must specifically authorize the
termination of this Agreement.

16. Law Enforcement Jurisdiction. Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all authority
and power within the boundaries of the Park properties is vested with the Sheriff’s Office of Jasper
County, for matters within their jurisdiction. If any of the Park properties are within the boundaries of a

6
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2



municipality, then jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise law enforcement jurisdiction is also vested
with the law enforcement officials of the municipality for matters within their jurisdiction.

[End of Agreement – Execution Page to Follow]

7
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement to be effective as of
the day and the year first above written.

[signatures on following page]

8
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2



JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

By:
_______________________________________________________________________

Chair, County Council
Jasper County, South Carolina

[SEAL]

Attest:

By: _______________________________________________________________
       Clerk to County Council Clerk

Jasper County, South Carolina

[signature page 1 to Agreement for Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (Project

Showcase)(Jasper County/Hampton County Park)]

9
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2



HAMPTON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

By: __________________________________
By: 
       Chairman ofChair, County Council

Hampton County, South Carolina

[SEAL]

(SEAL)
Attest:

By: _______________________
By: 
     Clerk to County Council Clerk

Hampton County, South Carolina

[signature page 2 to Agreement for Development of a Joint County Industrial and Business Park (Project

Showcase) (Jasper County/Hampton County Park)]

10
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2



Exhibit A
Property

Legal Description

11
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2



Exhibit B Revenue Distribution
For fee in lieu of tax revenues Jasper County (“County”) receives as the host county in a joint
county industrial and business park there shall first be deducted any special source revenue
credits.

After making the deduction of special source revenue credits, the County shall distribute 1% to
any companion County.

The amount of revenues the County receives after making the deduction of special source
revenue credits and the distribution of 1% to any companion county (“Retained Revenues”) shall
be distributed as follows:

FIRST: For reimbursement of the County for any expenditures made to attract to and
locate any particular property in the joint county industrial and business park
including expenses incurred with the creation of the joint county industrial and
business park and ongoing expenses related to the joint county industrial and
business park;

SECOND: 10% of the Retained Revenues shall be distributed to the County’s Commercial
Development Fund;

THIRD: To the Taxing Entities, where “Taxing Entities” are those entities within the
County which, as of the date of the agreement establishing the joint county
industrial and business park, have taxing jurisdiction over the property to be
located in such joint county industrial and business park, and no others, in the
same ratio as each Taxing Entity’s millage bears to the aggregate millage of all
Taxing Entities in any given year.

For Example:Intergovernmental Agreement

Assuming a special source revenue credit of 15%, fee in lieu of tax revenues of $1000 and
expenditures by the County of $100, the revenues shall be distributed as follows:
First, $150 is deducted leaving $850.
Next, 1% of the $850 is distributed to the companion county. 1% of $850 is $8.50 leaving
$841.50 in Retained Revenues.
Next, 10% of the Retained Revenues is distributed to the County’s Commercial Development
Fund. 10% of $841.50 is $84.15 leaving $757.35
Next, $100 is distributed to the County to reimburse the County for expenditures leaving
$657.35.
Finally, $657.35 is distributed to the Taxing Entities, as defined above, pro rata according to
millage.

12
PPAB 10183755v110183755v2





 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
JASPER COUNTY 

 
ORDINANCE #O-2023-21 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF  

JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 

Amending Section 9-96(3) of the Jasper County Code of 
Ordinances as adopted by Ordinance No. 2022-39 to 
provide for the appointment of Members to the Levy Fire 
Protection Board, and matters related thereto.  
 

 
WHEREAS, on May 15, 2023, the Jasper County Council passed Ordinance O-2022-39, 

recorded in Book 1131, Page 913-957 of the Jasper County Register of Deeds, which 

ordinance approved, among other things, a methodology as codified in Section 9-96(3) o 

the Jasper County Code of Ordinances by which the initial Board of the Levy Fire 

Protection Board would include three (3) members appointed by County Council from the 

Levy Fire Protection District service area, and for the purposes of the initial appointment, 

two (2) of the three (3) appointed members would be former board members of the Levy 

Volunteer Fire Department; and 

 

WHEREAS, subsequently Jasper County, despite its efforts, has not been able to obtain 

former members of the Levy Volunteer Fire Department who are available to serve; and 

 

WHEREAS, Jasper County has obtained the applications of three citizens from within 

the Levy Fire Protection District area willing to serve, and has obtained the consent of the 

Levy Volunteer Fire Department Board to ratify the appointment of these citizens without 

the requirement that two (2) of the three (3) be former Levy Volunteer Fire Department 

members; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to memorialize these matters, Council has determined to adopt an 

amendment to Section 9-96(3) as adopted in Ordinance 2022-39, deleting the 

requirement that for purposes of the initial appointees, at least two (2) of the three (3) 

Appointed Members shall be former board members of Levy VFD; and  

 



 

 2 

WHEREAS, it is further desirable to amend this subsection to clarify that the two ex 

officio members of the Levy Fire Protection District Board are voting members; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the Jasper County Council, duly 

assembled and with authority of same, that the above premises be incorporated by 

reference; and:  

 

1. Section 9-96 (3) of the Jasper County Code of Ordinances shall be amended to read 

as follows: 

 
(3) The Levy Fire Protection District shall initially be operated as a 

commission under the authority of the County called the “Levy Fire 
Protection District Board” (the “Board”). The Board shall initially 
consist of five (5) voting members. Three (3) members of the Board shall 
be appointed by the County Council from the Levy Fire Protection 
District service area (the “Appointed Members”). The Chair of the 
County Council, or his/her designee, the Council member representing 
the area containing the Levy Fire Protection District shall also serve on 
the Board in a voting ex-officio capacity. Other than the ex officio 
members, who shall serve for a period of time conforming to their 
respective positions, the Appointed Members shall serve staggered 
terms. The initial Appointed Members shall serve terms as follows: one 
Appointed Member shall serve an initial term until June 30, 2023, one 
Appointed Member shall serve an initial term until June 30, 2024; and 
Appointed Member shall serve an initial term until June 30, 2025. As the 
terms of the initial Appointed Members expire, Appointed Members will 
be appointed to serve three-year terms thereafter. All Appointed 
Members of the Board may serve for successive terms of appointment, 
but in no event may any Appointed Member serve more than three 
consecutive terms. All Appointed Members shall serve until a qualified 
successor is appointed to serve. Any vacancy of an Appointed member, 
regardless of how such vacancy occurs, shall be filled by Council for the 
remainder of such member’s term. The Board shall organize and arrange 
meetings as necessary and shall further make arrangements to elect 
necessary officers, including a chair to preside over meetings. 

 
 
 

2. If any section, clause, paragraph, sentence or phrase of this ordinance, or 

application thereof any person or circumstances shall for any reason be held to be 

invalid or unconstitutional., the invalid section, clause paragraph, sentence, phrase 

or application shall no way affect the remainder of this ordinance: and it is hereby 

declared to be the intention of the County Council that the remainder of this 

ordinance would have passed notwithstanding the invalidity or unconstitutionality 

of any section, clause paragraph, sentence or phrase thereof. 



 

 3 

 

3. This ordinance shall take effect upon approval by Council. 

 

 

 

       
Martin L. Sauls, IV 
Chairman 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 
       
Wanda H. Giles 
Clerk to Council 

 
 

ORDINANCE: # O-2023-21 
 
First Reading: November 6, 2023 
Public Hearing: December 4, 2023 
Second Reading: December 4, 2023 
Third Reading: January 16, 2024 
Adopted: January 16, 2024 
 
 

_____________________________________________ 
 
 
 

Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney.  
 
 
         
__________________________      _______________ 
David Tedder         Date  

 

 

 

 





PPAB 10195578v1Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP_Fee Ordinance v.1  
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

     )  ORDINANCE NO. O-2022-38 

COUNTY OF JASPER   ) 

 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A FEE-IN-LIEU 

OF TAX AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN GOPHER HILL HOLDINGS, 

LLC AND ITS ASSIGNS AND TERMINAL INVESTMENT CORP. AND 

TICO MANUFACTURING (THE “SPONSORS”), AND JASPER COUNTY, 

AND AN INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT BY AND 

BETWEEN GOPHER HILL HOLDINGS, LLC AND TERMINAL 

INVESTMENT CORPORATION AND TICO MANUFACTURING (THE 

“COMPANIES”) AND ITS ASSIGNS, AND JASPER COUNTY, 

WHEREBY JASPER COUNTY WILL ENTER INTO A FEE-IN-LIEU OF 

TAX AGREEMENT WITH THE SPONSOR COMPANIES PROVIDING 

FOR PAYMENT BY THE SPONSOR OF CERTAIN FEES-IN-LIEU OF AD 

VALOREM TAXES AND WHEREBY JASPER COUNTY WILL ENTER 

INTO AN INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH THE 

COMPANIES; PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE 

CREDITS IN CONNECTION WITH SUCH AGREEMENTS; 

AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING (1) DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW 

JOINT COUNTY INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 4-1-170 OF THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

1976, AS AMENDED, IN CONJUNCTION WITH HAMPTON COUNTY 

(THE “PARK”) SUCH PARK TO BE GEOGRAPHICALLY LOCATED IN 

JASPER COUNTY; (2) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A 

WRITTEN PARK AGREEMENT WITH HAMPTON COUNTY AS TO 

THE REQUIREMENT OF PAYMENTS OF FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD 

VALOREM TAXES WITH RESPECT TO PARK PROPERTY AND THE 

SHARING OF THE REVENUES AND EXPENSES OF THE PARK; AND 

(3) THE DISTRIBUTION OF REVENUES FROM THE PARK WITHIN 

JASPER COUNTY; AND TO AUTHORIZE THE JASPER COUNTY 

COUNCIL CHAIRMAN OR  COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR, AS 

APPROPRIATE, TO EXECUTE SUCH AGREEMENTS AND OTHER 

DOCUMENTS AS MAY BE NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE TO 

EFFECT THE FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAX TRANSACTION AND TO 

PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS RELATING THERETO. 

 

WHEREAS, Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council 

(“County Council”) is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44, Code of Laws of South 

Carolina, 1976, as amended (“FILOT Act”), to encourage manufacturing and commercial enterprises to 

locate in the State of South Carolina (“South Carolina” or “State”) or to encourage manufacturing and 

commercial enterprises now located in the State to expand their investments and thus make use of and 

employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the State by entering into an agreement with a 

sponsor, as defined in the FILOT Act, that provides for the payment of a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem tax 

(“FILOT Payments”), with respect to economic development property, as defined in the FILOT Act; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4, Section 

1, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (collectively, “MCIP Act”), the County is authorized 

to jointly develop multicounty parks with counties having contiguous borders with the County and, in the 

County’s discretion, include property within the boundaries of such multicounty parks. Under the authority 

provided in the MCIP Act, the County and Hampton County, South Carolina (“Hampton County”) 



2 
Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP Fee Ordinance Final v.1  

(collectively, the Member Counties”) proposes to establish jointly a multi-county industrial/business park 

within the geographical boundaries of one or more of the Member Counties; and  

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and the 

MCIP Act, real and personal property having a situs in a Park is exempt from all ad valorem taxation, but, 

the owners or lessees of such real and personal property are obligated to make, or cause to be made, 

payments in lieu of taxes to the county in which such property is located in the total amount equivalent to 

the ad valorem property taxes or other fee in lieu of tax payments that would have been due and payable 

with respect to such real and personal property but for the location of such real and personal property within 

such Park and such exemption (each, a “Jasper Fee Payment”); and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT and MCIP Acts, the County is authorized to provide credits 

(“Infrastructure Credits”) against FILOT Payments and Jasper Fee Payments derived from economic 

development property to pay costs of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving or expanding (i) 

infrastructure serving a project or the County and (ii) improved and unimproved real estate and personal 

property used in the operation of a commercial enterprise or manufacturing facility (“Infrastructure”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Sponsor and the Companies propose to develop two properties described in Exhibit A 

attached hereto (the “Properties”) to establish or expand commercial, logistic, distribution and/or 

manufacturing facilities (the “Project”); and 

 

WHEREAS, it is anticipated the Project will result in an investment of at least nine million dollars 

($9,000,000) in the County; and  

 

WHEREAS, at the request of the Sponsor and as an inducement to locate the Project in the County, the 

County desires to enter into a Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement with the Sponsors, 

the final form of which is attached as Exhibit B (“Fee Agreement”), pursuant to which the County will 

provide certain incentives to the Companies with respect to the Project, including (i) providing for FILOT 

Payments, to be calculated as set forth in the Fee Agreement, with respect to the portion of the Project 

which constitutes economic development property; and (ii) providing Infrastructure Credits, as described 

in the Fee Agreement, to assist in paying the costs of certain Infrastructure; and 

 

WHEREAS, at the request of the two Companies and as an inducement to expand its operations in the 

County, the County desires to provide the Companies Infrastructure Credits against each Jasper Fee 

Payment due from the Companies with respect to the Project, all as set forth in greater detail herein and in 

a Infrastructure Credit Agreement by and between the County and the Companies with respect to certain 

Project Property (the “Infrastructure Credit Agreement”), the form of which is presented to this meeting 

and attached hereto as Exhibit C, and which is to be dated as of March 21, 2022 or such other date as the 

parties may agree, and in which the County and the Companies have agreed to the specific terms and 

conditions of such arrangement; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to promote the economic development of Jasper County and Hampton County, 

the Counties have initially agreed to include in the Park the Property pursuant to an agreement to be 

negotiated between and entered into by the Member Counties as of such date as may be agreed to by the 

Member Counties (the “MCIP Agreement”),; and  

 

WHEREAS, the Counties have agreed to the specific terms and conditions of the arrangement set forth 

in the MCIP Agreement, a copy of the proposed Agreement being attached hereto as Exhibit D (“MCIP 

Agreement”); and  

 

WHEREAS, the Counties now desire to establish the Park to include the Property; and  

 



3 
Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP Fee Ordinance Final v.1  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows:   

 

Section 1. Statutory Findings. Based on information supplied to the County by the Sponsor, County 

Council evaluated the Project based on relevant criteria including, the purposes the Project is to accomplish, 

the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created, and the anticipated 

costs and benefits to the County, and hereby finds: 

 

(a) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing services, 

employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally;  

 

(b) The Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated municipality or a 

charge against its general credit or taxing power;  

 

(c) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes and 

the benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

 

Section 2. Approval of Incentives; Authorization to Execute and Deliver Fee Agreement and 

Infrastructure Credit Agreement. The incentives as described in this Ordinance (“Ordinance”), and as 

more particularly set forth in the Fee Agreement and Infrastructure Credit Agreement, with respect to the 

Project are hereby approved. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee Agreement and Infrastructure Credit 

Agreement that are before this meeting are approved and all of the Fee Agreement’s and Infrastructure 

Credit Agreement’s terms and conditions are incorporated in this Ordinance by reference. The Chair of 

County Council (“Chair”) is authorized and directed to execute the Fee Agreement, MCIP Agreement and 

Infrastructure Credit Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the County, subject to the approval of any 

revisions or changes necessary as are not materially adverse to the County by the County Administrator 

and counsel to the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby authorized and directed to attest the 

Fee Agreement and Infrastructure Credit Agreement and to deliver the same to the Company. 

 

Section 3. Further Assurances. The County Council confirms the authority of the Chair, the County 

Administrator, the Clerk to County Council, and various other County officials and staff, acting at the 

direction of the Chair, the County Administrator or Clerk to County Council, as appropriate, to take 

whatever further action and to negotiate, execute and deliver whatever further documents as may be 

appropriate to effect the intent of this Ordinance and the incentives offered to the Sponsor and the Company 

under this Ordinance, the Fee Agreement and the Infrastructure Credit Agreement. 

 

Section 4. Establishment of Multi-County Park; Approval of MCIP Agreement; Location of Park; 

Change of Park Boundaries. 

 

(a) There is hereby authorized to be established, initially in conjunction with Hampton 

County, a multi-county industrial/business park to include therein the Property.  The form, 

provisions, terms, and conditions of the MCIP Agreement in substantially the form before Jasper 

County Council (the “County Council”) at the meeting at which this Ordinance receives third 

reading, and filed with the Clerk to County Council, be and they are hereby approved, and all of 

the provisions, terms, and conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as if the 

MCIP Agreement were set out in this Ordinance in its entirety. 

 

(b) The MCIP Agreement is to be in the form as negotiated by the County 

Administrator with the advice of legal counsel, with such changes therein as shall not materially 

adversely affect the rights of Jasper County thereunder and as shall be approved by the officials of 

Jasper County executing the same. The Chairman of County Council, for and on behalf of Jasper 

County, is hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to do any and all things necessary or proper 

to effect the establishment of the Park and the execution and delivery of the MCIP Agreement and 



4 
Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP Fee Ordinance Final v.1  

the performance of all obligations of Jasper County under and pursuant to the MCIP Agreement 

and to carry out the transactions contemplated thereby and by this Ordinance. 

(c) As of the date of enactment of this Ordinance, the Park shall consist of the Property 

located in Jasper County.  It is recognized that the Park may from time to time consist of non-

contiguous properties within each Member County.  The boundaries of the Park may be enlarged 

or diminished from time to time as authorized by (a) an ordinance of the Member County in which 

the property to be added or removed from the Park is actually located, and (b) a resolution (or 

comparable action) of the governing bodies of all other Member Counties. 

 

Section 5. Payment of Fee-in-lieu of Taxes.   

 

(a) In accordance with Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution, the area 

comprising the Park and all property having a situs therein is exempt from all ad valorem taxation.  All 

owners and lessees of property situated in the Park will pay a fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes as provided 

for in the MCIP Agreement.  The fee paid in lieu of ad valorem taxes shall be paid to the county treasurer 

of the county in which such property is located.  That portion of the fee from the Park property located in a 

Member County and allocated pursuant to the MCIP Agreement to the other Member Counties shall be 

paid to the respective county treasurer (or other designated official) of the other Member Counties in 

accordance with the terms of the MCIP Agreement.  Payments of fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes for each 

year will be due on the due date for property taxes for such year.  Penalties for late payment will be at the 

same rate as late tax payments.  Any late payment beyond the due date will accrue interest at the same rate 

as late tax payments.  The Member Counties, acting by and through the appropriate official, shall maintain 

all liens and rights to foreclose upon liens provided for counties in the collection of ad valorem taxes.   

 

(b) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit any Member County from negotiating and 

collecting reduced fees in lieu of taxes pursuant to Title 4, Chapter 29 or Chapter 12, or Title 12, Chapter 

44 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, or any similar provision of South Carolina 

law. 

 

Section 6. Savings Clause. The provisions of this Ordinance are separable. If any part of this Ordinance 

is, for any reason, unenforceable then the validity of the remainder of this Ordinance is unaffected. 

 

Section 7. General Repealer.  Any prior ordinance, resolution, or order, the terms of which are in 

conflict with this Ordinance, is, only to the extent of that conflict, repealed. 

 

Section 8. Effectiveness. This Ordinance is effective after its third reading and public hearing.  

 

 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

        

Chair, Jasper County Council 

(SEAL) 

ATTEST: 

 

 

        

Clerk of Council, Jasper County Council 

 

 



5 
Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP Fee Ordinance Final v.1  

First Reading:  11.21.2022  

Second Reading: 12.05.2022  

Public Hearing:  12.05.2022 and 12.04.2023 

Third Reading:        01.16.2024    



Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP_Fee Ordinance Final  

EXHIBIT A 

Legal Description 

 

 

10.62 acres of land, more or less, with a steel commercial building located thereon, more specifically 

identified as tax map number 048-00-01-029, having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in 

the Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, as more particularly described on a plat recorded in Plat 

Book 36 at Page 127 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC 

 

AND ALSO, 12.89 acres of land, more or less, without improvements more specifically identified as tax 

map number 048-00-01-012 having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress Ridge 

Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, being more particularly described as follows: Beginning at a point shown 

on a plat recorded in Plat Book 36 at Page 127 in the Office of the Register of Deeds shown as USGS 

Marker Found, Haystack 1997, Elev. 83.2 (NAVD88) N 254699.65 E 1995968.12, thence S 47º49’06”E 

for a distance of 191.98 feet, being the Point of Beginning (POB); thence N 74 º 57’.40”E for a distance of 

265.79 feet to a point; thence N60 º18’30” for a distance of 242.53 feet to a 5/8” Rebar, being the 

Northeastern corner of adjacent Tax Parcel 048-00-01-029 as shown on Plat Book 36 at Page 127; thence 

S30 º31”58”E for a distance of 634.81 feet to a 3/4 “ Rebar, being the Northeastern corner of adjacent Tax 

Parcel 048-00-01-032 as shown on Plat Book 36 at Page 127 and as Parcel 3 on Plat Book 30 at Page 276; 

thence S30º31’58” for a distance of 290.40 feet to a rebar; thence S30º31’58” along the eastern boundary 

of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-033 to its intersection with a northern boundary line of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-009; 

thence eastward along the boundary line of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-009 to its intersection with the right of 

way boundary line of U.S. Highway 278; thence northward along the boundary line of US Highway 278 

and the sewer lift station boundary lines as shown on those certain plats recorded in Plat Book 32 at Page 

467 and Plat Book to the Point of Beginning. 

 

AND ALSO, 2.00 acres of land, more or less, without improvements more specifically identified as tax 

map number 048-00-01-032 having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress Ridge 

Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, as more particularly described as Parcel 3 on a plat recorded in Plat Book 

30 at Page 276 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC. 

 

AND ALSO, 50.00 acres of land, more or less, with improvements more specifically identified as tax map 

number 048-00-01-006 having an address of 66 North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress Ridge 

Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC as more particularly described as Parcel A-1 Armor Chasie Site, on a plat 

recorded in Plat Book 22 at Page 442 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC. 

 

All such properties being subject to easements, rights of way, and other matters of public record. 

  



Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP_Fee Ordinance Final  

EXHIBIT B 

FORM OF FEE AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

 



Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP_Fee Ordinance Final  

EXHIBIT C 

FORM OF INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

 



Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP_Fee Ordinance Final  

EXHIBIT D 

FORM OF MCIP AGREEMENT 

 

 

 

 

 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA )
) ORDINANCE NO.

________O-2022-38
COUNTY OF JASPER )

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A
FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN GOPHER
HILL HOLDINGS, LLC AND ITS ASSIGNS AND TERMINAL
INVESTMENT CORP. AND TICO MANUFACTURING (THE
“SPONSORS”), AND JASPER COUNTY, AND AN INFRASTRUCTURE
CREDIT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN GOPHER HILL
HOLDINGS, LLC AND TERMINAL INVESTMENT CORPORATION
AND TICO MANUFACTURING (THE “COMPANIES”) AND ITS
ASSIGNS, AND JASPER COUNTY, WHEREBY JASPER COUNTY
WILL ENTER INTO A FEE-IN-LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT WITH
THE SPONSOR COMPANIES PROVIDING FOR PAYMENT BY THE
SPONSOR OF CERTAIN FEES-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND
WHEREBY JASPER COUNTY WILL ENTER INTO AN
INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH THE COMPANIES;
PROVIDING FOR SPECIAL SOURCE REVENUE CREDITS IN
CONNECTION WITH SUCH AGREEMENTS; AUTHORIZING AND
APPROVING (1) DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW JOINT COUNTY
INDUSTRIAL AND BUSINESS PARK PURSUANT TO SECTION 4-1-170
OF THE CODE OF LAWS OF SOUTH CAROLINA 1976, AS AMENDED,
IN CONJUNCTION WITH HAMPTON COUNTY (THE “PARK”) SUCH
PARK TO BE GEOGRAPHICALLY LOCATED IN JASPER COUNTY;
(2) THE EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF A WRITTEN PARK
AGREEMENT WITH HAMPTON COUNTY AS TO THE
REQUIREMENT OF PAYMENTS OF FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM
TAXES WITH RESPECT TO PARK PROPERTY AND THE SHARING
OF THE REVENUES AND EXPENSES OF THE PARK; AND (3) THE
DISTRIBUTION OF REVENUES FROM THE PARK WITHIN JASPER
COUNTY; AND TO AUTHORIZE THE JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL
CHAIRMAN OR  COUNTY ADMINISTRATOR, AS APPROPRIATE, TO
EXECUTE SUCH AGREEMENTS AND OTHER DOCUMENTS AS MAY
BE NECESSARY AND APPROPRIATE TO EFFECT THE FEE-IN-LIEU
OF TAX TRANSACTION AND TO PROVIDE FOR OTHER MATTERS
RELATING THERETO.

WHEREAS, Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”), acting by and through its County Council
(“County Council”) is authorized pursuant to the provisions of Title 12, Chapter 44, Code of Laws of
South Carolina, 1976, as amended (“FILOT Act”), to encourage manufacturing and commercial
enterprises to locate in the State of South Carolina (“South Carolina” or “State”) or to encourage
manufacturing and commercial enterprises now located in the State to expand their investments and thus
make use of and employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the State by entering into an
agreement with a sponsor, as defined in the FILOT Act, that provides for the payment of a fee-in-lieu of
ad valorem tax (“FILOT Payments”), with respect to economic development property, as defined in the
FILOT Act; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and Title 4,
Section 1, Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended (collectively, “MCIP Act”), the County is
authorized to jointly develop multicounty parks with counties having contiguous borders with the County

PPAB 10195578v1Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP_Fee Ordinance v.1



and, in the County’s discretion, include property within the boundaries of such multicounty parks. Under
the authority provided in the MCIP Act, the County and Hampton County, South Carolina (“Hampton
County”) (collectively, the Member Counties”) proposes to establish jointly a multi-county
industrial/business park within the geographical boundaries of one or more of the Member Counties; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with Article VIII, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution and the
MCIP Act, real and personal property having a situs in a Park is exempt from all ad valorem taxation,
but, the owners or lessees of such real and personal property are obligated to make, or cause to be made,
payments in lieu of taxes to the county in which such property is located in the total amount equivalent to
the ad valorem property taxes or other fee in lieu of tax payments that would have been due and payable
with respect to such real and personal property but for the location of such real and personal property
within such Park and such exemption (each, a “Jasper Fee Payment”); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the FILOT and MCIP Acts, the County is authorized to provide credits
(“Infrastructure Credits”) against FILOT Payments and Jasper Fee Payments derived from economic
development property to pay costs of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving or expanding (i)
infrastructure serving a project or the County and (ii) improved and unimproved real estate and personal
property used in the operation of a commercial enterprise or manufacturing facility (“Infrastructure”);
and

WHEREAS, the Sponsor and the Companies propose to develop two properties described in Exhibit
A attached hereto (the “Properties”) to establish or expand commercial, logistic, distribution and/or
manufacturing facilities (the “Project”); and

WHEREAS, it is anticipated the Project will result in an investment of at least nine million dollars
($9,000,000) in the County; and

WHEREAS, at the request of the Sponsor and as an inducement to locate the Project in the County,
the County desires to enter into a Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement with the
Sponsors, the final form of which is attached as Exhibit B (“Fee Agreement”), pursuant to which the
County will provide certain incentives to the Companies with respect to the Project, including (i)
providing for FILOT Payments, to be calculated as set forth in the Fee Agreement, with respect to the
portion of the Project which constitutes economic development property; and (ii) providing Infrastructure
Credits, as described in the Fee Agreement, to assist in paying the costs of certain Infrastructure; and

WHEREAS, at the request of the two Companies and as an inducement to expand its operations in
the County, the County desires to provide the Companies Infrastructure Credits against each Jasper Fee
Payment due from the Companies with respect to the Project, all as set forth in greater detail herein and
in a Infrastructure Credit Agreement by and between the County and the Companies with respect to
certain Project Property (the “Infrastructure Credit Agreement”), the form of which is presented to this
meeting and attached hereto as Exhibit C (“SSRC Agreement”), and which is to be dated as of March 21,
2022 or such other date as the parties may agree, and in which the County and the Companies have
agreed to the specific terms and conditions of such arrangement; and

WHEREAS, in order to promote the economic development of Jasper County and Hampton County,
the Counties have initially agreed to include in the Park the Property pursuant to an agreement to be
negotiated between and entered into by the Member Counties as of such date as may be agreed to by the
Member Counties (the “MCIP Agreement”),; and

WHEREAS, the Counties have agreed to the specific terms and conditions of the arrangement set
forth in the MCIP Agreement, a copy of the proposed Agreement being attached hereto as Exhibit D
(“MCIP Agreement”); and

2
Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP Fee Ordinance Final v.1



WHEREAS, the Counties now desire to establish the Park to include the Property; and

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED, by the County Council as follows:

Section 1. Statutory Findings. Based on information supplied to the County by the Sponsor, County
Council evaluated the Project based on relevant criteria including, the purposes the Project is to
accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and nature of the investment, employment to be created, and
the anticipated costs and benefits to the County, and hereby finds:

(a) The Project is anticipated to benefit the general public welfare of the County by providing
services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not otherwise adequately provided locally;

(b) The Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or incorporated municipality or a
charge against its general credit or taxing power;

(c) The purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes and
the benefits of the Project are greater than the costs.

Section 2. Approval of Incentives; Authorization to Execute and Deliver Fee Agreement and
Infrastructure Credit Agreement. The incentives as described in this Ordinance (“Ordinance”), and as
more particularly set forth in the Fee Agreement and Infrastructure Credit Agreement, with respect to the
Project are hereby approved. The form, terms and provisions of the Fee Agreement and Infrastructure
Credit Agreement that are before this meeting are approved and all of the Fee Agreement’s and
Infrastructure Credit Agreement’s terms and conditions are incorporated in this Ordinance by reference.
The Chair of County Council (“Chair”) is authorized and directed to execute the Fee Agreement, MCIP
Agreement and Infrastructure Credit Agreement in the name of and on behalf of the County, subject to
the approval of any revisions or changes necessary as are not materially adverse to the County by the
County Administrator and counsel to the County, and the Clerk to County Council is hereby authorized
and directed to attest the Fee Agreement and Infrastructure Credit Agreement and to deliver the same to
the Company.

Section 3. Further Assurances. The County Council confirms the authority of the Chair, the County
Administrator, the Clerk to County Council, and various other County officials and staff, acting at the
direction of the Chair, the County Administrator or Clerk to County Council, as appropriate, to take
whatever further action and to negotiate, execute and deliver whatever further documents as may be
appropriate to effect the intent of this Ordinance and the incentives offered to the Sponsor and the
Company under this Ordinance, the Fee Agreement and the Infrastructure Credit Agreement.

Section 4. Establishment of Multi-County Park; Approval of MCIP Agreement; Location of Park;
Change of Park Boundaries.

(a) There is hereby authorized to be established, initially in conjunction with
Hampton County, a multi-county industrial/business park to include therein the Property.  The
form, provisions, terms, and conditions of the MCIP Agreement in substantially the form before
Jasper County Council (the “County Council”) at the meeting at which this Ordinance receives
third reading, and filed with the Clerk to County Council, be and they are hereby approved, and
all of the provisions, terms, and conditions thereof are hereby incorporated herein by reference as
if the MCIP Agreement were set out in this Ordinance in its entirety.

(b) The MCIP Agreement is to be in the form as negotiated by the County
Administrator with the advice of legal counsel, with such changes therein as shall not materially

3
Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP Fee Ordinance Final v.1



adversely affect the rights of Jasper County thereunder and as shall be approved by the officials
of Jasper County executing the same. The Chairman of County Council, for and on behalf of
Jasper County, is hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to do any and all things necessary
or proper to effect the establishment of the Park and the execution and delivery of the MCIP
Agreement and the performance of all obligations of Jasper County under and pursuant to the
MCIP Agreement and to carry out the transactions contemplated thereby and by this Ordinance.

(c) As of the date of enactment of this Ordinance, the Park shall consist of the
Property located in Jasper County.  It is recognized that the Park may from time to time consist
of non-contiguous properties within each Member County.  The boundaries of the Park may be
enlarged or diminished from time to time as authorized by (a) an ordinance of the Member
County in which the property to be added or removed from the Park is actually located, and (b) a
resolution (or comparable action) of the governing bodies of all other Member Counties.

Section 5. Payment of Fee-in-lieu of Taxes.

(a) In accordance with Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution, the
area comprising the Park and all property having a situs therein is exempt from all ad valorem taxation.
All owners and lessees of property situated in the Park will pay a fee in lieu of ad valorem taxes as
provided for in the MCIP Agreement.  The fee paid in lieu of ad valorem taxes shall be paid to the
county treasurer of the county in which such property is located.  That portion of the fee from the Park
property located in a Member County and allocated pursuant to the MCIP Agreement to the other
Member Counties shall be paid to the respective county treasurer (or other designated official) of the
other Member Counties in accordance with the terms of the MCIP Agreement.  Payments of fees in lieu
of ad valorem taxes for each year will be due on the due date for property taxes for such year.  Penalties
for late payment will be at the same rate as late tax payments.  Any late payment beyond the due date will
accrue interest at the same rate as late tax payments.  The Member Counties, acting by and through the
appropriate official, shall maintain all liens and rights to foreclose upon liens provided for counties in the
collection of ad valorem taxes.

(b) Nothing herein shall be construed to prohibit any Member County from negotiating and
collecting reduced fees in lieu of taxes pursuant to Title 4, Chapter 29 or Chapter 12, or Title 12, Chapter
44 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976, as amended, or any similar provision of South Carolina
law.

Section 6. Savings Clause. The provisions of this Ordinance are separable. If any part of this
Ordinance is, for any reason, unenforceable then the validity of the remainder of this Ordinance is
unaffected.

Section 7. General Repealer. Any prior ordinance, resolution, or order, the terms of which are in
conflict with this Ordinance, is, only to the extent of that conflict, repealed.

Section 8. Effectiveness. This Ordinance is effective after its third reading and public hearing.

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA

Chair, Jasper County Council
(SEAL)
ATTEST:

4
Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP Fee Ordinance Final v.1



Clerk of Council, Jasper County Council

First Reading:
Second Reading:
Public Hearing:
Third Reading:

5
Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP Fee Ordinance Final v.1



EXHIBIT A

Legal Description

10.62 acres of land, more or less, with a steel commercial building located thereon, more specifically
identified as tax map number 048-00-01-029, having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in
the Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, as more particularly described on a plat recorded in
Plat Book 36 at Page 127 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC

AND ALSO, 12.89 acres of land, more or less, without improvements more specifically identified as tax
map number 048-00-01-012 having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress
Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, being more particularly described as follows: Beginning at a point
shown on a plat recorded in Plat Book 36 at Page 127 in the Office of the Register of Deeds shown as
USGS Marker Found, Haystack 1997, Elev. 83.2 (NAVD88) N 254699.65 E 1995968.12, thence S
47º49’06”E for a distance of 191.98 feet, being the Point of Beginning (POB); thence N 74 º 57’.40”E for
a distance of 265.79 feet to a point; thence N60 º18’30” for a distance of 242.53 feet to a 5/8” Rebar,
being the Northeastern corner of adjacent Tax Parcel 048-00-01-029 as shown on Plat Book 36 at Page
127; thence S30 º31”58”E for a distance of 634.81 feet to a 3/4 “ Rebar, being the Northeastern corner of
adjacent Tax Parcel 048-00-01-032 as shown on Plat Book 36 at Page 127 and as Parcel 3 on Plat Book
30 at Page 276; thence S30º31’58” for a distance of 290.40 feet to a rebar; thence S30º31’58” along the
eastern boundary of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-033 to its intersection with a northern boundary line of Tax
Parcel 048-00-01-009; thence eastward along the boundary line of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-009 to its
intersection with the right of way boundary line of U.S. Highway 278; thence northward along the
boundary line of US Highway 278 and the sewer lift station boundary lines as shown on those certain
plats recorded in Plat Book 32 at Page 467 and Plat Book to the Point of Beginning.

AND ALSO, 2.00 acres of land, more or less, without improvements more specifically identified as tax
map number 048-00-01-032 having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress
Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, as more particularly described as Parcel 3 on a plat recorded in Plat
Book 30 at Page 276 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC.

AND ALSO, 50.00 acres of land, more or less, with improvements more specifically identified as tax
map number 048-00-01-006 having an address of 66 North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress
Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC as more particularly described as Parcel A-1 Armor Chasie Site, on
a plat recorded in Plat Book 22 at Page 442 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC.

All such properties being subject to easements, rights of way, and other matters of public record.

Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP_Fee Ordinance Final



EXHIBIT B
FORM OF FEE AGREEMENT

Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP_Fee Ordinance Final



EXHIBIT C
FORM OF SSRCINFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT

Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP_Fee Ordinance Final



EXHIBIT D
FORM OF MCIP AGREEMENT

Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill MCIP_Fee Ordinance Final



 

 

Error! Unknown document property name.HSB 7323442 v.7  

 

 

 

 

 

 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AND INCENTIVE AGREEMENT 

 

 

BETWEEN 

 

 

GOPHER HILL HOLDINGS, LLC,  

TERMINAL INVESTMENT CORP. AND TICO MANUFACTURING (A DIVISION OF 

TERMINAL INVESTMENT CORP.) 

 

 

AND 

 

 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

 

 

 

EFFECTIVE AS OF NOVEMBER 21, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
Error! Unknown document property name.HSB 7323442 v.7  

SUMMARY OF CONTENTS OF 

FEE AGREEMENT 

 

The parties have agreed to waive the requirement to recapitulate the contents of this Fee Agreement 

pursuant to Section 12-44-55 of the Code (as defined herein). However, the parties have agreed to include 

a summary of the key provisions of this Fee Agreement for the convenience of the parties. This summary 

is included for convenience only and is not to be construed as a part of the terms and conditions of this Fee 

Agreement.  

 

 

PROVISION BRIEF DESCRIPTION SECTION REFERENCE 

Sponsor Name Gopher Hill Holdings, LLC, Terminal Investment 

Corp., and TICO Manufacturing 

 

Project Location   

Tax Map Nos. 048-00-01-029, 048-00-01-012 and 048-00-01-032  

FILOT   

• Phase Exemption 

Period 

20 Years Section 1.1 

• Contract 

Minimum 

Investment 

Requirement 

$9,000,000 Section 1.1 

• Investment 

Period 

5 Years Section 1.1 

• Assessment Ratio 6% Section 4.1 

• Millage Rate .345 Section 4.1 

• Fixed or Five-

Year Adjustable 

Millage 

Fixed Section 4.1 

•  Minimum 

Investment 

Requirement 

Act Minimum Investment 

 

 

Section 1.1 

Multicounty Park Jasper and Hampton County – Freedom Industrial 

Park 

 

Infrastructure 

Credit 

  

• Brief Description 20% Section 5.1 

• Credit Term 20 Years Section 5.1 

• Claw Back 

Information 

Infrastructure Credit to be reduced if Company fails 

to meet Contract Minimum Investment Requirement 

during the Investment Period.  Prorata reduction of 

Infrastructure Credit based upon formula set forth on 

Section 6.1. 

 

 

Section 6.1 

Other Information   

 



i 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

_________________________ 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

_________________________ 

 

 Page 

 

Recitals .......................................................................................................................................................... 1 

 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

 

Section 1.1 Terms. .................................................................................................................................... 3 

 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 

Section 2.1 Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the County ................................................ 6 

Section 2.2 Representations, Warranties, and Agreements of the Sponsor .............................................. 7 

 

ARTICLE III 

THE PROJECT 

 

Section 3.1 The Project ............................................................................................................................. 8 

Section 3.2 Leased Property ...................................................................................................................... 8 

Section 3.3 Filings and Reports ................................................................................................................ 8 

 

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 

 

Section 4.1 FILOT Payments .................................................................................................................... 8 

Section 4.2 FILOT Payments on Replacement Property .......................................................................... 9 

Section 4.3 Removal of Components of the Project ............................................................................... 10 

Section 4.4 Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property .............................................. 10 

Section 4.5 Condemnation ...................................................................................................................... 10 

Section 4.6 Calculating FILOT Payments on Diminution in Value........................................................ 11 

Section 4.7 Payment of Ad Valorem Taxes ............................................................................................. 11 

Section 4.8 Place of FILOT Payments .................................................................................................... 11 

 

ARTICLE V 

ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES 

 

Section 5.1 Infrastructure Credits ........................................................................................................... 11 

 

ARTICLE VI 

CLAW BACK 

 

Section 6.1 Claw Back ............................................................................................................................ 11 

 

  



ii 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

ARTICLE VII 

DEFAULT 

 

Section 7.1 Events of Default ................................................................................................................. 12 

Section 7.2 Remedies on Default ............................................................................................................ 12 

Section 7.3 Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses ............................................................. 12 

Section 7.4 Remedies Not Exclusive ...................................................................................................... 13 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

PARTICULAR COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS 

 

Section 8.1 Confidentiality ..................................................................................................................... 13 

Section 8.2 Indemnification Covenants .................................................................................................. 13 

Section 8.3 No Liability of County Personnel ........................................................................................ 15 

Section 8.4 Limitation of Liability  ......................................................................................................... 15 

Section 8.5 Assignment ........................................................................................................................... 15 

Section 8.6 No Double Payment, Future Changes in Legislation ........................................................... 15 

Section 8.7 Administration Expenses  .................................................................................................... 15 

ARTICLE IX 

SPONSOR AFFILIATES 

 

Section 9.1 Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliates ............................................................................................ 15 

Section 9.2 Subdivision and Transfer ..................................................................................................... 16 

 

ARTICLE X 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

Section 10.1 Notices ................................................................................................................................. 16 

Section 10.2 Provision of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Sponsor ....................................... 17 

Section 10.3 Counterparts ......................................................................................................................... 17 

Section 10.4 Governing Law .................................................................................................................... 17 

Section 10.5 Headings ............................................................................................................................... 17 

Section 10.6 Amendments ........................................................................................................................ 17 

Section 10.7 Agreement to Sign Other Documents .................................................................................. 17 

Section 10.8 Interpretation; Invalidity; Change in Laws .......................................................................... 17 

Section 10.9 Force Majeure ...................................................................................................................... 18 

Section 10.10 Termination; Termination by Sponsor ................................................................................. 18 

Section 10.11 Entire Agreement ................................................................................................................. 18 

Section 10.12 Waiver .................................................................................................................................. 18 

Section 10.13 Business Day ........................................................................................................................ 18 

Section 10.14 Agreement’s Construction ................................................................................................... 18 

 

Exhibit A – Description of Property 

Exhibit B – Form of Joinder Agreement



1 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

 

FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT 

THIS FEE-IN-LIEU OF AD VALOREM TAXES AGREEMENT (“Fee Agreement”) is entered 

into, effective, as of November 21, 2022, between Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”), a body politic 

and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“State”), acting through the Jasper 

County Council (“County Council”) as the governing body of the County, and Gopher Hill Holdings, LLC, 

a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of South Carolina, (the 

“Company”), and Terminal Investment Corp., and TICO Manufacturing, the Companies also being referred 

to herein as the (“Sponsors”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Title 12, Chapter 44, (“Act”) of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 

amended (“Code”), authorizes the County to induce manufacturing and commercial enterprises to locate in 

the State or to encourage manufacturing and commercial enterprises currently located in the State to expand 

their investments and thus make use of and employ the manpower, products, and other resources of the 

State by entering into an agreement with a sponsor, as defined in the Act, that provides for the payment of 

a fee-in-lieu of ad valorem tax (“FILOT”) with respect to Economic Development Property, as defined 

below; and  

WHEREAS, Sections 4-1-175 and 12-44-70 of the Code authorize the County to provide credits 

(“Infrastructure Credit”) against payments in lieu of taxes for the purpose of defraying of the cost of 

designing, acquiring, constructing, improving, or expanding (i) the infrastructure serving the County or a 

project and (ii) for improved and unimproved real estate, and personal property, including machinery and 

equipment, used in the operation of a manufacturing facility or commercial enterprise (collectively, 

“Infrastructure”); and  

WHEREAS, the Sponsors propose to purchase and develop the Project (as defined herein) within 

the County; and  

WHEREAS, the Sponsors anticipate that the Project will result in an investment of at least nine 

million dollars ($9,000,000) in the County; and  

WHEREAS, by an ordinance enacted on   , 2023, County Council authorized the 

County to enter into this Fee Agreement with the Sponsors to provide for a FILOT and the other incentives 

as more particularly described in this Fee Agreement to induce the Sponsors to develop the Project in the 

County. 

NOW, THEREFORE, AND IN CONSIDERATION of the respective representations and 

agreements hereinafter contained, the parties agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1. Terms. The defined terms used in this Fee Agreement have the meaning given below, 

unless the context clearly requires otherwise. 

“Act” means Title 12, Chapter 44 of the Code, and all future acts successor or supplemental thereto 

or amendatory of this Fee Agreement. 



2 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

“Act Minimum Investment Requirement” means an investment of at least $5,000,000 in the 

Project within five years of the Commencement Date.  

“Administration Expenses” means the reasonable expenses incurred by the County in the 

negotiation, approval and implementation of the terms and provisions of this Fee Agreement, including 

reasonable attorney’s and consultant’s fees. Administration Expenses does not include any costs, expenses, 

including attorney’s fees, incurred by the County (i) in defending challenges to the FILOT Payments[, 

Infrastructure Credits or other incentives] provided by this Fee Agreement brought by third parties or the 

Sponsor or its affiliates and related entities, or (ii) in connection with matters arising at the request of the 

Sponsor outside of the immediate scope of this Fee Agreement, including amendments to the terms of this 

Fee Agreement. 

“Code” means the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as amended. 

“Commencement Date” means the last day of the property tax year during which Economic 

Development Property is placed in service. The Commencement Date shall not be later than the last day of 

the property tax year which is three years from the year in which the County and the Sponsor enter into this 

Fee Agreement. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, the Commencement Date is expected to be December 

31, 2023. 

“Contract Minimum Investment Requirement” means a taxable investment in real and personal 

property at the Project of not less than $9,000,000.  

“County” means Jasper County, South Carolina, a body politic and corporate and a political 

subdivision of the State, its successors and assigns, acting by and through the County Council as the 

governing body of the County. 

“County Council” means the Jasper County Council, the governing body of the County. 

“Credit Term” means the years during the Fee Term in which the Infrastructure Credit is applicable, 

as described in Section 5.1.  

“Department” means the South Carolina Department of Revenue. 

“Developer” or “Developers” mean the Company or the Companies, including Gopher Hill 

Holdings, LLC, Terminal Investment Corp., and TICO Manufacturing. 

“Developer Assets” means that Equipment and/or Real Property owned by the Developers. 

“Diminution in Value” means a reduction in the fair market value of Economic Development 

Property, as determined in Section 4.1(a)(i) of this Fee Agreement, which may be caused by (i) the removal 

or disposal of components of the Project pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Fee Agreement; (ii) a casualty as 

described in Section 4.4 of this Fee Agreement; or (iii) a condemnation as described in Section 4.5 of this 

Fee Agreement. 

“Economic Development Property” means those items of real and tangible personal property of 

the Project placed in service not later than the end of the Investment Period that (i) satisfy the conditions of 

classification as economic development property under the Act, and (ii) are identified by a Sponsor in its 

annual filing of a PT-300S or comparable form with the Department (as such filing may be amended from 

time to time).  



3 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

“Equipment” means all of the machinery, equipment, furniture, office equipment, and fixtures, 

together with any and all additions, accessions, replacements, and substitutions. 

“Event of Default” means any event of default specified in Section 7.1 of this Fee Agreement. 

 “Fee Agreement” means this Fee-In-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement. 

“Fee Term” means the period from the effective date of this Fee Agreement until the Final 

Termination Date. 

“FILOT Payments” means the amount paid or to be paid in lieu of ad valorem property taxes as 

provided in Section 4.1. 

“Final Phase” means the Economic Development Property placed in service during the last year 

of the Investment Period.  

“Final Termination Date” means the date on which the last FILOT Payment with respect to the 

Final Phase is made, or such earlier date as the Fee Agreement is terminated in accordance with the terms 

of this Fee Agreement. Assuming the Final Phase is placed in service during the year ending December 31, 

2028, the Phase Termination Date is expected to be December 31, 2048, and the Final Termination Date is 

expected to be January 15, 2049, which is the due date of the last FILOT Payment with respect to the Final 

Phase.  

“Improvements” means all improvements to the Real Property, including buildings, building 

additions, roads, sewer lines, and infrastructure, together with all additions, fixtures, accessions, 

replacements, and substitutions. 

“Infrastructure” means (i) the infrastructure serving the County or the Project, (ii) improved and 

unimproved real estate, and personal property, including machinery and equipment, used in the operation 

of a manufacturing or commercial enterprise, or (iii) such other items as may be described in or permitted 

under Section 4-29-68 of the Code. 

 

“Infrastructure Credit” means the credit provided to the Sponsors pursuant to Section 12-44-70 of 

the Act or Section 4-1-175 of the MCIP Act and Section 5.1 of this Fee Agreement, with respect to the 

Infrastructure. Infrastructure Credits are to be used for the payment of Infrastructure constituting real 

property, improvements and infrastructure before any use for the payment of Infrastructure constituting 

personal property, notwithstanding any presumptions to the contrary in the MCIP Act or otherwise. 

 

“Investment Period” means the period beginning with the first day of any purchase or acquisition 

of Economic Development Property and ending six (6) years after the Commencement Date, as may be 

extended pursuant to Section 12-44-30(13) of the Act. For purposes of this Fee Agreement, the Investment 

Period represents a five (5) year investment period plus an additional one (1) year that the County has 

hereby granted pursuant to the provisions of the Act.  

“MCIP Act” means Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina, 

and Sections 4-1-170, 4-1-172, 4-1-175, and 4-29-68 of the Code. 

“Multicounty Park” means the multicounty industrial or business park governed by the Freedom 

Industrial Park Multi-County Park Agreement, dated as of ___________________, 2022, between the 

County and Hampton County, South Carolina, as may be amended. 



4 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

“Net FILOT Payment” means the FILOT Payment net of the Infrastructure Credit. 

“Phase” means the Economic Development Property placed in service during a particular year of 

the Investment Period. 

“Phase Exemption Period” means, with respect to each Phase, the period beginning with the 

property tax year the Phase is placed in service during the Investment Period and ending on the Phase 

Termination Date.  

“Phase Termination Date” means, with respect to each Phase, the last day of the property tax year 

which is the 20th year following the first property tax year in which the Phase is placed in service. 

“Project” means all the Equipment, Improvements, and Real Property in the County that the 

Sponsors or any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate determine to be necessary, suitable, or useful by the 

Company or such other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate in connection with its investment in the County.  

“Real Property” means real property that the Sponsors use or will use in the County for the 

purposes that Section 2.2(b) describes, and initially consists of the land identified on Exhibit A of this Fee 

Agreement. 

“Removed Components” means Economic Development Property which the Company or Sponsor, 

as the case may be, in its sole discretion, (a) determines to be inadequate, obsolete, worn-out, uneconomic, 

damaged, unsuitable, undesirable, or unnecessary pursuant to Section 4.3 of this Fee Agreement or 

otherwise; or (b) elects to be treated as removed pursuant to Section 4.4(c) or Section 4.5(b)(iii) of this Fee 

Agreement.  

“Replacement Property” means any property which is placed in service as a replacement for any 

Removed Component regardless of whether the Replacement Property serves the same functions as the 

Removed Component it is replacing and regardless of whether more than one piece of Replacement 

Property replaces a single Removed Component. 

“Sponsor” (or “Sponsors”) mean the Company or Companies and any entity that joins with the 

Companies and participates in the investment in, or financing of, the Project and which meet the 

requirements under the Act to be entitled to the benefits of this Fee Agreement with respect to its 

participation in the Project. Sponsors include Gopher Hill Holdings, LLC and Terminal Investment Corp. 

and Terminal Investment Corp.’s division, TICO Manufacturing. An additional Sponsor must join in the 

Fee Agreement by that Joinder Agreement, the form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B.  The Sponsor 

may also be a Sponsor Affiliate. 

“Sponsor Affiliate” means an entity that joins with or is an affiliate of a Sponsor and participates 

in the investment at the Project and joins this Fee Agreement by delivering a Joinder Agreement, the form 

of which is attached as Exhibit B to this Fee Agreement. 

“State” means the State of South Carolina. 

“Subdivided Parcel” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2. 

Any reference to any agreement or document in this Article I or otherwise in this Fee Agreement 

shall include any and all amendments, supplements, addenda, and modifications to such agreement or 

document. 



5 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

The term “investment” or “invest” as used in this Fee Agreement includes not only investments 

made by the Sponsors, but also to the fullest extent permitted by law, those investments made by or for the 

benefit of the Sponsors, any other Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates in connection with the Project through 

federal, state, or local grants, to the extent such investments are or, but for the terms of this Fee Agreement, 

would be subject to ad valorem taxes to be paid by the Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates, as the case may be. 

ARTICLE II 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1. Representations and Warranties of the County. The County represents and warrants 

as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State and acts 

through the County Council as its governing body. The Act authorizes and empowers the County to enter 

into the transactions that this Fee Agreement contemplates and to carry out its obligations under this Fee 

Agreement. The County has duly authorized the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement and all other 

documents, certificates or other agreements contemplated in this Fee Agreement and has obtained all 

consents from third parties and taken all actions necessary or that the law requires to fulfill its obligations 

under this Fee Agreement. 

 

(b) Based on representations by the Company, County Council evaluated the Project based on all 

relevant criteria including the purposes the Project is to accomplish, the anticipated dollar amount and 

nature of the investment resulting from the Project, and the anticipated costs and benefits to the County and 

following the evaluation, the County determined that (i) the Project is anticipated to benefit the general 

public welfare of the County by providing services, employment, recreation, or other public benefits not 

otherwise adequately provided locally; (ii) the Project gives rise to no pecuniary liability of the County or 

any incorporated municipality and to no charge against the County’s general credit or taxing power; (iii) 

the purposes to be accomplished by the Project are proper governmental and public purposes; and (iv) the 

benefits of the Project are greater than the costs. 

 

(c) The County identified the Project, as a “project” on November 21, 2022 by adopting an 

Inducement Resolution, as defined in the Act on November 21, 2022. 

 

(d) The County is not in default of any of its obligations (contractual or otherwise) as a result of 

entering into and performing its obligations under this Fee Agreement. 

 

(e) The County has located or will take all reasonable action to locate the Project in the Multicounty 

Park.  

 

Section 2.2. Representations and Warranties of the Sponsors. Each Company represents and 

warrants as follows:  

 

(a) The Companies are in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization, is duly 

authorized to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business in 

the State), has power to enter into this Fee Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and delivery 

of this Fee Agreement. 

 

(b) The Companies intend to develop the Project for the purpose of constructing and operating 

manufacturing and/or distribution facilities and other commercial enterprises and for such other purposes 

that the Act permits as the Company may deem appropriate. 

 



6 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

(c) The Companies’ execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement and its compliance with the 

provisions of this Fee Agreement do not result in a default under any agreement or instrument to which the 

Company is now a party or by which it is bound. 

 

(d) The Companies will use commercially reasonable efforts to achieve the Contract Minimum 

Investment Requirement. 

 

(e) The execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement by the County and the availability of the 

FILOT and other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement has been instrumental in inducing the 

Companies to develop the Project in the County. 

 

(f) The Companies have retained legal counsel to confirm, or has had a reasonable opportunity to 

consult legal counsel to confirm, its eligibility for the FILOT and other incentives granted by this Fee 

Agreement and has not relied on the County, its officials, employees or legal representatives with respect 

to any question of eligibility or applicability of the FILOT and other incentives granted by this Fee 

Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE III 

THE PROJECT 

Section 3.1. The Project. The Sponsors intend and expect to (i) construct or acquire the Project and 

(ii) meet the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement within the Investment Period. The Sponsors 

anticipate that the first Phase of the Project will be placed in service during the calendar year ending 

December 31, 2023.  Notwithstanding anything contained in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the 

Sponsors are not obligated to complete the acquisition of the Project. However, if the Contract Minimum 

Investment Requirement is not met, the benefits provided to the Sponsors are, a Sponsor, or Sponsor 

Affiliate, if any, pursuant to this Fee Agreement may be reduced, modified or terminated as provided in 

this Fee Agreement. 

Section 3.2 Leased Property. To the extent that State law allows or is revised or construed to permit 

leased assets including a building, or personal property to be installed in a building, to constitute Economic 

Development Property, then any property leased by a Sponsor is, at the election of the Sponsor, deemed to 

be Economic Development Property for purposes of this Fee Agreement, subject, at all times, to the 

requirements of State law and this Fee Agreement with respect to property comprising Economic 

Development Property. 

Section 3.3. Filings and Reports.  

(a) The Company shall file a copy of this Fee Agreement and a completed PT-443 with the 

Department and the Auditor, Treasurer and Assessor of the County and partner county to the Multicounty 

Park. 

 

(b) On request by the County Administrator, a Sponsor shall remit to the County Administrator 

records accounting for the acquisition, financing, construction, and operation of the Project which records 

(i) permit ready identification of all Economic Development Property; (ii) confirm the dates that the 

Economic Development Property or Phase was placed in service; and (iii) include copies of all filings made 

in accordance with this Section.  

 

 

 

  



7 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

ARTICLE IV 

FILOT PAYMENTS 

 

Section 4.1. FILOT Payments.  

 

(a) The FILOT Payment due with respect to each Phase through the Phase Termination Date is 

calculated as follows:  

 

Step 1: Determine the fair market value of the Economic Development Property (or 

Phase of the Economic Development Property) placed in service during the 

Investment Period using original income tax basis for State income tax 

purposes for any Real Property and Improvements without regard to 

depreciation; provided however, at the election of a Sponsor, the fair market 

value will be determined by appraisal by the Department, in which case the 

Real Property and Improvements will be subject to reappraisal no more than 

once every 5 years; and original income tax basis for State income tax purposes 

for any personal property less depreciation for each year allowable for property 

tax purposes, except that no extraordinary obsolescence shall be allowable.  

The determination of these values shall take into account all applicable 

property tax exemptions that State law would allow to the Company or a 

Sponsor if the property were taxable, except those exemptions that Section 12-

44-50(A)(2) of the Act specifically disallows. 

Step 2: Apply an assessment ratio of six percent (6%) to the fair market value in Step 

1 to establish the taxable value of the Economic Development Property (or 

each Phase of the Economic Development Property) in the year it is placed in 

service and in each of the 19 years thereafter or such longer period of years in 

which the Act permits the Company or a Sponsor to make annual fee 

payments. 

Step 3: Use a fixed millage rate equal to the millage rate in effect on June 30, 2021, 

which is .345, as Section 12-44-50(A)(1)(d) of the Act provides, during the 

Phase Exemption Period against the taxable value to determine the amount of 

the Payments in Lieu of Taxes due during the Phase Exemption Period on the 

payment dates that the County prescribes for such payments or such longer 

period of years in which the Act permits a Company or a Sponsor to make 

annual fee payments. 

Upon election by a Company or any Sponsor to have any Real Property valued by appraisal of the 

Department, the Company or Sponsor, as the case may be, shall notify the County and such election shall 

be evidenced by an amendment to the Fee Agreement. 

 

The calculation of the FILOT Payment must allow all applicable property tax exemptions except 

those excluded pursuant to Section 12-44-50(A)(2) of the Act. The Sponsor acknowledges that (i) the 

calculation of the annual FILOT Payment is a function of the Department and is wholly dependent on the 

Sponsor timely submitting the correct annual property tax returns to the Department, (ii) the County has no 

responsibility for the submission of returns or the calculation of the annual FILOT Payment, and (iii) failure 

by the Sponsor to submit the correct annual property tax return could lead to a loss of all or a portion of the 

FILOT and other incentives provided by this Fee Agreement.  

 



8 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

(b) If a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction from which no further appeal is allowable 

declares the FILOT Payments invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, for any reason, the parties shall 

negotiate the reformation of the calculation of the FILOT Payments to most closely afford the Sponsors 

with the intended benefits of this Fee Agreement. If such order has the effect of subjecting the Economic 

Development Property to ad valorem taxation, this Fee Agreement shall terminate, and the Sponsor shall 

owe the County regular ad valorem taxes from the date of termination, in accordance with Section 4.7. 

 

Section 4.2. FILOT Payments on Replacement Property. If a Sponsor elects to place Replacement 

Property in service, then, pursuant and subject to the provisions of Section 12-44-60 of the Act, the Sponsor 

shall make the following payments to the County with respect to the Replacement Property for the 

remainder of the Phase Exemption Period applicable to the Removed Component of the Replacement 

Property: 

 

(a) FILOT Payments, calculated in accordance with Section 4.1, on the Replacement Property to 

the extent of the original income tax basis of the Removed Component the Replacement Property is deemed 

to replace.   

(b) Regular ad valorem tax payments to the extent the income tax basis of the Replacement Property 

exceeds the original income tax basis of the Removed Component the Replacement Property is deemed to 

replace.   

Section 4.3. Removal of Components of the Project. Subject to the other terms and provisions of 

this Fee Agreement, a Sponsor is entitled to remove and dispose of components of the Project in its sole 

discretion. Components of the Project are deemed removed when scrapped, sold or otherwise removed from 

the Project. If the components removed from the Project are Economic Development Property, then the 

Economic Development Property is a Removed Component, no longer subject to this Fee Agreement and 

is subject to ad valorem property taxes to the extent the Removed Component remains in the State and is 

otherwise subject to ad valorem property taxes. 

 

Section 4.4. Damage or Destruction of Economic Development Property.  

(a) Election to Terminate.  If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, explosion, or 

any other casualty, then a Sponsor may terminate this Fee Agreement as to such Sponsor's interest. For the 

property tax year corresponding to the year in which the damage or casualty occurs, the Sponsor is obligated 

to make FILOT Payments with respect to the damaged Economic Development Property only to the extent 

property subject to ad valorem taxes would have been subject to ad valorem taxes under the same 

circumstances for the period in question. 

(b) Election to Restore and Replace. If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, 

explosion, or any other casualty, and the Sponsor does not elect to terminate this Fee Agreement, then the 

Sponsor may restore and replace the Economic Development Property. All restorations and replacements 

made pursuant to this subsection (b) are deemed, to the fullest extent permitted by law and this Fee 

Agreement, to be Replacement Property. 

(c) Election to Remove. If Economic Development Property is damaged by fire, explosion, or any 

other casualty, and the Sponsor elects not to terminate this Fee Agreement pursuant to subsection (a) and 

elects not to restore or replace pursuant to subsection (b), then the damaged portions of the Economic 

Development Property are deemed Removed Components. 

Section 4.5. Condemnation. 



9 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

(a) Complete Taking. If at any time during the Fee Term, title to or temporary use of the Economic 

Development Property is vested in a public or quasi-public authority by virtue of the exercise of a taking 

by condemnation, inverse condemnation, or the right of eminent domain; by voluntary transfer under threat 

of such taking; or by a taking of title to a portion of the Economic Development Property which renders 

continued use or occupancy of the Economic Development Property commercially unfeasible in the 

judgment of a Sponsor, the Sponsor shall have the option to terminate such Sponsor's interest in this Fee 

Agreement by sending written notice to the County within a reasonable period of time following such 

vesting. 

 

(b) Partial Taking. In the event of a partial taking of the Economic Development Property or a 

transfer in lieu, the Sponsor may elect: (i) to terminate this Fee Agreement; (ii) to restore and replace the 

Economic Development Property, with such restorations and replacements deemed, to the fullest extent 

permitted by law and this Fee Agreement, to be Replacement Property; or (iii) to treat the portions of the 

Economic Development Property so taken as Removed Components. 

 

(c) In the year in which the taking occurs, the Sponsor is obligated to make FILOT Payments with 

respect to the Economic Development Property so taken only to the extent property subject to ad valorem 

taxes would have been subject to taxes under the same circumstances for the period in question. 

 

Section 4.6. Calculating FILOT Payments on Diminution in Value. If there is a Diminution in 

Value, the FILOT Payments due with respect to the Economic Development Property or Phase so 

diminished shall be calculated by substituting the diminished value of the Economic Development Property 

or Phase for the original fair market value in Section 4.1(a) of this Fee Agreement.  

Section 4.7. Payment of Ad Valorem Taxes.  If Economic Development Property becomes subject 

to ad valorem taxes as imposed by law pursuant to the terms of this Fee Agreement or the Act, then the 

calculation of the ad valorem taxes due with respect to the Economic Development Property in a particular 

property tax year shall: (i) include the property tax reductions that would have applied to the Economic 

Development Property if it were not Economic Development Property; and (ii) include a credit for FILOT 

Payments the Sponsor has made with respect to the Economic Development Property. 

Section 4.8. Place of FILOT Payments. All FILOT Payments shall be made directly to the County 

in accordance with applicable law. 

ARTICLE V 

ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES 

 

Section 5.1. Infrastructure Credits. To assist in paying for costs of Infrastructure, the Companies 

including Gopher Hill Holdings, LLC, Terminal Investment Corp and TICO Manufacturing and any 

qualifying Sponsor are entitled to claim an Infrastructure Credit to reduce certain FILOT Payments due and 

owing from the Sponsor to the County under this Fee Agreement. All qualifying expenses of the Sponsors 

during the Investment Period shall qualify for a 20-year, 20% Infrastructure Credit.  Beginning with the 

first annual FILOT Payment and continuing for the next nineteen (19) annual FILOT Payments, the Sponsor 

will receive an annual credit in an amount equal to 20% of the annual FILOT Payment with respect to the 

Project; provided however, a Company or any Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate may elect to begin application 

of the Infrastructure Credit in a year other than the year in which the first annual FILOT Payment is made.  

Such election may be made for each Subdivided Parcel (as defined in Section 9.2), unless already elected 

by the Company or Sponsor.  In such event, the Company, Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, as the case may 

be, shall provide notice to the County Administrator of the County.  Upon selection by a Company of the 

year in which the Infrastructure Credit shall first apply, the Infrastructure Credit will continue to be applied 



10 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

to the next nineteen (19) annual FILOT Payments.  In no event may a Sponsor’s aggregate Infrastructure 

Credit claimed pursuant to this Section exceed the aggregate expenditures by the Sponsor on Infrastructure. 

 

For each property tax year in which the Infrastructure Credit is applicable (“Credit Term”), the 

County shall prepare and issue the annual bills with respect to the Project showing the Net FILOT Payment. 

Following receipt of the bill, the Sponsor shall timely remit the Net FILOT Payment to the County in 

accordance with applicable law. 

 

 

 

ARTICLE VI 

CLAW BACK 

 

Section 6.1. Claw Back. 

 

(i) If following the end of the seventh (7th) property tax year after the Commencement Date, 

the County reasonably determines (based on the Sponsors’ admissions or other actual data consistent with 

such finding) that the Sponsors have not achieved 75% of the Contract Minimum Investment Requirement 

during the Investment Period as of the end of the Investment Period, the County may, in its discretion, 

reduce the Infrastructure Credits on that portion of the Property that continues to be owned by the Company 

or one of its affiliates (“Developer Assets”) on a prospective basis. 

 

For example (and by way of example only) if the Sponsors invested or cause to be invested 

$4,500,000 in real property and real property improvements at the Project by the end of such 

property tax year (i.e., 50% of $9,000,000), the County may, at its discretion, reduce the 

Infrastructure Credits from 20% to 10% (i.e., 50% of 20%), so the Infrastructure Credit is 10% 

of FILOT Payments made with respect to the Project  

 

(ii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, and for the avoidance of doubt: 

 

a. The County may, in its discretion, elect to forego any reductions in 

Infrastructure Credits pursuant to this Section 6.1 hereof or extend the 

Investment Period pursuant to the provisions of the Act;  

 

b. Under no circumstances shall the County modify the terms of the Fee 

Agreement in a manner detrimental to the portion of the property that has been 

assigned to a Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate who becomes a Sponsor or Sponsor 

Affiliate after the date of this Fee Agreement (“Sponsor Assets”). Instead, the 

claw back provided for by Section 6.1(i) will apply only to the Infrastructure 

Credits on Developer Assets on a prospective basis and not to Sponsor Assets; 

and 

 

c. In the event that Infrastructure Credits are reduced pursuant to Section 6.1 

hereof, but following such reduction, the Company proves to the reasonable 

satisfaction of the County that it is on pace to achieve or has achieved the 

Contract Minimum Investment Requirement, any prior reductions in 

Infrastructure Credits may be rescinded in the County’s sole discretion. 

 

  



11 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

ARTICLE VII 

DEFAULT 

 

Section 7.1. Events of Default. The following are “Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement: 

 

(a) Failure to make FILOT Payments, which failure has not been cured within 30 days following 

receipt of written notice from the County specifying the delinquency in FILOT Payments and requesting 

that it be remedied; 

 

(b) Failure to timely pay any amount, except FILOT Payments, due under this Fee Agreement;  

 

(c) A representation or warranty made by a Sponsor which is deemed materially incorrect when 

deemed made;   

 

(d) Failure by a Sponsor to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants under 

this Fee Agreement (other than those under (a), above), which failure has not been cured within 30 days 

after written notice from the County to the Sponsor specifying such failure and requesting that it be 

remedied, unless the Sponsor has instituted corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently 

pursuing corrective action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to 

include the period during which the Sponsor is diligently pursuing corrective action;   

 

(e) A representation or warranty made by the County which is deemed materially incorrect when 

deemed made; or 

 

(f) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 

hereunder, which failure has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the Sponsor to the 

County specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the County has instituted 

corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is 

corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to include the period during which the County is 

diligently pursuing corrective action. 

 

Section 7.2. Remedies on Default.  

(a) If an Event of Default by a Sponsor has occurred and is continuing, then the County may take 

any one or more of the following remedial actions: 

(i) terminate this Fee Agreement as to the defaulting Sponsor's interest; or 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to collect 

amounts due or otherwise remedy the Event of Default or recover its damages; 

(iii) Notwithstanding anything set forth herein to the contrary, in the event the Sponsors, 

together with any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate, fail to meet the Contract Minimum 

Investment Requirement, the County’s sole remedy will be the clawback as provided in Article VI. 

(b) If an Event of Default by the County has occurred and is continuing, a Sponsor may take any 

one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement; 

(ii) terminate this Fee Agreement; or 



12 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

(iii) in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such action as is 

appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent allowed by law. 

Section 7.3. Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses. On the occurrence of an Event 

of Default, if a party is required to employ attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection 

of payments due under this Fee Agreement or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any 

obligation or agreement, the prevailing party is entitled to seek reimbursement of the reasonable fees of 

such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred. 

Section 7.4. Remedies Not Exclusive. No remedy described in this Fee Agreement is intended to 

be exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy is cumulative and in addition 

to every other remedy given under this Fee Agreement or existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

ARTICLE VIII 

PARTICULAR RIGHTS AND COVENANTS 

 

Section 8.1. Right to Inspect.  The County and its authorized agents, at any reasonable time on 

prior written notice (which may be given by email), may enter and examine and inspect the Project for the 

purposes of permitting the County to carry out its duties and obligations in its sovereign capacity (such as, 

without limitation, for such routine health and safety purposes as would be applied to any other 

manufacturing or commercial facility in the County). 

Section 8.2. Confidentiality.  The County acknowledges that a Sponsor may utilize confidential 

and proprietary processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and techniques (“Confidential 

Information”) and that disclosure of the Confidential Information could result in substantial economic harm 

to the Sponsor. The Sponsor may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County 

pursuant to this Fee Agreement as “Confidential Information.” Except as required by law, the County, or 

any employee, agent, or contractor of the County, shall not disclose or otherwise divulge any labeled 

Confidential Information to any other person, firm, governmental body or agency. The Sponsor 

acknowledges that the County is subject to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, 

must disclose certain documents and information on request, absent an exemption. If the County is required 

to disclose any Confidential Information to a third party, the County will use its best efforts to provide the 

Sponsor with as much advance notice as is reasonably possible of such disclosure requirement prior to 

making such disclosure, and to cooperate reasonably with any attempts by the Sponsor to obtain judicial or 

other relief from such disclosure requirement. 

Section 8.3. Indemnification Covenants.  

 

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, each Sponsor shall indemnify and save the County, 

its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless against and 

from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this Fee Agreement, performance of the 

County’s obligations under this Fee Agreement or the administration of its duties pursuant to this Fee 

Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this Fee Agreement.  

 

(b) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Sponsors shall reimburse the County 

for all of its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or defense against 

such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a), above. The County shall provide a statement of the 

costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Sponsors shall pay the County within 30 days of receipt 

of the statement. The Sponsors may request reasonable documentation evidencing the costs shown on the 

statement. However, the County is not required to provide any documentation which may be privileged or 

confidential to evidence the costs. 



13 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

 

(c) The County may request the Sponsors to resist or defend against any claim on behalf of an 

Indemnified Party. On such request, the Sponsors shall resist or defend against such claim on behalf of the 

Indemnified Party, at the Sponsors' expense. The Sponsors are entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage 

and control the defense of or response to such claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the Sponsors are 

not entitled to settle any such claim without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

 

(d) Notwithstanding anything in this Section or this Fee Agreement to the contrary, the Sponsors 

are not required to indemnify any Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs arising from 

any claim or liability (i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, which are unrelated to the 

execution of this Fee Agreement, performance of the County’s obligations under this Fee Agreement, or 

the administration of its duties under this Fee Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having 

entered into this Fee Agreement; or (ii) resulting from that Indemnified Party’s own negligence, bad faith, 

fraud, deceit, or willful misconduct. 

 

(e) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs 

provided in this Section unless it provides the Sponsors with prompt notice, reasonable under the 

circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, copies of 

any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of claims, in order to 

afford the Sponsors notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which to defend or otherwise 

respond to a claim. 

 

Section 8.4. No Liability of County Personnel. All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements 

and obligations of the County contained in this Fee Agreement are binding on members of the County 

Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County only in his or her official 

capacity and not in his or her individual capacity, and no recourse for the payment of any moneys under 

this Fee Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected or appointed official, 

officer, agent, servant or employee of the County and no recourse for the payment of any moneys or 

performance of any of the covenants and agreements under this Fee Agreement or for any claims based on 

this Fee Agreement may be had against any member of County Council or any elected or appointed official, 

officer, agent, servant or employee of the County except solely in their official capacity. 

Section 8.5. Limitation of Liability. The County is not liable to the Sponsors for any costs, 

expenses, losses, damages, claims or actions in connection with this Fee Agreement, except from amounts 

received by the County from the Sponsors under this Fee Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Fee 

Agreement to the contrary, any financial obligation the County may incur under this Fee Agreement is 

deemed not to constitute a pecuniary liability or a debt or general obligation of the County. 

Section 8.6. Assignment. A Sponsor may assign its interest in this Fee Agreement in whole or in 

part with the prior written consent of the County or a subsequent written ratification by the County, which 

may be done by resolution, and which consent or ratification the County will not be unreasonably withheld. 

The Sponsor agrees to notify the County and the Department of the identity of the proposed transferee 

within 60 days of the transfer. In case of a transfer, the transferee assumes the transferor’s basis in the 

Economic Development Property for purposes of calculating the FILOT Payments.  

Section 8.7. No Double Payment; Future Changes in Legislation. Notwithstanding anything 

contained in this Fee Agreement to the contrary, and except as expressly required by law, the Sponsor is 

not required to make a FILOT Payment in addition to a regular ad valorem property tax payment in the 

same year with respect to the same piece of Economic Development Property. A Sponsor is not required to 

make a FILOT Payment on Economic Development Property in cases where, absent this Fee Agreement, 

ad valorem property taxes would otherwise not be due on such property. 



14 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

Section 8.8. Administration Expenses. The Sponsors will reimburse, or cause reimbursement to, 

the County for Administration Expenses in an amount not to exceed $8,000. The Sponsor will reimburse 

the County for its Administration Expenses on receipt of a written request from the County or at the 

County’s direction, which request shall include a statement of the amount and nature of the Administration 

Expense. The Sponsor shall pay the Administration Expense as set forth in the written request no later than 

60 days following receipt of the written request from the County. The County does not impose a charge in 

the nature of impact fees or recurring fees in connection with the incentives authorized by this Fee 

Agreement. The payment by the Sponsor of the County’s Administration Expenses shall not be construed 

as prohibiting the County from engaging, at its discretion, the counsel of the County’s choice.  

 

ARTICLE IX 

SPONSOR AND SPONSOR AFFILIATES 

 

Section 9.1. Sponsor and Sponsor Affiliates. The Sponsors Gopher Hill Holdings, LLC, Terminal 

Investment Corp. and TICO Manufacturing may designate, from time to time, other Sponsors or Sponsor 

Affiliates pursuant to the provisions of Sections 12-44-30(19) or (20), respectively, and Section 12-44-130 

of the Act, which Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates shall be persons who join with the Company and other 

Sponsors and make investments with respect to the Project, or who participate in the financing of such 

investments, who agree to be bound by the terms and provisions of this Agreement.  All other Sponsor or 

Sponsor Affiliates who otherwise meet the requirements of Section 12-44-30 (19) or (20) and Section 12-

44-130 of the Act are subject to the consent of the County, which consent shall not be unreasonably 

withhold.  To the extent that the aggregate investment in the Project by the end of the Investment Period by 

all Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates exceeds $5,000,000, to the extent permitted by Section 12-44-30(19) 

of the Act, all investment by such Sponsors and Sponsor Affiliates during the Investment Period shall 

qualify for the FILOT pursuant to Section 4.1 of this Agreement (subject to the other conditions set forth 

therein) regardless of whether each such entity invested amounts equal to the Contract Minimum 

Investment Requirement by the end of the Investment Period.  A Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate shall provide 

the County and the Department of Revenue with written notice of any other Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate 

designated pursuant to this Section 9.01 in accordance with Section 12-44-130(B) of the Act.  The parties 

agree that, if any Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate ceases to become a party to this Agreement, the Agreement 

shall continue to remain in effect with respect to any remaining Sponsors or Sponsor Affiliates.  The 

Sponsor or Sponsor Affiliate’s joining in the investment at the Project will be effective on delivery of a 

Joinder Agreement, the form of which is attached as Exhibit B, executed by the Sponsor or Sponsor 

Affiliate, as the case may be, to the County.  

 

Section 9.2. Subdivision and Transfer.  The County hereby acknowledges the Company may 

subdivide the Property into separate parcels (the “Subdivided Parcels”) and sell or lease such Subdivided 

Parcels to other Sponsors.  Upon execution of the Joinder Agreement, such Sponsors will become subject 

to the terms of this Fee Agreement.  It is intended that each such Sponsor shall be responsible for compliance 

with the terms and provisions herein as pertains to such Subdivision Parcel.  A default by such Sponsor 

shall not be deemed a default by the other Sponsors hereunder. 

 

ARTICLE X 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 10.1. Notices. Any notice, election, demand, request, or other communication to be 

provided under this Fee Agreement is effective when delivered to the party named below or when deposited 

with the United States Postal Service, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed 

as follows (or addressed to such other address as any party shall have previously furnished in writing to the 



15 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

other party), except where the terms of this Fee Agreement require receipt rather than sending of any notice, 

in which case such provision shall control: 

IF TO THE COMPANY: 

Gopher Hill Holdings, LLC 

POB 73 

Savannah, GA 31402 

Email: rbooker@ticotractors.com    

 

WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice): 

  Adams and Reese, LLP 

  ATTN: Burnet R. Maybank III 

1221 Main Street, Suite 1200 

Columbia, SC 29201 

 

IF TO THE COUNTY: 

Jasper County, South Carolina 

Attn: County Administrator 

PO Box 1149 

358 Third Avenue, 

Ridgeland, SC 29936 

 

WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice): 

Jasper County Attorney 

PO Box 420 

358 Third Ave. 

Ridgeland, SC 29936 

 

WITH A COPY TO (does not constitute notice): 

Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein 

Attn: Ray Jones 

1221 Main Street, Suite 1100 

Columbia, SC 29201 

 

Section 10.2. Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Sponsors. Except as 

otherwise specifically provided in this Fee Agreement, nothing in this Fee Agreement expressed or implied 

confers on any person or entity other than the County and the Sponsors any right, remedy, or claim under 

or by reason of this Fee Agreement, this Fee Agreement being intended to be for the sole and exclusive 

benefit of the County and the Sponsors. 

Section 10.3. Counterparts. This Fee Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 

and all of the counterparts together constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 10.4. Governing Law. South Carolina law, exclusive of its conflicts of law provisions that 

would refer the governance of this Fee Agreement to the laws of another jurisdiction, governs this Fee 

Agreement and all documents executed in connection with this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.5. Headings. The headings of the articles and sections of this Fee Agreement are 

inserted for convenience only and do not constitute a part of this Fee Agreement. 



16 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

Section 10.6. Amendments. This Fee Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of 

the parties to this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.7. Agreement to Sign Other Documents. From time to time, and at the expense of the 

Sponsor, to the extent any expense is incurred, the County agrees to execute and deliver to the Sponsor 

such additional instruments as the Sponsor may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and 

reasonably within the purposes and scope of the Act and this Fee Agreement to effectuate the purposes of 

this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.8. Interpretation; Invalidity; Change in Laws.  

(a) If the inclusion of property as Economic Development Property or any other issue is unclear 

under this Fee Agreement, then the parties intend that the interpretation of this Fee Agreement be done in 

a manner that provides for the broadest inclusion of property under the terms of this Fee Agreement and 

the maximum incentive permissible under the Act, to the extent not inconsistent with any of the explicit 

terms of this Fee Agreement.  

(b) If any provision of this Fee Agreement is declared illegal, invalid, or unenforceable for any 

reason, the remaining provisions of this Fee Agreement are unimpaired, and the parties shall reform such 

illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, and enforceable intent 

of this Fee Agreement so as to afford the Sponsor with the maximum benefits to be derived under this Fee 

Agreement, it being the intention of the County to offer the Sponsor the strongest inducement possible, 

within the provisions of the Act, to locate the Project in the County.  

(c) The County agrees that in case the FILOT incentives described in this Fee Agreement are found 

to be invalid and the Sponsor does not realize the economic benefit it is intended to receive from the County 

under this Fee Agreement as an inducement to locate in the County, the County agrees to negotiate with 

the Sponsor to provide a special source revenue or Infrastructure Credit to the Sponsor (in addition to the 

Infrastructure Credit explicitly provided for above) to the maximum extent permitted by law, to allow the 

Sponsor to recoup all or a portion of the loss of the economic benefit resulting from such invalidity. 

Section 10.9. Force Majeure. The Sponsor is not responsible for any delays or non-performance 

caused in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, by strikes, accidents, freight embargoes, fires, floods, 

inability to obtain materials, conditions arising from governmental orders or regulations, war or national 

emergency, acts of God, and any other cause, similar or dissimilar, beyond the Sponsor’s reasonable 

control. 

Section 10.10. Termination; Termination by Sponsor.  

(a) Unless first terminated under any other provision of this Fee Agreement, this Fee Agreement 

terminates on the Final Termination Date. 

(b) The Sponsor is authorized to terminate this Fee Agreement at any time with respect to all or 

part of the Project on providing the County with 30 days’ notice. 

(c) Any monetary obligations due and owing at the time of termination and any provisions which 

are intended to survive termination, survive such termination.  

(d) In the year following termination, all Economic Development Property is subject to ad valorem 

taxation or such other taxation or payment in lieu of taxation that would apply absent this Fee Agreement. 

The Sponsor’s obligation to make FILOT Payments under this Fee Agreement terminates to the extent of 

and in the year following the year the Sponsor terminates this Fee Agreement pursuant to this Section. 



17 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

Section 10.11. Entire Agreement. This Fee Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all 

agreements of the parties, and neither party is bound by any agreement or any representation to the other 

party which is not expressly set forth in this Fee Agreement or in certificates delivered in connection with 

the execution and delivery of this Fee Agreement. 

Section 10.12. Waiver. Either party may waive compliance by the other party with any term or 

condition of this Fee Agreement only in a writing signed by the waiving party. 

Section 10.13. Business Day. If any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Fee 

Agreement, required to be taken, made, or given on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the 

jurisdiction in which the party obligated to act is situated, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, 

made, or given on the following business day with the same effect as if taken, made or given as required 

under this Fee Agreement, and no interest will accrue in the interim. 

Section 10.14. Agreement’s Construction. Each party and its counsel have reviewed this Fee 

Agreement and any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against a drafting 

party does not apply in the interpretation of this Fee Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this Fee 

Agreement. 

[Signature pages follow] 

 

 

  



18 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County, acting by and through the County Council, has caused this Fee 

Agreement to be executed in its name and on its behalf by the Chair of County Council and to be attested 

by the Clerk of the County Council; and the Company has caused this Fee Agreement to be executed by its 

duly authorized officer, all as of the day and year first above written. 

 

 

 JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

(SEAL) By: __       

  County Council Chair 

  Jasper County, South Carolina  

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: ___      

 Clerk to County Council   

 Jasper County, South Carolina 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature Page 1 to Fee in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement] 

 

  

  



19 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  
  

  

 

 

 GOPHER HILL HOLDINGS, LLC 

 

 

        

 By:         

 Its:         

 

 TERMINAL INVESTMENT CORP. 

 

 

        

 By:         

 Its:         

 

 TICO MANUFACTURING 

 

 

        

 By:         

 Its:         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature Page 2 to Fee in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement] 



Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.2  

 

EXHIBIT A 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

 
Legal Description 

 

 

10.62 acres of land, more or less, with a steel commercial building located thereon, more 

specifically identified as tax map number 048-00-01-029, having an address of North Cypress 

Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, as more particularly 

described on a plat recorded in Plat Book 36 at Page 127 in the office of the Register of Deeds for 

Jasper County, SC 

 

AND ALSO, 12.89 acres of land, more or less, without improvements more specifically identified 

as tax map number 048-00-01-012 having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the 

Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, being more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at a point shown on a plat recorded in Plat Book 36 at Page 127 in the Office of the 

Register of Deeds shown as USGS Marker Found, Haystack 1997, Elev. 83.2 (NAVD88) N 

254699.65 E 1995968.12, thence S 47º49’06”E for a distance of 191.98 feet, being the Point of 

Beginning (POB); thence N 74 º 57’.40”E for a distance of 265.79 feet to a point; thence N60 

º18’30” for a distance of 242.53 feet to a 5/8” Rebar, being the Northeastern corner of adjacent 

Tax Parcel 048-00-01-029 as shown on Plat Book 36 at Page 127; thence S30 º31”58”E for a 

distance of 634.81 feet to a 3/4 “ Rebar, being the Northeastern corner of adjacent Tax Parcel 048-

00-01-032 as shown on Plat Book 36 at Page 127 and as Parcel 3 on Plat Book 30 at Page 276; 

thence S30º31’58” for a distance of 290.40 feet to a rebar; thence S30º31’58” along the eastern 

boundary of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-033 to its intersection with a northern boundary line of Tax 

Parcel 048-00-01-009; thence eastward along the boundary line of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-009 to 

its intersection with the right of way boundary line of U.S. Highway 278; thence northward along 

the boundary line of US Highway 278 and the sewer lift station boundary lines as shown on those 

certain plats recorded in Plat Book 32 at Page 467 and Plat Book to the Point of Beginning. 

 

AND ALSO, 2.00 acres of land, more or less, without improvements more specifically identified 

as tax map number 048-00-01-032 having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the 

Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, as more particularly described as Parcel 3 on a plat 

recorded in Plat Book 30 at Page 276 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC. 

 

AND ALSO, 50.00 acres of land, more or less, with improvements more specifically identified as 

tax map number 048-00-01-006 having an address of 66 North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in 

the Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC as more particularly described as Parcel A-1 

Armor Chasie Site, on a plat recorded in Plat Book 22 at Page 442 in the office of the Register of 

Deeds for Jasper County, SC. 

 

All such properties being subject to easements, rights of way, and other matters of public record. 

 
 

 

 

 

  



 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.1  

 

EXHIBIT B (see Section 9.1) 

FORM OF JOINDER AGREEMENT 

Reference is hereby made to the Fee-in-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Agreement, effective _______m 

2021 (“Fee Agreement”), between Jasper County, South Carolina (“County”) and Gopher Hill Holdings, 

LLC, Terminal Investment Corp. and TICO Manufacturing (the “Sponsors”). 

 

1. Joinder to Fee Agreement. 

 

[   ], a [STATE] [corporation]/[limited liability company]/[limited partnership] 

authorized to conduct business in the State of South Carolina, hereby (a) joins as a party to, and agrees to 

be bound by and subject to all of the terms and conditions of, the Fee Agreement as if it were a Sponsor 

[except the following: __________________________]; (b) shall receive the benefits as provided under 

the Fee Agreement with respect to the Economic Development Property placed in service by the Sponsor 

Affiliate as if it were a Sponsor [except the following __________________________]; (c) acknowledges 

and agrees that (i) according to the Fee Agreement, the undersigned has been designated as a 

Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate by the Sponsor for purposes of the Project; and (ii) the undersigned qualifies or 

will qualify as a Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement and Section 12-44-30(18), Section 

12-44-30(20) and Section 12-44-130 of the Act.  

 

[As a Sponsor, __________ hereby further agrees to fully perform all of the obligations of the Sponsor 

set forth in the Fee Agreement.] 

 

2. Capitalized Terms. 

 

Each capitalized term used, but not defined, in this Joinder Agreement has the meaning of that term set 

forth in the Fee Agreement. 

 

3. Representations of the Sponsor Affiliate. 

 

The Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate represents and warrants to the County as follows: 

(a) The Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate is in good standing under the laws of the state of its organization, is 

duly authorized to transact business in the State (or will obtain such authority prior to commencing business 

in the State), has power to enter into this Joinder Agreement, and has duly authorized the execution and 

delivery of this Joinder Agreement. 

(b) The Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate’s execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement, and its 

compliance with the provisions of this Joinder Agreement, do not result in a default, not waived or cured, 

under any agreement or instrument to which the Sponsor/Sponsor Affiliate is now a party or by which it is 

bound. 

(c) The execution and delivery of this Joinder Agreement and the availability of the FILOT and other 

incentives provided by this Joinder Agreement has been instrumental in inducing the Sponsor/Sponsor 

Affiliate to join with the Company in the Project in the County. 

 

4. Governing Law. 

 

This Joinder Agreement is governed by and construed according to the laws, without regard to 

principles of choice of law, of the State of South Carolina. 

 

5. Notice.   



 
Error! Unknown document property name.Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Fee Agreement v.1  

Notices under Section 10.1 of the Fee Agreement shall be sent to: 

 

[                       ] 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Joinder Agreement to be effective as of 

the date set forth below.  

 

____________________   GOPHER HILL HOLDINGS, LLC  

Date       

 

      By:         

      Its:       

 

TERMINAL INVESTMENT CORP. 

 

             

             

      By:       

      Its:       

 

TICO MANUFACTURING 

 

             

             

      By:       

      Its:       

 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the County acknowledges it has consented to the addition of the above-

named entity as a Sponsor Affiliate under the Fee Agreement effective as of the date set forth above.  

 

             

      JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

             

             

      By:       

      Its:       

 

 



Error! Unknown document property name. 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

 

 

by and between 

 

 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

 

and 

 

GOPHER HILL HOLDINGS, LLC 

TERMINAL INVESTMENT CORPORATION 

TICO MANUFACTURING 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Effective as of: November 21, 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 



 

 

1 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT 

This INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT, effective as of [Date of Third Reading], 2023 

(“Agreement”), is by and among JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA, a body politic and corporate, 

and a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina (“County”) and GOPHER HILL HOLDINGS, 

LLC, TERMINAL INVESTMENT CORPORATION, a Georgia corporation and TICO 

MANUFACTURING (a division of Terminal Investment Corp.) (each a “Company” together with the 

County, “Parties,” and individually a “Party”). 

W I T N E S S E T H : 

WHEREAS, the County, acting by and through its County Council (“County Council”), is authorized 

and empowered under and pursuant to the provisions of Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina 

Constitution and the provisions of Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 

amended (collectively, “Act”), to (i) develop multicounty parks with counties having contiguous borders 

with the County; and (ii) include property in the multicounty park, which inclusion under the terms of the 

Act (A) makes such property exempt from ad valorem property taxes, and (B) changes the character of the 

annual receipts from such property to fees-in-lieu of ad valorem property taxes in an amount equal to the 

ad valorem taxes that would have been due and payable but for the location of the property in such 

multicounty park (“Fee Payments”); 

WHEREAS, the County is further authorized by Section 4-1-175 of the Act to grant credits against Fee 

Payments (“Infrastructure Credit”) to pay costs of designing, acquiring, constructing, improving or 

expanding (i) infrastructure serving a project or the County and (ii) improved and unimproved real estate 

and personal property used in the operation of a commercial enterprise or manufacturing facility 

(collectively, “Infrastructure”); 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority provided in the Act, the County will develop with Hampton 

County, South Carolina, a multi-county industrial business park (“Park”) pursuant to that certain agreement 

for the establishment of a multi-county industrial/business park (Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill Industrial 

Park), to be dated as of March 21, 2022, which governs the operation of the Park; 

WHEREAS, the Companies intends to expand its existing manufacturing facility within the County 

(“Project”), consisting of taxable investments in real and personal property of at least $4,000,000 (“Project 

Property”); 

 

WHEREAS, by ordinance No. O-2022-38 enacted by the County on March 21, 2023, the County 

authorized the creation of the Park to include the Land and other real and personal property relating to the 

Project (“Property”) in the Park; and 

WHEREAS, by ordinance No. O-2022-38 enacted by the County on March 21, 2023 (the “Ordinance”), 

the County further authorized the execution and delivery of this Agreement to provide Infrastructure Credits 

against the Companies’ Fee Payments with respect to the Project for the purpose of assisting in paying the 

costs of certain Infrastructure, subject to the terms and conditions below. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the respective representations and agreements hereinafter 

contained, the County and the Companies agree as follows:    



 

 

2 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

ARTICLE I 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Section 1.1. Representations by the County. The County represents to the Company as follows: 

(a) The County is a body politic and corporate and a political subdivision of the State of South 

Carolina; 

(b) The County is authorized and empowered by the provisions of the Act to enter into and 

carry out its obligations under this Agreement; 

(c) The County has duly authorized and approved the execution and delivery of this Agreement 

by adoption of the Ordinance in accordance with the procedural requirements of the Act and any other 

applicable state law;  

(d) The County is not in default of any of its obligations (contractual or otherwise) as a result 

of entering into and performing its obligations under this Agreement;  

(e) The County has approved the inclusion of the Property in the Park; and 

(f) Based on representations made by the Company to the County, the County has determined 

the Project and the Infrastructure will enhance the economic development of the County. Therefore, the 

County is entering into this Agreement for the purpose of promoting the economic development of the 

County. 

Section 1.2. Representations by the Company. The Company represents to the County as follows: 

(a) Each Company is in good standing under the laws of the State of  South Carolina, has 

power to conduct business in the State of South Carolina and enter into this Agreement, and by proper 

company action has authorized the officials signing this Agreement to execute and deliver it; 

(b) Each Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to achieve the Investment 

Commitment and Jobs Commitment, each as defined below, at the Project; and 

(c) Each Company’s execution and delivery of this Agreement, and its compliance with the 

provisions of this Agreement do not result in a default under any agreement or instrument to which the 

Company is now a party or by which it is bound. 

ARTICLE II 

INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS 

Section 2.1. Investment Commitment.  The Companies shall invest not less than $4,000,000 in 

taxable property at the Project (“Investment Commitment”) by the Certification Date, as defined below. 

Each Company shall certify to the County achievement of the Investment Commitment by no later than 

December 31, 2028 (“Certification Date”), by providing documentation to the County sufficient to reflect 

achievement of the Investment Commitment. If the Companies fail to achieve and certify the Investment 

Commitment by the Certification Date, the County may terminate this Agreement and, on termination, the 

Companies are no longer entitled to any further benefits under this Agreement. 

 

 



 

 

3 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

Section 2.2. Infrastructure Credits. 

(a) To assist in paying for costs of Infrastructure, the County shall provide an Infrastructure 

Credit against certain of the various Company’s Fee Payments due with respect to the Project. The term, 

amount and calculation of the Infrastructure Credit is described in Exhibit B.  

(b) For each property tax year in which each Company is entitled to an Infrastructure Credit 

(“Credit Term”), the County shall prepare and issue each Company’s annual bill with respect to the Project 

net of the Infrastructure Credit set forth in Section 2.2 (a) (“Net Fee Payment”). Following receipt of the 

bill, the Company shall timely remit the Net Fee Payment to the County in accordance with applicable law. 

(c) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS PROVIDED BY THIS 

AGREEMENT ARE LIMITED OBLIGATIONS OF THE COUNTY. THE INFRASTRUCTURE 

CREDITS ARE DERIVED SOLELY FROM AND TO THE EXTENT OF THE FEE PAYMENTS MADE 

BY THE COMPANY TO THE COUNTY PURSUANT TO THE ACT AND THE PARK AGREEMENT. 

THE INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS DO NOT AND SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A GENERAL 

OBLIGATION OF THE COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY 

CONSTITUTIONAL OR STATUTORY LIMITATION AND DO NOT AND SHALL NOT 

CONSTITUTE OR GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY OF THE COUNTY OR ANY 

MUNICIPALITY OR A CHARGE AGAINST THE GENERAL CREDIT OR TAXING POWER OF THE 

COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY. THE FULL FAITH, CREDIT, AND TAXING POWER OF THE 

COUNTY OR ANY MUNICIPALITY ARE NOT PLEDGED FOR THE PROVISION OF THE 

INFRASTRUCTURE CREDITS. 

Section 2.3. Clawback.  If the Companies fails to meet the Investment Commitment or Jobs 

Commitment by the Certification Date, then the Infrastructure Credit shall be immediately reduced 

prospectively by the Clawback Percentage (as calculated below) for the remainder of the Credit Term, if 

any, and each Company shall repay a portion of the Infrastructure Credits received.  

 

The portion of the Infrastructure Credit to be repaid (“Repayment Amount”) is based on the amount 

by which the Company failed to achieve the Investment Commitment or Jobs Commitment and is calculated 

as follows: 

 

Repayment Amount = Total Received x Clawback Percentage 

 

Clawback Percentage = 100% - Investment Achievement Percentage 

 

Investment Achievement Percentage = Actual Investment Achieved / Investment Commitment 

 

In calculating each achievement percentage, only the investment made or new jobs achieved up to 

the Investment Commitment and the Jobs Commitment will be counted.  

For example, and by way of example only, if the Company had received $154,000 in Infrastructure 

Credits, and had invested $2,000,000 by the Certification Date, the Repayment Amount would be calculated 

as follows: 

 

 Investment Achievement Percentage = $2,000,000/$4,000,000 = 50% 

 

 Clawback Percentage = 100% - 50% = 50% 

 

 Repayment Amount = $154,000 x 50% = $77,000 



 

 

4 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

 

Each Company shall pay the portion of the Infrastructure Credit to be repaid pursuant to this Section 

2.3 within 30 days of receipt of a written statement setting forth the Repayment Amount. If not timely paid, the 

Repayment Amount is subject to the minimum amount of interest that the law may permit with respect to 

delinquent ad valorem tax payments. The repayment obligation arising under this Section survives termination 

of the Agreement. 

 

Section 2.4. Filings. To assist the County in administering the Infrastructure Credits, each 

Company shall, on or before January 31 of each year during the Credit Term, commencing in January 31, 

2024, deliver to the County Administrator and County Attorney of the County information reasonably 

required by County to assist it in administering and monitoring the Credit with respect to the Company. 

Section 2.5. Cumulative Infrastructure Credit. The cumulative dollar amount expended by any 

Company on Infrastructure shall equal or exceed the cumulative dollar amount of all the Infrastructure 

Credits received by the Company.  

ARTICLE III 

DEFAULTS AND REMEDIES 

Section 3.1. Events of Default. The following are “Events of Default” under this Fee Agreement: 

(a) Failure by any Company to make a Net Fee Payment, which failure has not been cured within 

30 days following receipt of written notice from the County specifying the delinquency in payment and 

requesting that it be remedied; 

(b) A Cessation of Operations. For purposes of this Agreement, a “Cessation of Operations  means 

closure of the Project or the cessation of production and shipment of products to customers for a continuous 

period of twelve (12) months;  

(c) A representation or warranty made by any Company which is deemed materially incorrect when 

deemed made; 

(d) Failure by any Company to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 

under this Agreement (other than those described in Sections 2.1 and under (a) above), which failure has 

not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the County to the Company specifying such failure 

and requesting that it be remedied, unless the Company has instituted corrective action within the 30-day 

period and is diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is corrected, in which case the 30-day 

period is extended to include the period during which the Company is diligently pursuing corrective action; 

(e) A representation or warranty made by the County which is deemed materially incorrect when 

deemed made; or 

(f) Failure by the County to perform any of the terms, conditions, obligations, or covenants 

hereunder, which failure has not been cured within 30 days after written notice from the Company to the 

County specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied, unless the County has instituted 

corrective action within the 30-day period and is diligently pursuing corrective action until the default is 

corrected, in which case the 30-day period is extended to include the period during which the County is 

diligently pursuing corrective action. 

Section 3.2. Remedies on Default.  



 

 

5 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

(a) If an Event of Default by any Company has occurred and is continuing, then the County may 

take any one or more of the following remedial actions: 

(i) terminate the Agreement; or 

(ii) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to collect 

amounts due or otherwise remedy the Event of Default or recover its damages. 

(b) If an Event of Default by the County has occurred and is continuing, the Company may take 

one or more of the following actions: 

(i) bring an action for specific enforcement; 

(ii) terminate the Agreement; or 

(iii) in case of a materially incorrect representation or warranty, take such action as is 

appropriate, including legal action, to recover its damages, to the extent allowed by law. 

Section 3.3. Reimbursement of Legal Fees and Other Expenses. On the occurrence of an Event 

of Default, if a Party is required to employ attorneys or incur other reasonable expenses for the collection 

of payments due under this Agreement or for the enforcement of performance or observance of any 

obligation or agreement, the prevailing Party is entitled to seek reimbursement of the reasonable fees of 

such attorneys and such other reasonable expenses so incurred. 

Section 3.4. Remedies Not Exclusive. No remedy described in this Agreement is intended to be 

exclusive of any other remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy is cumulative and in addition 

to every other remedy given under this Agreement or existing at law or in equity or by statute. 

Section 3.5. Nonwaiver. A delay or omission by the Company or County to exercise any right or 

power accruing on an Event of Default does not waive such right or power and is not deemed to be a waiver 

or acquiescence of the Event of Default. Every power and remedy given to the Company or County by this 

Agreement may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient. 

ARTICLE IV 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 4.1. Examination of Records; Confidentiality. 

(a) The County and its authorized agents, at any reasonable time on prior notice, may enter 

and examine the Project and have access to and examine the Company’s books and records relating to the 

Project for the purposes of (i) identifying the Project; (ii) confirming achievement of the Investment 

Commitment; and (iii) permitting the County to carry out its duties and obligations in its sovereign capacity 

(such as, without limitation, for such routine health and safety purposes as would be applied to any other 

manufacturing or commercial facility in the County). 

(b) The County acknowledges that the Company may utilize confidential and proprietary 

processes and materials, services, equipment, trade secrets, and techniques (“Confidential Information”) 

and that disclosure of the Confidential Information could result in substantial economic harm to the 

Company. The Company may clearly label any Confidential Information delivered to the County pursuant 

to this Agreement as “Confidential Information.” Except as required by law, the County, or any employee, 

agent, or contractor of the County, shall not disclose or otherwise divulge any labeled Confidential 



 

 

6 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

Information to any other person, firm, governmental body or agency. The Company acknowledges that the 

County is subject to the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, and, as a result, must disclose certain 

documents and information on request, absent an exemption. If the County is required to disclose any 

Confidential Information to a third party, the County will use its best efforts to provide the Company with 

as much advance notice as is reasonably possible of such disclosure requirement prior to making such 

disclosure and to cooperate reasonably with any attempts by the Company to obtain judicial or other relief 

from such disclosure requirement. 

Section 4.2. Assignment. The Company may assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights and 

interest in this Agreement on prior written consent of the County, which may be given by resolution, and 

which consent will not be unreasonably withheld.  

Section 4.3. Provisions of Agreement for Sole Benefit of County and Company. Except as 

otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement expressed or implied confers 

on any person or entity other than the County and the Company any right, remedy, or claim under or by 

reason of this Agreement, this Agreement being intended to be for the sole and exclusive benefit of the 

County and the Company. 

Section 4.4. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is declared illegal, invalid, or 

unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions of this Agreement are unimpaired, and the Parties 

shall reform such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision to effectuate most closely the legal, valid, and 

enforceable intent of this Agreement.  

Section 4.5. Limitation of Liability.  

(a) The County is not liable to any Company for any costs, expenses, losses, damages, claims 

or actions in connection with this Agreement, except from amounts received by the County from the 

Company under this Agreement. 

(b) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the County contained 

in this Agreement are binding on members of the County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, 

servant or employee of the County only in his or her official capacity and not in his or her individual 

capacity, and no recourse for the payment of any moneys or performance of any of the covenants and 

agreements under this Agreement or for any claims based on this Agreement may be had against any 

member of County Council or any elected official, officer, agent, servant or employee of the County except 

solely in their official capacity. 

Section 4.6. Indemnification Covenant. 

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (d) below, each Companies shall indemnify and save the 

County, its employees, elected officials, officers and agents (each, an “Indemnified Party”) harmless against 

and from all liability or claims arising from the County’s execution of this Agreement, performance of the 

County’s obligations under this Agreement or the administration of its duties pursuant to this Agreement, 

or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement.  

(b) The County is entitled to use counsel of its choice and the Company shall reimburse the County 

for all of its costs, including attorneys’ fees, incurred in connection with the response to or defense against 

such liability or claims as described in paragraph (a) above. The County shall provide a statement of the 

costs incurred in the response or defense, and the Companies shall pay the County within 30 days of receipt 

of the statement. Any Company may request reasonable documentation evidencing the costs shown on the 



 

 

7 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

statement. However, the County is not required to provide any documentation which may be privileged or 

confidential to evidence the costs. 

(c) The County may request any Company to resist or defend against any claim on behalf of an 

Indemnified Party. On such request, the Company shall resist or defend against such claim on behalf of the 

Indemnified Party, at the Company’s expense. Any Company is entitled to use counsel of its choice, manage 

and control the defense of or response to such claim for the Indemnified Party; provided the Company is 

not entitled to settle any such claim without the consent of that Indemnified Party. 

(d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any Company is not required to indemnify any 

Indemnified Party against or reimburse the County for costs arising from any claim or liability 

(i) occasioned by the acts of that Indemnified Party, which are unrelated to the execution of this Agreement, 

performance of the County’s obligations under this Agreement, or the administration of its duties under this 

Agreement, or otherwise by virtue of the County having entered into this Agreement; or (ii) resulting from 

that Indemnified Party’s own negligence, bad faith, fraud, deceit, or willful misconduct. 

(e) An Indemnified Party may not avail itself of the indemnification or reimbursement of costs 

provided in this Section unless it provides the Company with prompt notice, reasonable under the 

circumstances, of the existence or threat of any claim or liability, including, without limitation, copies of 

any citations, orders, fines, charges, remediation requests, or other claims or threats of claims, in order to 

afford the Company notice, reasonable under the circumstances, within which to defend or otherwise 

respond to a claim. 

Section 4.7. Notices. All notices, certificates, requests, or other communications under this 

Agreement are sufficiently given and are deemed given, unless otherwise required by this Agreement, when 

(i) delivered and confirmed by United States first-class, registered mail, postage prepaid or (ii) sent by 

facsimile, and addressed as follows: 

  if to the County:  Jasper County, South Carolina 

      Attn: County Administrator 

      358 Third Avenue, Suite 303 

      Ridgeland, South Carolina 29936 

      Phone: 843.717.3690 

       

 

  with a copy to   Jasper County, South Carolina 

  does not constitute notice): Attn: County Attorney 

      358 Third Avenue, Suite 202 

      POB 420 

      Ridgeland, South Carolina 29936 

      Phone: 843.717.3688 

 

 

  if to the Company:  Terminal Investment Corporation  

      POB 73 

      Savannah, Georgia 31402 

      Email: rbooker@ticotractors.com 

       

 

 

 



 

 

8 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

       

  with a copy to   Adams and Reese, LLP 

      ATTN: Burnet R. Maybank III 

      1221 Main Street, Suite 1200 

      Columbia, SC 29201 

 

The County and any Company may, by notice given under this Section, designate any further or 

different addresses to which subsequent notices, certificates, requests or other communications shall be 

sent. 

Section 4.8. Administrative Fees. Any Company will reimburse, or cause reimbursement to, the 

County for the Administration Expenses in the amount of $2,000. The Company will reimburse the County 

for its Administration Expenses on receipt of a written request from the County or at the County’s direction, 

which request shall include a statement of the amount and nature of the Administration Expense. The 

Company shall pay the Administration Expenses as set forth in the written request no later than 60 days 

following receipt of the written request from the County. For purposes of this Section, “Administration 

Expenses” means the reasonable expenses incurred by the County in the negotiation, approval and 

implementation of the terms and provisions of this Agreement, including reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

Administration Expenses do not include any costs, expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by the 

County (i) in defending challenges to the Fee Payments or Infrastructure Credits brought by third parties or 

the Company or its affiliates and related entities, or (ii) in connection with matters arising at the request of 

the Company outside of the immediate scope of this Agreement, including amendments to the terms of this 

Agreement. The payment by the Company of the County’s Administration Expenses shall not be construed 

as prohibiting the County from engaging, at its discretion, the counsel of the County’s choice. 

Section 4.9. Entire Agreement. This Agreement expresses the entire understanding and all 

agreements of the Parties with each other, and neither Party is bound by any agreement or any representation 

to the other Party which is not expressly set forth in this Agreement or in certificates delivered in connection 

with the execution and delivery of this Agreement. 

Section 4.10 Agreement to Sign Other Documents. From time to time, and at the expense of the 

Company, to the extent any expense is incurred, the County agrees to execute and deliver to the Company 

such additional instruments as the Company may reasonably request and as are authorized by law and 

reasonably within the purposes and scope of the Act and this Agreement to effectuate the purposes of this 

Agreement. 

Section 4.11. Agreement’s Construction. Each Party and its counsel have reviewed this Agreement 

and any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against a drafting party does 

not apply in the interpretation of this Agreement or any amendments or exhibits to this Agreement. 

Section 4.12. Applicable Law. South Carolina law, exclusive of its conflicts of law provisions that 

would refer the governance of this Agreement to the laws of another jurisdiction, governs this Agreement 

and all documents executed in connection with this Agreement. 

Section 4.13. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and 

all of the counterparts together constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 4.14. Amendments. This Agreement may be amended only by written agreement of the 

Parties. 



 

 

9 
Error! Unknown document property name. 

Section 4.15. Waiver. Either Party may waive compliance by the other Party with any term or 

condition of this Agreement but the waiver is valid only if it is in a writing signed by the waiving Party. 

Section 4.16. Termination. Unless first terminated under any other provision of this Agreement, 

this Agreement terminates on the expiration of the Credit Term and payment by the Company of any 

outstanding Net Fee Payment due on the Project pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. 

Section 4.17. Business Day. If any action, payment, or notice is, by the terms of this Agreement, 

required to be taken, made, or given on any Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday in the jurisdiction in which 

the Party obligated to act is situated, such action, payment, or notice may be taken, made, or given on the 

following business day with the same effect as if taken, made or given as required under this Agreement, 

and no interest will accrue in the interim. 

 

[TWO SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

 



 

  

Error! Unknown document property name. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement to be 

effective as of the day and the year first above written. 

 

 

 

JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

By: __________________________________________ 

       County Council Chair 

       Jasper County, South Carolina 

[SEAL] 

Attest: 

By: ________________________________________ 

       Clerk to County Council 

       Jasper County, South Carolina 

 

 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 1 TO INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT] 



 

  

Error! Unknown document property name. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement to be effective as of 

the day and the year first above written. 

TERMINAL INVESTMENT CORPORATION 

By:       

Name:        

Its:        

GOPHER HILL HOLDINGS, LLC 

By:        

Its:       

TICO MANUFACTURING 

By:        

Its:       

 

 

[SIGNATURE PAGE 2 TO INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT AGREEMENT] 



 

C-1 

Error! Unknown document property name. 

EXHIBIT A 

 

LAND DESCRIPTION 

Legal Description 

(Preliminary) 

 

10.62 acres of land, more or less, with a steel commercial building located thereon, more 

specifically identified as tax map number 048-00-01-029, having an address of North Cypress 

Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, as more particularly 

described on a plat recorded in Plat Book 36 at Page 127 in the office of the Register of Deeds for 

Jasper County, SC 

 

AND ALSO, 12.89 acres of land, more or less, without improvements more specifically identified 

as tax map number 048-00-01-012 having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the 

Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, being more particularly described as follows: 

Beginning at a point shown on a plat recorded in Plat Book 36 at Page 127 in the Office of the 

Register of Deeds shown as USGS Marker Found, Haystack 1997, Elev. 83.2 (NAVD88) N 

254699.65 E 1995968.12, thence S 47º49’06”E for a distance of 191.98 feet, being the Point of 

Beginning (POB); thence N 74 º 57’.40”E for a distance of 265.79 feet to a point; thence N60 

º18’30” for a distance of 242.53 feet to a 5/8” Rebar, being the Northeastern corner of adjacent 

Tax Parcel 048-00-01-029 as shown on Plat Book 36 at Page 127; thence S30 º31”58”E for a 

distance of 634.81 feet to a 3/4 ” Rebar, being the Northeastern corner of adjacent Tax Parcel 048-

00-01-032 as shown on Plat Book 36 at Page 127 and as Parcel 3 on Plat Book 30 at Page 276; 

thence S30º31’58” for a distance of 290.40 feet to a rebar; thence S30º31’58” along the eastern 

boundary of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-033 to its intersection with a northern boundary line of Tax 

Parcel 048-00-01-009; thence eastward along the boundary line of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-009 to 

its intersection with the right of way boundary line of U.S. Highway 278; thence northward along 

the boundary line of US Highway 278 and the sewer lift station boundary lines as shown on those 

certain plats recorded in Plat Book 32 at Page 467 and Plat Book to the Point of Beginning. 

 

AND ALSO, 2.00 acres of land, more or less, without improvements more specifically identified 

as tax map number 048-00-01-032 having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the 

Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, as more particularly described as Parcel 3 on a plat 

recorded in Plat Book 30 at Page 276 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC. 

 

AND ALSO, 50.00 acres of land, more or less, with improvements more specifically identified as 

tax map number 048-00-01-006 having an address of 66 North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in 

the Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC as more particularly described as Parcel A-1 

Armor Chasie Site, on a plat recorded in Plat Book 22 at Page 442 in the office of the Register of 

Deeds for Jasper County, SC. 

 

All such properties being subject to easements, rights of way, and other matters of public record. 

 

 

  



 

  

Error! Unknown document property name. 

EXHIBIT B (See Section 2.2) 

 
DESCRIPTION OF INFRASTRUCTURE CREDIT 

 

A credit in the amount of 20% of the Fee Payments over 20 years commencing with the first Fee 

Payment due for Project Property placed in service under this Agreement. 



 

1 
 
PPAB 8390228v2 

 

 

 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) 

     ) AGREEMENT FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT 

COUNTY OF JASPER   ) OF MULTI-COUNTY INDUSTRIAL/ 

) BUSINESS PARK (CYPRESS RIDGE GOPHER 

) HILL INDUSTRIAL PARK) 

COUNTY OF HAMPTON  )  

THIS AGREEMENT FOR THE ESTABLISHMENT OF MULTI-COUNTY 

INDUSTRIAL/BUSINESS PARK (CYPRESS RIDGE GOPHER HILL INDUSTRIAL PARK) for the 

establishment of a multi-county industrial/business park to be located within Jasper County and Hampton 

County is made and entered into as of _____________, 2022, by and between Jasper County, South Carolina 

("Jasper County") and Hampton County, South Carolina ("Hampton County"). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Jasper County and Hampton County are contiguous counties which, pursuant to 

Ordinance No. ________________, enacted by Jasper County Council on _____________ 2024, and 

Ordinance No. ________________ enacted by Hampton County Council on _____________, 2024, have 

each determined that, in order to promote economic development and thus encourage investment and 

provide additional employment opportunities within both of said counties, there should be established in 

Jasper County a multi-county industrial/business park (the "Park"), to be located upon property more 

particularly described in Exhibit A (Jasper); and 

WHEREAS, as a consequence of the establishment of the Park, property comprising the Park and 

all property having a situs therein is exempt from ad valorem taxation pursuant to Article VIII, Section 

13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution, but the owners or lessees of such property shall pay annual fees 

in an amount equivalent to the property taxes or other in-lieu-of payments that would have been due and 

payable except for such exemption. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agreement, representations and benefits 

contained in this Agreement and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 

which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Binding Agreement. This Agreement serves as a written instrument setting forth the entire 

agreement between the parties and shall be binding on Jasper County and Hampton County, their successors 

and assigns. 

2. Authorization. Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution provides that 

counties may jointly develop an industrial or business park with other counties within the geographical 

boundaries of one or more of the member counties, provided that certain conditions specified therein are met 

and further provided that the General Assembly of the State of South Carolina provides by law a manner in 

which the value of property in such park will be considered for purposes of bonded indebtedness of political 

subdivisions and school districts and for purposes of computing the index of taxpaying ability pursuant to 

any provision of law which measures the relative fiscal capacity of a school district to support its schools 

based on the assessed valuation of taxable property in the district as compared to the assessed valuation of 

taxable property in all school districts in South Carolina. The Code of Laws of South Carolina, 1976, as 

amended (the "Code") and particularly, Section 4-1-170 thereof, satisfies the conditions imposed by Article 

VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina Constitution and provides the statutory vehicle whereby a multi-

county industrial or business park may be created. 



 

2 
 
PPAB 8390228v2 

3. Location of the Park. 

(A) The Park consists of property that is located in Jasper County and which now or will be 

owned by project sponsors for the purpose of establishing industrial, distribution and/or commercial 

facilities, the property being more particularly described in Exhibit A hereto. It is specifically recognized 

that the Park may from time to time consist of non-contiguous properties within Jasper County. The 

boundaries of the Park may be enlarged or diminished from time to time as authorized by ordinance of the 

county council of Jasper County and resolution of the county council of Hampton County.  If any property 

proposed for inclusion in the Park is located, at the time such inclusion is proposed, within the boundaries of 

a municipality, then the municipality must give its consent prior to the inclusion of the property in the Park. 

(B) In the event of any enlargement or diminution of the boundaries of the Park, this 

Agreement shall be deemed amended and there shall be attached hereto a revised Exhibit A which shall 

contain a legal description of the boundaries of the Park as enlarged or diminished, together with a copy of 

the ordinance of Jasper County Council and resolution of Hampton County Council pursuant to which such 

enlargement or diminution was authorized. 

(C) Prior to the enactment by Jasper County Council of its ordinance authorizing the diminution of 

the boundaries of the Park, a public hearing shall first be held by Jasper County Council. Notice of such public 

hearing shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in Jasper County, at least once and not less than 

fifteen (15) days prior to such hearing. Notice of such public hearing shall also be given by certified mail that is 

deposited with the U.S. Postal Service at least fifteen (15) days prior to such public hearing upon the owner and, 

if applicable, the lessee of any property which would be excluded from the Park by virtue of the diminution. 

4. Fee in Lieu of Taxes. Pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the South Carolina 

Constitution, all property located in the Park is exempt from all ad valorem taxation. The owners or lessees of 

any property situated in the Park shall pay in accordance with this Agreement an amount (referred to as fees in 

lieu of ad valorem taxes) equivalent to the ad valorem taxes or other in-lieu-of payments that would have been 

due and payable but for the location of such property within the Park. 

5. Allocation of Expenses. Jasper County and Hampton County shall bear expenses incurred in 

connection with the Park, including, but not limited to, those incurred in the administration, development, 

operation, maintenance and promotion of the Park, in the following proportions: 

 

   A. Jasper County – 100% 

   B. Hampton County – 0% 

6. Allocation of Revenues. Jasper County and Hampton County shall receive an allocation of all 

revenues generated by the Park through payment of fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes in the following 

proportions: 

 

   A. Jasper County – 99% 

   B. Hampton County – 1% 

Any payment from Jasper County to Hampton County of Hampton County's allocable share of Park 

revenues: (I) shall be made and accompanied by a statement showing the manner in which total payment 

and each County's share were calculated. If any Park revenues are received by Jasper County through 

payment by any owner, or any lessee/tenant, or any other taxpayer is made under protest, or otherwise as 

part of a dispute, then Jasper County is not obligated to pay Hampton County more than Hampton County's 

share of the undisputed portion of the Park revenues until thirty (30) days after the final resolution of the 

protest or dispute. 

7. Revenue Allocation within Each County. Park revenues generated shall be distributed to and 

within the County as follows: 



 

3 
 
PPAB 8390228v2 

(A) Revenues generated by the Park through the payment of fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes shall 

be distributed to Jasper County and to Hampton County, as the case may be, according to the proportions 

established by this Agreement. With respect to revenues allocable to Jasper County by way of fees in lieu of ad 

valorem taxes generated from properties within the Park, such revenue shall be distributed in accordance with 

the attached Exhibit B.: 

(B) Revenues allocable to Hampton County by way of fees in lieu of ad valorem taxes generated 

from properties located in the Jasper County portion of the Park shall be distributed solely to Hampton County. 

 

8. Fees in Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes Pursuant to Title 4 or Title 12 of the Code. It is hereby 

agreed that the entry by Jasper County into any one or more fee in lieu of ad valorem tax agreements pursuant 

to Title 4 or Title 12 of the Code or any successor or comparable statutes ("Negotiated Fee in Lieu of Tax 

Agreements"), with respect to property located within the Park and the terms of such agreements shall be at 

the sole discretion of Jasper County. 

 

9. Consent by the County and Other Municipalities.  Intentionally deleted. 

10. Assessed Valuation. For the purpose of calculating the bonded indebtedness limitation and 

for the purpose of computing the index of taxpaying ability pursuant to Section 59-20-20(3) of the Code, 

allocation of the assessed value of property within the Park to Jasper County and Hampton County and to 

each of the taxing entities within the participating counties shall be in accordance with the allocation of 

revenue received and retained by each of the counties and by each of the taxing entities within the 

participating counties, pursuant to Sections 6 and 7 herein. 

11. Governing Laws and Regulations. Any applicable ordinances and regulations of Jasper 

County including those concerning zoning, health and safety, and building code requirements shall apply to the 

Park properties located in the Jasper County portion of the Park unless any such property is within the boundaries 

of a municipality in which case, the municipality's applicable ordinances and regulations shall apply. 

11. South Carolina Law Controlling. This Agreement has been entered into in the State of South 

Carolina and shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with South Carolina law. 

12. Severability. In the event and to the extent (and only to the extent) that any provision or 

any part of a provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent 

jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render unenforceable the remainder of that provision or any 

other provision of this Agreement. 

13. Counterpart Execution. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts. 

14. Additional Parties. This Agreement may be amended from time to time to add additional 

counties located in South Carolina, subject to Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the Constitution of South Carolina 

and Title 4, Chapter 1 of the Code, by ordinance of the county council of Jasper County, and by resolution of 

the county council of Hampton County; provided, however, that to the extent permitted by law, additional 

counties may be added as parties hereto with only the enactment of an ordinance of the county council of Jasper 

County only in the event that such additional county's allocation of Park Revenues hereunder shall be allocated 

solely out of Jasper County's residual net share of the Park Revenues provided for its use and distribution 

pursuant to Section 7 hereof. 

15. Term; Termination. Except as specifically provided in this Section 15, Jasper County and 

Hampton County agree that this Agreement may not be terminated in its entirety by any party and shall 

remain in effect for a period equal to the longer of (i) twenty-one (21) years commencing with the effective 

date of this Agreement or (ii) a period of time of sufficient length to facilitate any special source revenue 

credits due with respect to Park property.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, this 



 

4 
 
PPAB 8390228v2 

Agreement may not be terminated to the extent that Jasper County has outstanding contractual commitments 

to any owner or in the event the County is the owner pursuant to a negotiated fee-in-lieu-of-tax agreement 

under Title 4, Chapter 29 or Chapter 12 of the Code, lessee/tenant, or other taxpayer of or with respect to 

Park property requiring designation of such property as part of a multi-county industrial/business park 

pursuant to Article VIII, Section 13(D) of the Constitution of South Carolina and/or Title 4, Chapter 1 of the 

Code (the "Act"), unless Jasper County shall first (i) obtain the written the consent of such owner, 

lessee/tenant, or other taxpayer or (ii) designate such parcel as part of another multi-county 

industrial/business park pursuant to the Act effective immediately upon termination of this Agreement. 

Additionally, in the event that Jasper County complies with the preceding sentence, Jasper County may 

unilaterally terminate this Agreement upon providing thirty (30) days' notice to Hampton County and any 

owner or in the event the County is the owner pursuant to a negotiated fee-in-lieu-of-tax agreement under 

Title 4, Chapter 29 or Chapter 12 of the Code, lessee/tenant, or other taxpayer of or with respect to Park 

property. 

16. Law Enforcement Jurisdiction. Jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise all authority and 

power within the boundaries of the Park properties is vested with the Sheriff's Office of Jasper County, for 

matters within their jurisdiction. If any of the Park properties are within the boundaries of a municipality, then 

jurisdiction to make arrests and exercise law enforcement jurisdiction is also vested with the law enforcement 

officials of the municipality for matters within their jurisdiction. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement to be effective as of the day and the 

year first above written. 

 

       JASPER COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

       By: _____________________________ 

        Chairman, County Council 

        Jasper County, South Carolina 

 

[SEAL] 

 

Attest: 

 

By: _______________________ 

 County Council Clerk 

 Jasper County, South Carolina 

 

 

       HAMPTON COUNTY, SOUTH CAROLINA 

 

       By: __________________________________ 

        Chairman, County Council 

        Hampton County, South Carolina 

 

[SEAL] 

 

Attest: 

 

By: _______________________ 

 County Council Clerk 

 Hampton County, South Carolina  



 

5 
 
PPAB 8390228v2 

Exhibit A (Jasper) 

PARK PROPERTY 

 

Legal Description 

(Preliminary) 

 

10.62 acres of land, more or less, with a steel commercial building located thereon, more specifically 

identified as tax map number 048-00-01-029, having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in 

the Cypress Ridge Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, as more particularly described on a plat recorded in Plat 

Book 36 at Page 127 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC 

 

AND ALSO, 12.89 acres of land, more or less, without improvements more specifically identified as tax 

map number 048-00-01-012 having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress Ridge 

Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, being more particularly described as follows: Beginning at a point shown 

on a plat recorded in Plat Book 36 at Page 127 in the Office of the Register of Deeds shown as USGS Marker 

Found, Haystack 1997, Elev. 83.2 (NAVD88) N 254699.65 E 1995968.12, thence S 47º49’06”E for a 

distance of 191.98 feet, being the Point of Beginning (POB); thence N 74 º 57’.40”E for a distance of 265.79 

feet to a point; thence N60 º18’30” for a distance of 242.53 feet to a 5/8” Rebar, being the Northeastern 

corner of adjacent Tax Parcel 048-00-01-029 as shown on Plat Book 36 at Page 127; thence S30 º31”58”E 

for a distance of 634.81 feet to a 3/4 “ Rebar, being the Northeastern corner of adjacent Tax Parcel 048-00-

01-032 as shown on Plat Book 36 at Page 127 and as Parcel 3 on Plat Book 30 at Page 276; thence 

S30º31’58” for a distance of 290.40 feet to a rebar; thence S30º31’58” along the eastern boundary of Tax 

Parcel 048-00-01-033 to its intersection with a northern boundary line of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-009; thence 

eastward along the boundary line of Tax Parcel 048-00-01-009 to its intersection with the right of way 

boundary line of U.S. Highway 278; thence northward along the boundary line of US Highway 278 and the 

sewer lift station boundary lines as shown on those certain plats recorded in Plat Book 32 at Page 467 and 

Plat Book to the Point of Beginning. 

 

AND ALSO, 2.00 acres of land, more or less, without improvements more specifically identified as tax map 

number 048-00-01-032 having an address of North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress Ridge 

Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC, as more particularly described as Parcel 3 on a plat recorded in Plat Book 

30 at Page 276 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC. 

 

AND ALSO, 50.00 acres of land, more or less, with improvements more specifically identified as tax map 

number 048-00-01-006 having an address of 66 North Cypress Ridge Drive, located in the Cypress Ridge 

Industrial Park, Ridgeland, SC as more particularly described as Parcel A-1 Armor Chasie Site, on a plat 

recorded in Plat Book 22 at Page 442 in the office of the Register of Deeds for Jasper County, SC. 

 

All such properties being subject to easements, rights of way, and other matters of public record. 

 

 

 

 
 

  



 

6 
 
PPAB 8390228v2 

Exhibit B Revenue Distribution  

For fee in lieu of tax revenues Jasper County (“County”) receives as the host county in a joint county 

industrial and business park there shall first be deducted any special source revenue credits.  

After making the deduction of special source revenue credits, the County shall distribute 1% to any 

companion County. 

The amount of revenues the County receives after making the deduction of special source revenue credits 

and the distribution of 1% to any companion county (“Retained Revenues”) shall be distributed as follows: 

FIRST:  For reimbursement of the County for any expenditures made to attract to and locate any 

particular property in the joint county industrial and business park including expenses 

incurred with the creation of the joint county industrial and business park and ongoing 

expenses related to the joint county industrial and business park;  

SECOND:  10% of the Retained Revenues shall be distributed to the County’s Commercial 

Development Fund; 

THIRD: To the Taxing Entities, where “Taxing Entities” are those entities within the County which, 

as of the date of the agreement establishing the joint county industrial and business park, 

have taxing jurisdiction over the property to be located in such joint county industrial and 

business park, and no others, in the same ratio as each Taxing Entity’s millage bears to the 

aggregate millage of all Taxing Entities in any given year. 

For Example: 

 

Assuming a special source revenue credit of 15%, fee in lieu of tax revenues of $1000 and expenditures by 

the County of $100, the revenues shall be distributed as follows: 

 

First, $150 is deducted leaving $850. 

 

Next, 1% of the $850 is distributed to the companion county. 1% of $850 is $8.50 leaving $841.50 in 

Retained Revenues. 

 

Next, 10% of the Retained Revenues is distributed to the County’s Commercial Development Fund. 10% 

of $841.50 is $84.15 leaving $757.35 

 

Next, $100 is distributed to the County to reimburse the County for expenditures leaving $657.35. 

 

Finally, $657.35 is distributed to the Taxing Entities, as defined above, pro rata according to millage. 

 

 





951 Carolina Drive                                                                                         Page 1 of 2 

Jasper County  

Planning and Building Services 
 

358 Third Avenue - Post Office Box 1659 

Ridgeland, South Carolina 29936 

Phone (843) 717-3650   Fax (843) 726-7707 

 

        

Lisa Wagner, CFM 
Director of Planning and Building Services 

lwagner@jaspercountysc.gov 

 

 

Jasper County Council 

Staff Report 

Meeting Date: January 16, 2023 

Project: Zoning Map Amendment – Industrial Development 

Applicant: Staff Initiated 

Tax Map Number: 067-00-01-003 

Submitted For: 1st Reading   

Recommendation: Planning Commission Recommends Approval of Industrial 

Development 

 

Description: This agenda item is a staff-initiated request for a Zoning Map Amendment to have a 

property designated as Industrial Development. The subject property is located at 951 Carolina 

Drive. The property consists of 172 acres and is currently zoned Rural Preservation (RP). The 

property is owned by Beaufort Jasper Water Sewer Authority (BJWSA) and is known as their 

Cherry Point Reclamation Facility where sewer is collected and treated. In accordance with Article 

6 of the Zoning Ordinance, collection of sewage is allowed in the Rural Preservation (RP) Zoning 

District; however, treatment of sewage is not allowed in RP. The facility was originally 

constructed around 1997 – 1998, and therefore, is considered a legal non-conforming use.  

 

Background: BJWSA submitted a major site plan application to expand the Cherry Point 

Reclamation Facility in order to meet the growth demands and the projected development forecast 

within their service area. During the site plan review, staff realized the property use was a legal 

non-conforming use. In accordance with Article 9 of the Jasper County Zoning Ordinance, legal 

nonconformities are uses, structures, lots, or developed site improvements that do not conform to 

one or more provisions or requirements of the Zoning Ordinance but were lawfully established 

prior to the effective date of the current Zoning Ordinance or amendments thereto, or those 

approved by the Planning Commission through Article 9:3.7(2). While BJWSA could provide a 

business plan and ask the Planning Commission to approve their expansion, the use would still be 

non-conforming, and staff believes it is in the best interest of BJWSA and Jasper County to have 

the property re-zoned to Industrial Development bringing the property use in compliance with the 

County Zoning Ordinance. This property will never be developed for any other purpose than a 

sewage collection and treatment facility with the exception of accessory uses that support the 

facility. Furthermore, the facility has been operating as an industrial use for 25 years.  

mailto:lwagner@jaspercountysc.gov


951 Carolina Drive                                                                                         Page 2 of 2 

Analysis: The Zoning Map Amendment application and request is reviewed by considering the 

following factors: 

 

• Comprehensive Plan: According to the 2018 Jasper County Comprehensive Plan, the 

Future Land Use Map identifies this area as an “Urban Transition” area. These areas are 

pockets of unincorporated Jasper County that are partially or entirely surrounded by either 

the City of Hardeeville or the Town of Ridgeland. In many instances, these areas were 

already developed as the municipalities expanded their municipal boundaries through 

annexation. For areas that experience new development or redevelopment within the Urban 

Transition zones, consideration should be given to working with the adjacent municipality 

for annexation.    

 

• Adjacent Zoning: The adjacent parcels are zoned Industrial Development, General 

Commercial, Rural Preservation, and the municipal limits of Hardeeville.      

 

• Adjacent Land Use: Adjacent land uses are a mix of both industrial and commercial uses. To 

the north is a Planned Development District through the City of Hardeeville, which includes 

a new residential subdivision. To the east is a Commercial Subdivision known as the Cherry 

Point Business Park, which contains a variety of general commercial uses. To the south are 

two concrete plants, a waste management facility, and undeveloped forested property. To the 

west is undeveloped forested property.   

 

• Traffic and Access: The subject property is accessed by Carolina Drive and Jasper Station 

Road. Carolina Drive is a local road, maintained by Jasper County. Jasper Station Road is a 

local road maintained by SCDOT.  

    

Planning Commission Recommendation: From a land use perspective, the Planning Commission 

recommends approval of Industrial Development.  

 

Attachments: 

 

1. Ordinance 

2. Aerial map of property and surrounding area 

3. Aerial map with zoning layer 

4. Google Earth Map of the site and surrounding area 



STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA 
COUNTY OF JASPER 

 
ORDINANCE: O-2024 -____ 

 

AN ORDINANCE 
  
 

To amend the Official Zoning Map of Jasper County so as to transfer a 

property located at 951 Carolina Drive, bearing Jasper County Tax Map 

Number 067-00-01-003 from the Rural Preservation District to the 

Industrial Development District on the Jasper County Official Zoning 

Map. 

 
 

WHEREAS, the Jasper County staff has requested the parcel bearing Jasper County 

Tax Map Number 067-00-01-003 consisting of approximately 172 acres, located at 

951 Carolina Drive, be re-zoned from the Rural Preservation District to the Industrial 

Development District on the Official Zoning Map of Jasper County and that request 

has been submitted to the Jasper County Planning Commission and County Council; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Jasper County Planning Commission has concurred with the 

recommendations of the staff report as reflected in this Ordinance and recommends 

approval by Council; and  

 

WHEREAS, this matter is now before the Jasper County Council for determination; 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED, by the Jasper County Council in council 

duly convened and by the authority of the same: 

1. Jasper County Council finds that in accordance with the staff report and the 

recommendation of the Planning Commission, the proposed zoning is 

consistent with the continued pattern of growth in the vicinity and is in 

harmony with the Jasper County Comprehensive Plan. Good cause having 



been shown, approximately 172 acres bearing Jasper County Tax Map 

Number 067-00-01-003, located at 951 Carolina Park Drive on the Jasper 

County Official Zoning Map in the Rural Preservation District shall be 

transferred to the Industrial Development District. 

 

2. This ordinance shall take effect upon approval by Council. 

 

 

       _______________________ 
      L. Martin Sauls IV 

Chairman   
 

 
       ATTEST: 
 
       _____________________ 

Wanda Simmons                                                                      
Clerk to Council 

 
 

ORDINANCE: #O-2024-__ 
 
First Reading: ____________ 
Second Reading:     
Public Hearing:     
Adopted:        
 
 

_____________________________________________ 
  

Considered by the Jasper County Planning Commission at it’s meeting on 
 

December 12, 2023 and recommended for approval. 

_____________________________________________ 
 
 
 

Reviewed for form and draftsmanship by the Jasper County Attorney.  
 
 
         
__________________________      _______________ 
David Tedder         Date  







12/6/23, 6:52 AM 32°20'14.6"N 80°56'43.6"W - Google Maps

https://www.google.com/maps/place/32°20'14.6"N+80°56'43.6"W/@32.338562,-80.9441078,1488m/data=!3m1!1e3!4m4!3m3!8m2!3d32.3373745!4d-… 1/2

Imagery ©2023 Airbus, Maxar Technologies, U.S. Geological Survey, USDA/FPAC/GEO, Map data ©2023 Google 500 ft 

32°20'14.6"N 80°56'43.6"W
32.337374, -80.945438

Directions Save Nearby Send to
phone

Share

�    

176 Carolina Oaks Ave, Okatie, SC 29909

83P3+WRV Hardeeville, South Carolina

32°20'14.6"N 80°56'43.6"W

Google Map - Cherry Point Reclamation Facility



12/6/23, 6:52 AM 32°20'14.6"N 80°56'43.6"W - Google Maps

https://www.google.com/maps/place/32°20'14.6"N+80°56'43.6"W/@32.338562,-80.9441078,1488m/data=!3m1!1e3!4m4!3m3!8m2!3d32.3373745!4d-… 2/2



Citizen Comments























































 

 

DUE TO THE COVID-19 CONSIDERATIONS, ALL IN-PERSON COUNCIL MEETINGS  
MAY BE REPLACED WITH EITHER ELECTRONIC OR HYBRID ELECTRONIC/PHYSICAL 
MEETINGS 
 

Watch Live via YouTube at: 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA 
 

PROPOSED  

2024 County Council Meeting Schedule 
 

THE JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL MEETS ON THE FIRST MONDAY OF EACH MONTH 

AND THE THIRD MONDAY OF EACH MONTH FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION AT 5:30PM AND AT 

6:30PM FOR THE REGULAR COUNTY COUNCIL MEETING SESSION. IF THE FIRST OR THIRD MONDAY 

FALLS ON A HOLIDAY, THE COUNCIL WILL MEET ON TUESDAY OF THAT WEEK.  
 

Regular Session Council Meeting Date and Time Schedule  
• JANUARY 16, 2024 – 6:30PM (Tuesday) 
• FEBRUARY 5, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• FEBRUARY 20, 2024 – 6:30PM (Tuesday) 
• MARCH 4, 2024 – 6:30PM  
• MARCH 18, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• APRIL 1, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• APRIL 15, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• MAY 6, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• MAY 20, 2024 – 6:30PM  
• JUNE 3, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• JULY 15, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• AUGUST 19, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• SEPTEMBER 3, 2024 – 6:30PM (Tuesday) 
• SEPTEMBER 16, 2024 – 6:30PM  
• OCTOBER 7, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• OCTOBER 21, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• NOVEMBER  4, 2024 – 6:30PM  
• NOVEMBER 18, 2024 – 6:30PM 
• DECEMBER 2, 2024 – 6:30PM 

 
DATES AND TIMES ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE 
SPECIAL MEETINGS CAN BE CALLED WITH 24 HOURS PUBLIC NOTICE 
FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION CONTACT:  843-717-3696 
EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER – SPECIAL ACCOMODATIONS AVAILABLE UPON REQUEST TO INDIVIDUALS WITH 
DISABILITIES    

https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCBmloqX05cKAsHm_ggXCJlA


1 
 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) 

TERMINAL SOUTH 

REDEVELOPMENT  
 

  

December 12, 2023 

  



2 
 

 

I. PURPOSES  

The purposes of the Terminal South Redevelopment are to: 

▪ Provide for the efficient development/redevelopment of airport property; 

▪ Solicit proposal(s) demonstrating highest & best use of limited acreage available 

for development/redevelopment; 

▪ Extend priority to proposals providing aeronautical services to the flying public;  

▪ Insure design and construction of consistent, high-quality infrastructure;  

▪ Protect and enhance airport investments. 

II. SCOPE 

Jasper County, South Carolina d/b/a SkyBlue Aviation is seeking proposals from  

qualified from qualified persons or entities to provide hangars and associated 

structures to conduct select aeronautical services for the redevelopment of the 

Ridgeland – Claude Dean Airport, Terminal South. The Airport will enter into 

appropriate ground lease(s) and operating agreement(s) with the successful 

Proposer(s). 

III. AIRPORT 

The Ridgeland – Claude Dean Airport (Airport) is located in Ridgeland, South Carolina 

and owned by the Jasper County Council.  The County Council provides policy 

direction for the Airport through the County Administrator.  Operational control of the 

Airport is vested in the Jasper County Administrator and further delegated to the 

Development Services Director.  The Airport Manager and staff conduct the day-to-day 

business operations and maintenance of the Airport.    

The Airport is classified by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) as a non-primary 

airport serving primarily the General Aviation sector.  Jasper County provides Fixed 

Based Operator (FBO) services d/b/a SkyBlue Aviation and is responsible for 

providing aviation fuel and other aeronautical services at its sole discretion.  The 

Airport has approximately 70 based aircraft; including 3 turbine aircraft.  There are 42 

aircraft storage hangars located on the field.   

The Airport is a federally obligated airport and is a member of the National Plan of 

Integrated Airport Systems (NPIAS).  A new 4,200-foot Runway 18/36 with parallel 

Taxiway Alpha was officially commissioned February 2020.  The original Runway 03-

21 was converted to  Taxiway Bravo.  A Medium Intensity Runway Lighting System 

(MIRL), Runway Identifier Lights (REILS)  and Precision Approach Path Indicator (PAPI) 

are also available.  An 84,000 square foot apron and 32-stall parking lot was opened 

in October 2020.   A 3,600 square foot temporary terminal/FBO opened June 2022.  

An additional 84,000 square foot apron opened April 7, 2023.  Future facilities to be 

constructed include:  

✓ Aviation Fuel Farm 

✓ Permanent Terminal/FBO Building 

✓ Automated Weather Observation System (AWOS) 

✓ RNAV GPS Instrument Approach   

✓ T – Hangar Taxilanes and T-Hangars 



3 
 

 

 

 

IV. OPPORTUNITIES  FOR TERMINAL SOUTH REDEVELOPMENT  

The Airport has a need to establish reliable, defensible levels of service, incumbent of a 

full-service airport, catering to the flying public and the airport’s clientele,  

discriminating aircraft owners and commercial operators.   

Terminal South is the legacy airport approximated by 76 acres comprised of the old 

Runway 03 – 21 paved by the State of South Carolina in 1960. There are 42 legacy 

hangars, privately owned, constructed in the intervening years.  

The Airport is positioned  in the high-growth area serving the South Carolina 

Lowcountry of South Carolina and the Coastal Empire of Georgia, approximately 

612,000 persons according to the 2020 Census.  The County intends to select 

proposer(s) based upon competitive proposals submitted pursuant to this Request for 

Proposals (RFP).  After evaluation of all proposals, the County intends to enter into 

agreement(s) with the selected proposer(s). 

V. MINIMUM STANDARDS 

The Proposer(s) shall demonstrate in their proposal(s) the ability to meet or exceed the 

airport “Minimum Standards for Hangar Construction” , Version May 10, 2019, 

adopted June 2019, and “Minimum Standards for Aeronautical Services.” 

VI. CONTRACT REQUIREMENTS 

The successful proposer(s) will be required to contract with Jasper County, South 

Carolina; subject to review by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and South 

Carolina Aeronautics Commission.   

VII. SELECTION COMMITTEE AND EVALUATION 

The County Administrator, Development Services Director (Airport Manager) and 

Administrative Services Director (selection committee) will evaluate the submittals 

received by the aforementioned deadline. 

EVALUATION CRITERIA 

Design & Construction Timetable (20%) 

Totality of proposal to provide Terminal South Redevelopment (30%) 

Services, equipment and capital investment proposed. (50%) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



4 
 

 

 

 

 

VIII. SELECTION OF SUCCESSFUL PROPOSAL 

The Selection Committee will select, in its sole discretion, the proposer(s) that the 

Airport desires to contract with for hangar development/redevelopment at the  

Ridgeland – Claude Dean Airport, Terminal South.  Under the appropriate ground 

lease(s) and operating agreements, the selected proposer(s) will meet the Airport’s 

requirements for hangar  and associated structures in accordance with airport 

“Minimum Standards for Hangar Construction’ as it may be modified through 

negotiations with the Airport and incorporated into the Terminal South Redevelopment 

Plan.    

If the Airport and the selected proposer(s) cannot agree on contract terms or of the 

selected proposer fails to promptly execute design & construction of hangar(s) and 

associated structures agreement tendered, the Airport may abandon its discussions 

with the selected proposer(s) and select other proposer(s) by readvertising the RFP 

and/or selection from the current and subsequent list of proposers. 

IX. PROPOSAL DEADLINE 

RFP documents nine (9) originals of which must be  delivered via mail or in person, 

and marked “3J1 Terminal South Redevelopment RFP” on the outside of the 

envelope.  Mailed documents must be post-marked no later than Friday, March 22, 

2024.  Documents must be complete and include information requested in these 

instructions. 

Please limit proposals to no more than five  (5) pages, single-sided (minimum 11 point 

font) including cover letter. 

X. PROPOSAL INQUIRIES 

All inquiries concerning technical requirements of this RFP or request for inspection of 

the airport facilities shall be directed by email to: 

Danny Lucas 

Director, Development Services Division 

Jasper County Government 

dlucas@jaspercountysc.gov 

XI. SUBMITTALS 

Please submit RFP documents to: 

Kimberly Burgess 

Director, Administrative Services Division 

Jasper County Government 

P.O. Box 1149 

358 3rd Avenue 

Ridgeland, SC 29936 

 

mailto:dlucas@jaspercountysc.gov


5 
 

 

 

 

XII.  EXHIBIT “A” 

The proposer(s) shall use Exhibit “A” as a guide to determine hangar construction 

opportunities for Terminal South Redevelopment.  Exhibit “A” illustrates; but is not 

restrictive of hangar construction opportunities available to proposer(s).  The red 

scalloped area is available for initial development/redevelopment.  The area north of 

the red scalloped area is not available to this Request for proposals (RFP). 

  



6 
 

 











































































































 
 

Minutes - 
10.16.2023  

 

JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 

Jasper County Clementa C. Pinckney Government Bldg.  
     358 3rd Avenue, Ridgeland, SC 29936                                                                                                                                     

     Monday, October 16, 2023 

 
Officials Present: Chairman L. Martin Sauls IV, Vice Chairwoman Barbara B. Clark, Councilman Pastor Alvin 
Adkins, Councilman John Kemp, Councilman Coy Garbade  

 
Staff Present: County Administrator Andrew Fulghum, Clerk to Council Wanda Giles, County Attorney David   
Tedder, Kimberly Burgess, Russell Wells, Rose Dobson-Elliott, Danny Lucas and Videographer Jonathan 
Dunham.   

 
1.  Call to Order:  
Chairman Sauls called the Executive Session Meeting to order and read the Report of Compliance with the   
 Freedom of Information Act was read for the records as follows:  In compliance with the Freedom of   
 Information Act, notice of meetings and agendas were posted and furnished to all news media and persons  
 requesting notification. 

 
2.         Executive Session SECTION 30-4-70.   

(a) A public body may hold a meeting closed to the public for one or more of the following reasons: 
 
(1) Discussion of employment, appointment, compensation, promotion, demotion,  

       discipline, or release of an employee, a student, or a person regulated by a public body or    
the appointment of a person to a public body – Levy Fire Protection District Board  

 
(2)  Discussion of negotiations incident to proposed contract arrangements and 
proposed purchase or sale of property, the receipt of legal advice where the legal 
advice related to pending, threatened, or potential claim or other matters covered 
by the attorney-client privilege, settlement of legal claims, or the position of the 
public agency in other adversary situations involving the assertion against the 
agency of a claim – Davis v. Jasper County; Cameron Heddings v Jasper County;  
Horowitz / McDowell v Jasper County; Airport Matters - Removal of Fuel Tank,  
Professional Services Contract with Holt Consulting Company LLC; Ridgeland Fire 
Contract; Lobbying Services Contract; Exit 3; Tax Map #’s 063-26-14-001 and  
063-26-14-002; Tax Map # 067-00-01-010; Coroner’s Contracts for Transport; 
Discussion of IGA – Ambulance Service pursuant to § 6-1-190; Discussion of IGA – 
Fire Protection and Emergency Services with the Town of Ridgeland; Project 
Showcase Legal Representation 
 

       (5)  Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision  



 
 

Minutes - 
10.16.2023  

 

     of services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in 
     the area served by a public body – Prospect Update  
 

Motion to go into executive session:  Councilman Kemp 
Second:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  

 
ANY EXECUTIVE SESSION MATTER ON WHICH DISCUSSION HAS NOT BEEN COMPLETED MAY HAVE 
DISCUSSION SUSPENDED FOR PURPOSES OF BEGINNING THE OPEN SESSION AT ITS SCHEDULED TIME, AND 
COUNCIL MAY RETURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION DISCUSSION AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF THE OPEN SESSION 
AGENDA ITEMS. PLEASE BE ADVISED THERE MAY BE VOTES BASED ON ITEMS FROM THE EXECUTIVE SESSION. 
   
3:  Return to Open Session at 6:30PM 
 
Motion to return to open session:  Councilman Adkins 
Second:  Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
o 3.1 Action coming out of Executive Session: 
 
Motion to move to authorize the county administrator to execute a Waiver of Conflict regarding Parker Poe’s 
proposed representation of Unified Resources and it's affiliates in Fee in Lieu Negotiations with Jasper County 
as requested by Parker Poe in its disclosure correspondence:   Vice Chairwoman Clark   
Second:  Councilman Adkins  
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
4. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation:  
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was given, and Councilman Adkins gave the invocation. 
Chairman Sauls welcomed everyone and noted that everyone was wearing pink in observance and to 
represent Breast Cancer Awareness Month.  
 
5. Discussion of Consent Agenda and Agenda Items: The Consent Agenda was discussed and it was decided 
that R-2023-21 would be removed from this agenda. 
 
6. Approval of Agenda:  
 
Motion to approve the agenda with the removal of Item # 18 on the consent agenda 
shown as: Russell Wells- Consideration of Council Approval of Resolution #R-2023-21 
approving an Intergovernmental Agreement Regarding Fire Protection and Emergency 



 
 

Minutes - 
10.16.2023  

 

Services between Jasper County, South Carolina and the Town of Ridgeland, and matters 
related thereto and tabled to the 11.06.2023 meeting – Councilman Kemp 
Second:  Councilman Adkins  
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
7. Chairman Sauls – Proclamation: A proclamation to Ms. Beatrice Graham from the Jasper County 
Council in Recognition of her 105th Birthday and her accomplishments.  
 
Chairman Sauls read the proclamation for the record and he along with Council presented this 
Proclamation to Ms. Beatrice Graham. Ms. Graham’s family was in attendance Chairman Sauls and Council 
congratulated her.  Chairman Sauls noted that she was the 2nd eldest person in South Carolina. 
 
8. Chris Hance and Bill Ramsey of M.B. Kahn – M.B. Kahn Update  
 
M.B. Kahn gave an update to Council and discussed the Ridgeland-Claude Dean Airport Apron Expansion and the 
Farmer’s Market Renovations. They also mentioned that coming into works was the Pratt Memorial Library, 
Courthouse Renovations, Coosawhatchie Fire Station and Community Center, Ridgeland-Claude Dean Airport 
Terminal.  They noted and discussed Capital Planning of additional projects awaiting work authorizations for FY20233 
and FY2024.  For more information on this presentation please see the 10.16.2023 agenda e-packet provided on our 
Elected Officials, County Council Page for Agenda’s, Minutes and E-Packets or for the video go to 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537 . 
 
 ______________________________________________________________________________________  

PUBLIC HEARINGS, ORDINANCES AND ACTION ITEMS 
 

 
9. David Tedder – Public Hearing and Consideration of the 3rd reading of Ordinance  
#O-2023-18 clarifying that the provisions of Ordinance O-2023-06, providing that certain 
property subject to the Development Agreement entered into by the County and Conduit 
Street Partners, LLC (CSP) must be conveyed by the property’s current owner to the developer 
thereof, includes the developer’s successors and assigns by recognizing  and acknowledging 
the acquisition may be by an affiliate of CSP, to provide for the approval of an Exhibit 
inadvertently omitted, and matters related thereto (1streading 09.18.2023; Public Hearing and 
2nd reading 10.02.2023). 
 
Mr. Tedder was present to discuss and review this 3rd reading of the ordinance that was up for 
consideration by the Council.  He noted there was a public hearing tonight on this item. The 
public hearing for tonight was called to order but there were no comments, so the public 
hearing closed.   
 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537


 
 

Minutes - 
10.16.2023  

 

Motion to approve:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second: Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
10.  Mike Skinner – Consideration of approval of Addendum #2 Scope and Fee Addition to 
March 30, 2023, Engagement Letter with Mauldin and Jenkins.  
 
Mr. Skinner was present to discuss and review this request for the approval of Addendum #2 Scope and Fee Addition 
to March 30, 2023, Engagement Letter with Mauldin and Jenkins. For information on this presentation the video an 

be found by going to https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537 . 
  
Motion to approve this request:  Councilman Kemp 
Second: Chairman Sauls  
Vote:   
Councilman Kemp – Yes 
Councilman Adkins – No  
Chairman Sauls – Yes 
Vice Chairwoman Clark – No 
Councilman Garbade – No 
The motion failed. 
 
11. Wanda Simmons – Consideration of Planning Commission Appointments. 
 
Ms. Simmons was present to discuss and review this request for the consideration of Planning 
Commission Appointments. She noted that the Planning Commission needs two new Planning 
Commission Members due to vacancies.  She mentioned that there were three applications that 
were provided to the Council in their E-Packet from 1) Mr. Lee Steven Gramling; 2) Mr. Brent 
Allen Robinson and 3) Ms. Cathleen DeCourcy.  Staff recommended approval of two of the three 
candidates that were currently proposed to Council for full length 4-year terms.      
 
Motion to approve Mr. Gramling and Mr. Robinson for the full 4-year term and any unexpired portion of the 
term they were to fill: Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second: Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
12. Open Floor to the Public per Ordinance 08-17 Any citizen of the County may sign to speak in person at 
the Council Meeting (before the Council Meeting’s 6:30PM start time on the Sign-In Sheet on the 
Podium), to address Council on matters pertaining to County Services and Operations. Presentations will 
be limited to three (3) minutes per person and total public input will be limited to 30 minutes. 
 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537


 
 

Minutes - 
10.16.2023  

 

Mr. George Lipskey spoke on behalf of Treasurer Skinner noted that they had elected him for this position 
and asked that Council consider the things he is asking for. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
13.  Administrator’s Report - Mr. Fulghum reviewed his information. There were no Action Items requiring 
a vote from Council in the Administrator’s Report.    
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

 
CONSENT AGENDA 

Motion to approve except for Item #18 which was removed and tabled:  Vice Chairwoman  
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

 
14. Russell Wells – Consideration of Council Approval of Resolution #R-2023-19 declaring 
certain property to be surplus and authorizing its sale or disposition – Emergency Services 
Division – Self Contained Breathing Apparatus and Cylinders.  
 
15. Danny Lucas – Consideration of Council Approval of Resolution #R-2023-20 approving the Sole Source 
Procurement of a Lektro Aircraft Tow Vehicle, With Specified Optional Accessories, for Skyblue Aviation 
FBO, Ridgeland -Claude Dean Airport. 
 
16. Kim Burgess – Consideration of Council Approval of the MB Kahn Work authorization 
for the Coosawhatchie Fire Station. 
 
17.  Kim Burgess – Consideration of Council Approval for the award of the Robertville 
HVAC bid for repairs and a request to authorize the County Administrator to execute all 
documents related thereto. 
 
18.  Russell Wells- Consideration of Council Approval of Resolution #R-2023-21 approving 
an Intergovernmental Agreement Regarding Fire Protection and Emergency Services 
between Jasper County, South Carolina and the Town of Ridgeland, and matters related 
thereto.  This item was removed from the consent agenda and tabled to the 11.06.2023 
meeting. 
 
19.  Approval of the Minutes of 06.05.2023:  
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

END OF CONSENT AGENDA 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
20.   Council Members Comments 
Councilmember Comments were given but there were no comments that required action. 

 



 
 

Minutes - 
10.16.2023  

 

21.  Possible Return to Executive Session to Continue Discussion on Matters Regarding Agenda  
Item II. There was no need to return to Executive Session for this meeting. For additional information on this 
meeting please visit our website for the E-Packet or for the video go to 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537 . 
 

22. Adjournment: 
 
Motion to Adjourn:  Vice Chairwoman  
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The meeting adjourned at 7:35pm.  
 
Respectfully submitted:      
           
_______________________________________ 
Wanda H. Giles 
Clerk to Council        
       ________________________________________   

          L.  Martin Sauls IV 
Chairman                           

 
 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537


 
 

Minutes - 
11.06.2023  

 

JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 

WORKSHOP AND 

Jasper County Clementa C. Pinckney Government Bldg.  
     358 3rd Avenue, Ridgeland, SC 29936                                                                                                                                     

     Monday, November 6, 2023 

 

 
Workshop: 4:00PM  
 
Sales Tax Options: 
 
The workshop to discuss the following items began with a discussion of Sales Tax Options. 
Jared Fralix of Beaufort County was present to discuss Local Sales Tax Programs in South Carolina. He 
mentioned that there are 8 Local Sales Tax Options in South Carolina:  Local Option Sales Tax (LOST); Capital 
Projects Sales Tax (CPST); Local Property Tax Credit Sales Tax; Personal property Tax Relief Sales Tax; Local 
Option Tourism Development Fee; Local Transportation Project Sales Tax; Local Hospitality and 
Accommodations Tax; and Greenspace Sales Tax.   
 
He showed a picture of the State of South Carolina showing the Local Tax Designation by County of the 
different Sales Tax Options throughout the state. He noted that South Carolina sales tax is 6% and Counties 
have the option to add up to an additional 3 pennies. He noted that Jasper County had an additional 3 
pennies until the Transportation Tax came off.  A copy of this presentation is included with these minutes 
as Attachment “A”.  Kate Schaefer was present to discuss the Open Land Trust – Land Conservation Funding 
/ Sales Tax.  She asked that Council consider the option of land protection.   
For additional information on this please visit the video located at 
https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537  
 
Discussion of Ordinances: 
 
Mr. Tedder was present to discuss with Council County Ordinances.  He e discussed and reviewed 
information regarding these ordinances in the order below for the following areas: 

o Extraneous Boards and Commissions  
o Board of Assessors Appeals 
o Noise Ordinance   
o Animal Ordinances  
o Article II Administration  

 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537


 
 

Minutes - 
11.06.2023  

 

  The workshop meeting moved into the Regular Council Meeting. 
 

Officials Present: Chairman L. Martin Sauls IV, and Vice Chairwoman Barbara B. Clark, Councilman Pastor Alvin 
Adkins and Councilman Kemp. Absent: Councilman Coy Garbade 

Staff Present: County Administrator Andrew Fulghum, Clerk to Council Wanda Giles, County Attorney David   
Tedder, Kimberly Burgess, Russell Wells, Rose Dobson-Elliott, Danny Lucas and Videographer Jonathan   
Dunham.   

 
1.  Call to Order:  
Chairman Sauls called the Executive Session Meeting to order and read the Report of Compliance with the   
 Freedom of Information Act was read for the records as follows:  In compliance with the Freedom of   
 Information Act, notice of meetings and agendas were posted and furnished to all news media and persons  
 requesting notification. 

 
2.         Executive Session SECTION 30-4-70.   

(a) A public body may hold a meeting closed to the public for one or more of the following reasons: 
 
(1) Discussion of employment, appointment, compensation, promotion, demotion,  

       discipline, or release of an employee, a student, or a person regulated by a public body or    
                  the appointment of a person to a public body – County Administrator, County Attorney, and   
                  Clerk to Council Performance Evaluations    

 
                 (2)  Discussion of negotiations incident to proposed contract arrangements and proposed     
                 purchase or sale of property, the receipt of legal advice where the legal advice related to    
                 pending, threatened, or potential claim or other matters covered by the attorney-client  
                 privilege, settlement of legal claims, or the position of the public agency in other adversary  
                 situations involving the assertion against the agency of a claim – Opioid Plan MOU with New    
                 Life Center; Cameron Heddings v. Jasper County; Professional services contract Holt Consulting  
                 Company, LLC, Work Authorization # 23 Runway Length Justification Study; Exit 3; Ridgeland  
                 Fire Contract, Tax Map #s 087-00-05-008 and 087-00-05-009; Professional services Newkirk    
                 Environmental Inc.; Discussion of IGA – Hardeeville Ambulance Service pursuant to § 6-1-190;  

 
   (5)  Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision  
   of services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in 
   the area served by a public body – Prospect Update  
 

Motion to go into Executive Session: Councilman Adkins 
Second: Vice Chairwoman Clark   
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 

 
ANY EXECUTIVE SESSION MATTER ON WHICH DISCUSSION HAS NOT BEEN COMPLETED MAY HAVE 
DISCUSSION SUSPENDED FOR PURPOSES OF BEGINNING THE OPEN SESSION AT ITS SCHEDULED TIME, AND 
COUNCIL MAY RETURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION DISCUSSION AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF THE OPEN SESSION 
AGENDA ITEMS. PLEASE BE ADVISED THERE MAY BE VOTES BASED ON ITEMS FROM THE EXECUTIVE SESSION. 



 
 

Minutes - 
11.06.2023  

 

   
3. Return to Open Session at 6:30PM 
Motion to go into Regular Session: Councilman Adkins 
Second: Vice Chairwoman Clark   
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 

o 3.1 Action coming out of Executive Session – There was no action from executive session. 
 
4. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation:  
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was given, and Councilman Adkins gave the invocation. 
Chairman Sauls welcomed everyone and mentioned Mayor Harry Williams, Councilman Bo White, Dr. 
Anderson, Mr. James Williams, and Treasurer Mike Skinner.  
 
5. Discussion of Consent Agenda and Agenda Items: None 
 
6. Approval of Agenda:  
 
Chairman Sauls said before the Motion on the Approval of the Agenda that he would like to move Item # 17 
to after Approval of the Agenda, so the people speaking could be heard at that time. 
 
Motion to approve the Agenda with the noted change as requested: Councilman Kemp 
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
Chairman Sauls moved on to the following items at this point:  
 
Proclamation presentation for the Young Marines of the Marine Corps League for Jasper County’s Support 
of Red Ribbon Week 2023.   
Chairman Sauls asked if anyone was present regarding this Proclamation presentation for the Young 
Marines of the Marine Corps League for Jasper County’s Support of Red Ribbon Week 2023.  There was no 
one present to accept the proclamation, so Chairman Sauls asked the Clerk to Council to contact her for 
this item to be on the next meeting on 12.04.2023. 
 
Chairman Sauls asked Michelle Gaston to provide her update on the Beaufort Jasper 
Housing Trust. 
Ms. Gaston was present to bring the County Council up to date by providing an update on 
the Beaufort Jasper Housing Trust. She noted that she was the Representative for the County 
to the Beaufort Jasper Housing Trust Board and that she is their Secretary Treasurer.  She 
gave a Structural Updates and Changes and what they have been doing over the course of 
the 2023 year.  She mentioned the retreat upcoming the next week and after giving her 



 
 

Minutes - 
11.06.2023  

 

update noted another update would be forthcoming after the Board’s Retreat. She noted 
upcoming dates of interest to the Council.   
 
Chairman Sauls asked Heather Rath to begin her Legislative Update Presentation:   
 
Ms. Heather Rath provided the Council with a presentation on the information related to her legislative 
update. A copy of this presentation is included with these minutes as Attachment “B”.   
For additional information on these presentations please see our video go at 
https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537 . 
 
Citizen Comments: This item was moved from Item #17 to this location after the Approval of the Agenda.  
Open Floor to the Public per Ordinance 08-17 Any citizen of the County may sign to speak in person at 
the Council Meeting (before the Council Meeting’s 6:30PM start time on the Sign-In Sheet on the 
Podium), to address Council on matters pertaining to County Services and Operations. Presentations will 
be limited to three (3) minutes per person and total public input will be limited to 30 minutes.   
 
Karen Wild noted that she was speaking as a concerned citizen and said she was not happy with the 
outcome of the issues as discussed by Treasurer Skinner’s request from Council. She urged that Council 
please approve Mr. Skinner's request. 
 
Ms. Frazier discussed the Coosawhatchie Community Center and asked for Quarterly Reports on the progress 
of the Community Center and for them to have input on the center.  
 
Ms. Verna Garvin was present to discuss the County Treasurer Office regarding how the previous Treasurer’s 
office was operated by Ms. Garvin and her staff.  She noted she was not pleased with what the new County 
Treasurer was saying about her previous Administration of the Treasurer’s Office and urged Council to come to 
her if they had any questions for her regarding her time in office. She discussed the decal inventory and noted 
that the decal inventory that were left were all left in the safe in the Treasurer’s Office along with any voided 
decals of that office.  
 
Mr. Anthony Crissoli discussed wanting Council to provide the Treasurer with the funds he was requesting for 
his office. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
7. Chairman Sauls –  Proclamation presentation to the Young Marines of the Marine Corps League for 
Jasper County’s Support of Red Ribbon Week 2023. - This item was handled after the Approval of the 
Agenda and before the Citizen Comments (please see information on this item above). 
 
8. Michelle Gaston – Update on the Beaufort Jasper Housing Trust - This item was handled after the 
Approval of the Agenda and before the Citizen Comments (please see information on this item above). 
 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537


 
 

Minutes - 
11.06.2023  

 

9. Heather Rath:  Presentation - Legislative Update - This item was handled after the Approval of the 
Agenda and before the Citizen Comments (please see information on this item above). 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

RESOLUTIONS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
10.  Russell Wells – Consideration of Resolution #R-2023-21 approving the Memorandum of 

Understanding with the Town of Ridgeland – Fire Service Contract. 

Chief Wells was present to review, discuss and address this request for Resolution #R-2023-21 to approve 

the Memorandum of Understanding with the Town of Ridgeland – Fire Service Contract. He also asked for 

the Administrator to be allowed to enact the contract upon the Council’s acceptance of the Resolution. 

Motion to approve:  Councilman Adkins 
Second: Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
Mr. Jones was not present in the Chambers to address this item, so Item #12 was handled at this 

time. 

12.  Russell Wells – Consideration of Resolution #R-2023-23 approving an IGA between Jasper County and 

the City of Hardeeville Regarding Emergency Transport/Ambulance Services.   

Chief Wells was present to review, discuss and address the Resolution #R-2023-23 to approve the IGA 

between Jasper County and the City of Hardeeville Regarding Emergency Transport/Ambulance 

Services. Chief Wells discussed that the City of Hardeeville had acquired an ambulance and wanted to put it 

into service.  He noted that one of the things necessary was to have the legal authority to respond into 

their jurisdiction just as much as for them to respond and give the County aid as outlined by the SC Code of  

Law Section 6-1-190.  Chairman Sauls noted that the City of Hardeeville had purchased the ambulance and 

thanked Mayor Williams, the Council, and the City of Hardeeville for that purchase. 

11.  Ray Jones – Consideration of Resolution #R-2023-22 authorizing Jasper County, South 

Carolina to enter into an Intergovernmental Agreement with the City Of Hardeeville, South 

Carolina to Provide for the Utilization of a Percentage of Jasper County’s Tax Increment 

Financing Revenues And Other Related Matters. 

Mr. David Tedder was present to review, discuss and address on Mr. Jones’ behalf Resolution #R-2023-22 

to authorize Jasper County, South Carolina to enter into an Intergovernmental Agreement with the City of 

Hardeeville, South Carolina to Provide for the Utilization of a Percentage of Jasper County’s Tax Increment 

Financing Revenues. He noted that this was part of the Exit 3 Financing. 

Motion to approve:  Councilman Adkins 
Second: Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 



 
 

Minutes - 
11.06.2023  

 

12.  Russell Wells – Consideration of Resolution #R-2023-23 approving an IGA between Jasper County and 

the City of Hardeeville Regarding Emergency Transport/Ambulance Services.   

This item and vote were addressed prior to Item #11.  Please see information and vote on this item above. 

___________________________________________________________________________________  
PUBLIC HEARINGS, ORDINANCES AND ACTION ITEMS 

 

 
13.  Mike Skinner – Consideration of approval of Addendum #2 Scope and Fee Addition to 
March 30, 2023 Engagement Letter with Mauldin and Jenkins.  
 
Mr. Skinner was present to review, discuss and address the consideration of approval of Addendum #2 
Scope and Fee Addition to March 30, 2023, Engagement Letter with Mauldin and Jenkins. He said he stood 
by every report he had given to Council as fact. He noted he had placed a chart at each Council Seat of what 
his office had done.  This discussion included the financial operations of his office and the interest rates of 
funds. He noted that the monies he had asked for that he had already paid for tenfold. Chairman Sauls 
asked if they had received the first scope the Council had asked for the scope of work.  Mr. Skinner said 
that they were still working on that. He also discussed the switch to Sturgess. For additional information on 
this item please see our video go at https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537 . 
 
Motion to table this request till the next Council Meeting in December because at the last Council Meeting 
the Council requested the already approved audit report which they did not receive. The Council will consider 
a proposal that addresses both the Escheatment Audit identifying differences in the day-to-day operations 
such as Ledger entries provided, we get the audit report requested.:  Councilman Kemp 
Second: Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
14. Kim Burgess – Consideration of the 1st reading of an Ordinance Amending the Business 
License Ordinance of the County of Jasper to Update the Class Schedule as required by Act 
176 of 2020.  
 
Ms. Burgess was present to review, discuss and address the 1st reading of an Ordinance 
Amending the Business License Ordinance of the County of Jasper to Update the Class 
Schedule as required by Act 176 of 2020. Councilman Kemp said he would like to see an 
Entrepreneurial Incentive to help business startups. 
 
Motion to approve:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second: Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 

 
 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537


 
 

Minutes - 
11.06.2023  

 

15. Ray Jones – Consideration of the 1st reading of an Ordinance Authorizing and Approving a Loan  
from the South Carolina Transportation Infrastructure Bank; An Intergovernmental Agreement 
among Jasper County, South Carolina, The City of Hardeeville, South Carolina and the South 
Carolina Transportation Infrastructure Bank; and other related matters. (Exit 3 Finance 
Document). 
 
Mr. David Tedder was present to review, discuss and address on behalf of Mr. Jones the 
consideration of the 1st reading of an Ordinance Authorizing and Approving a Loan from the South 
Carolina Transportation Infrastructure Bank; An Intergovernmental Agreement among Jasper 
County, South Carolina, The City of Hardeeville, South Carolina, and the South Carolina 
Transportation Infrastructure Bank for the Exit 3 Finance Document. 
 
Motion to approve:  Councilman Adkins 
Second: Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
16. David Tedder – Consideration of the 1st reading of an Ordinance Amending Section 9-96(3) as adopted  

by Ordinance No. 2022-39 to provide for the appointment of members to the Levy Fire Protection Board.  

Mr. Tedder was present to review, discuss and address the consideration of the 1st reading of an Ordinance 

Amending Section 9-96(3) as adopted by Ordinance No. 2022-39 to provide for the appointment of 

members to the Levy Fire Protection Board.  

He noted that the changes were to amend the portion that on the initial Board that 3 members were to 

come from the Levy Volunteer Fire District area and 2 of those were to be former board members.  He 

noted that there had been problems in fulfilling that requirement. This change, he noted, would allow for it 

to be modified that the ordinance be amended to use 3 people from the Levy Fire District area rather than 

requiring that 2 members be from the former board.  He noted that the public hearing would be coming 

forward with the December meeting. 

Motion to approve:  Councilman Adkins 
Second: Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

CITIZEN COMMENTS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
17. Open Floor to the Public per Ordinance 08-17 Any citizen of the County may sign to speak in person at 
the Council Meeting (before the Council Meeting’s 6:30PM start time on the Sign-In Sheet on the 
Podium), to address Council on matters pertaining to County Services and Operations. Presentations will 
be limited to three (3) minutes per person and total public input will be limited to 30 minutes.   
 



 
 

Minutes - 
11.06.2023  

 

This item was moved to the next item after the Approval of the Agenda. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
18.  Administrator’s Report -  Mr. Fulghum reviewed his information. There were no Action Items requiring 
a vote from Council in the Administrator’s Report.    
  
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

CONSENT AGENDA 
Motion to approve:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

 
19. Wanda Simmons – Consideration of Council Approval for the Re-appointment of Julie 
Mikols for a 4-year term to the Library Board of Trustees.   
 
20. Wanda Simmons – Consideration of Council Approval for the Appointment of Brian Polston to the 
Board of Zoning Appeals. 
 
21.  Kim Burgess – Consideration of Council Approval for the Ratification of Contract 
Building Solutions LLC Change Order #1. 
 
22.  Andrew Fulghum – Consideration of Memorandum of Understanding between Jasper County and 
Lowcountry Council of Governments SC315/SC46 Bluffton Parkway Study Local Match. 
 
23.  Approval of the Minutes of 06.12.2023  
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
24.   Council Members Comments 
Councilmember Comments were given but there were no comments that required action. 

 
25.  Possible Return to Executive Session to Continue Discussion on Matters Regarding Agenda  
Item II. There was no need to return to Executive Session for this meeting. For additional information on this 
meeting please visit our website for the E-Packet or for the video go to 
https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537 . 

 
26. Adjournment: 
Motion to Adjourn:  Vice Chairwoman  
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537


 
 

Minutes - 
11.06.2023  

 

The meeting adjourned.  
 
Respectfully submitted:      
           
_______________________________________ 
Wanda H. Giles 
Clerk to Council                
                                                                                               ________________________________________   

          L.  Martin Sauls IV 
Chairman     



 
 

Minutes - 
12.04.2023  

 

JASPER COUNTY COUNCIL 

Jasper County Clementa C. Pinckney Government Bldg.  
     358 3rd Avenue, Ridgeland, SC 29936                                                                                                                                     

     Monday, December 4, 2023 

 
 Officials Present: Chairman L. Martin Sauls IV, Vice Chairwoman Barbara B. Clark, Councilman Pastor    
 Alvin Adkins, Councilman John Kemp, and Councilman Coy Garbade  
  
 Staff Present: County Administrator Andrew Fulghum, Clerk to Council Wanda Giles, County Attorney David   
 Tedder, Kimberly Burgess, Russell Wells, Rose Dobson-Elliott, and Videographer Jonathan Dunham.   

 
1.  Call to Order:  
Chairman Sauls called the Executive Session Meeting to order and read the Report of Compliance with the   
 Freedom of Information Act was read for the records as follows:  In compliance with the Freedom of   
 Information Act, notice of meetings and agendas were posted and furnished to all news media and persons  
 requesting notification. 

 
  2.       Executive Session SECTION 30-4-70.   

(a) A public body may hold a meeting closed to the public for one or more of the following reasons: 
 

   (1) Discussion of employment, appointment, compensation, promotion, demotion,  
     discipline, or release of an employee, a student, or a person regulated by a public body or    

                 the appointment of a person to a public body – County Administrator, County Attorney, and   
                 Clerk to Council Performance Evaluations    

 
                 (2)  Discussion of negotiations incident to proposed contract arrangements and proposed     
                 purchase or sale of property, the receipt of legal advice where the legal advice related to    
                 pending, threatened, or potential claim or other matters covered by the attorney-client  
                 privilege, settlement of legal claims, or the position of the public agency in other adversary  
                 situations involving the assertion against the agency of a claim – Opioid Plan MOU with New    

       Life Center; Estate of Guerra v. Jasper County; Tax Map #’s 063-26-14-001 and  
       063-26-14-002; Agreement and Lease with Jasper Animal Rescue Mission (JARM);  
       Gillisonville Pond – Farmer Property Tax Map # 050-00-04-043 Development Agreement; 

    Land lease on Lot 062-21-01-001-G-1; Heather Rath Consulting Agreement; Proposed Lease /    
    Purchase Agreement for Fire Apparatus 
 
    (5)  Discussion of matters relating to the proposed location, expansion, or the provision  
    of services encouraging location or expansion of industries or other businesses in 
    the area served by a public body – Prospect Update; Project Showcase; Gopher Hill / TICO MCIP /     
    FILOT 



 
 

Minutes - 
12.04.2023  

 

Motion to go into executive session:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Garbade 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.  

 
ANY EXECUTIVE SESSION MATTER ON WHICH DISCUSSION HAS NOT BEEN COMPLETED MAY HAVE DISCUSSION 
SUSPENDED FOR PURPOSES OF BEGINNING THE OPEN SESSION AT ITS SCHEDULED TIME, AND COUNCIL MAY RETURN 
TO EXECUTIVE SESSION DISCUSSION AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF THE OPEN SESSION AGENDA ITEMS. PLEASE BE 
ADVISED THERE MAY BE VOTES BASED ON ITEMS FROM THE EXECUTIVE SESSION. 

 
3. Return to Open Session at 6:30PM 
 
Motion to return to open session:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 

o 3.1 Action coming out of Executive Session – There was no action from executive session. 
 
4. Pledge of Allegiance and Invocation:  
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was given, and Councilman Adkins gave the invocation. 
 
5. Discussion of Consent Agenda and Agenda Items: None 
 
6. Approval of Agenda:  
 
Motion to approve the Agenda – Councilman Adkins 
Second:   Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed.   
______________________________________________________________________________________  

PRESENTATIONS AND PROCLAMATIONS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
7.  David Tedder – Proclamation of Jasper County’s Support of Red Ribbon Week 2023 
 
Mr. Tedder was present to read and present this proclamation request for a Proclamation of Jasper 
County’s Support of Red Ribbon Week 2023.   
 
Motion to approve – Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 



 
 

Minutes - 
12.04.2023  

 

8.  Coroner Aiken – Request for an Assigned “Take Home” Vehicle  
Coroner Aiken was not present to discuss his item on the agenda. 
 
9. Rose Dobson Elliott – Update on Jasper County Capital Projects. 
Ms. Dobson-Elliott provided an update for Council on the Jasper County Capital Projects.   
 
10.  Lyn Boyles – Keep Jasper Beautiful - Report of their accomplishments for 2023.   
Here is the 2023 Mid-Year Report information presented by Ms. Boyles during the Council 
Meeting: 
 
KEEP JASPER COUNTY BEAUTIFUL 
JULY 1- NOVEMBER 30, 2023 
REPORT SUMMARY 

• 18 TONS/36,000lbs. of litter collected by 511 VOLUNTEERS. 
• 1357 Volunteer Hours 
• $ VALUE OF VOLUNTEERS - $42,198 
• 21 TONS/42,000lbs. of litter & debris collected by the LITTER CREW 

o 106 hours of labor 
o 143 miles, 10 pickups 

• LITTER INDEX FOR COUNTY - 2.3 ( 1 is best, 4 worst) 
• EDUCATION WORKSHOPS - 6/ reached 496 youth 
• COMMUNITY WORKSHOPS - 4/ 75 attendees 
• EVENTS - 4/ reached 1500 ppl 
• ADOPT A HIGHWAY GROUPS - 26    
• COURT APPOINTED COMMUNITY SERVICE WORKERS - 8/ 60 hours per person 
• LITTER FINES ISSUED - $6800 

 
PARTNERSHIPS:  Jasper County, Town of Ridgeland, City of Hardeeville, Jasper County Sheriff Office, 
Hardeeville Police Department, Ridgeland Police Department, SC Department of Natural Resources, 
Ridgeland School District, Royal Live Oaks Academy, Thomas Heyward Academy, Legacy Christian 
Academy, Polaris Tech School, John Paul Catholic School, Ivy Garden Club, Waste Management, Coastal 
Waste Management, Jasper County Chamber of Commerce, SCDOT, 14th Circuit Solicitor’s Office, SC 
Probation Parole & Pardon, businesses and organizations. 
 
MARKETING: Facebook reaches approximately 5000 posts per month with 1500 engagements.  
Distributed 1200 brochures at events.  
Jasper Chamber posts monthly on their email blast and share our FB posts. 
City of Hardeeville & Town of Ridgeland post on their FB page  
English/Spanish litter- law cards in print for distribution 
Digital billboard  
Litter prevention and litter fines signs 
Facebook video campaign  
LAW ENFORCEMENT:  JCSO has cameras that move throughout the County. These cameras enable 
JCSO to report fines, hot spots, and dump sites to KJCB. JCSO assists KJCB with identifying and issuing 
fines to litter violators that KJCB encounters. 



 
 

Minutes - 
12.04.2023  

 

 
SCDNR & KJCB place and check cameras in hot spots. We placed 16 in February and have 6 remaining 
in the County. SCDNR helps place litter law signs throughout the County. DNR assists KJCB with 
identifying and issuing fines to litter violators that KJCB encounters. 
 
KJCB works closely with Jasper County Litter Control Officer, Dallas Lassiter with Jasper County Public 
Works and office of Dave Scheuerer, Jasper County Fire Marshal. KJCB works closely with Hardeeville 
Police Department with reporting litter fines, checking cameras, litter drives, dump sites and litter 
prevention events.  KJCB receives community service for non-violent offenders from the Municipal 
Courts, the 14 Circuit Solicitors Office and SC Probation, Parole & Pardon Services. KJCB works with 
Jasper County Parks and Recreation with cleaning the landings if we have volunteers available. 
Palmetto Pride Litter Crime Hotline reports to KJCB any litter complaints and dump site complaints. 
SC Litter Officers Association monitors the hotline. 

 
COMPLAINT CALLS FOR LITTER 
July, August, September   16 
October                                  15 
November                             29 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

RESOLUTIONS 
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
  
11.  Andrew Fulghum – Consideration of Resolution #R2023-24 Adopting Jasper County Opioid Funds 

Management Plan and authorizing the execution of a MOU with New Life Center. 

Mr. Fulghum was present to review and present this consideration of Resolution #R2023-24 adopting 
Jasper County Opioid Funds Management Plan and authorizing the execution of a MOU with New Life 
Center. 
 
Motion to approve  – Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 

12.  David Tedder – Consideration of Resolution #R-2023-25 Approving the Purchase of 112 Weathersbee 

and Matters Related Thereto. 

Mr. Tedder was present to review and present this consideration of Resolution #R-2023-25 approving the 

purchase of 112 Weathersbee and matters related. 

Motion to approve  – Councilman Adkins  
Second:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 



 
 

Minutes - 
12.04.2023  

 

13.  David Tedder – Consideration of Resolution #R-2023-26 Committing to Negotiate a Fee-
In-Lieu of AD VALOREM Taxes Agreement Between Jasper County and Project Showcase; 
Identifying the Project; and Other Matters Related Thereto. 
 
Mr. Tedder was present to review and present this consideration of Resolution #R-2023-26 
committing to negotiate a Fee-In-Lieu of AD VALOREM Taxes Agreement between Jasper 
County and Project Showcase; identifying the project; and other matters related. 
 
Motion to approve  – Councilman Adkins  
Second:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
______________________________________________________________________________________  

PUBLIC HEARINGS, ORDINANCES AND ACTION ITEMS 
 

 
14. Ryan Romano – Consideration of the 1st reading of an Ordinance an Ordinance Authorizing 
the Execution and Delivery of a Fee-In-Lieu of Ad Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement by 
and Between Jasper County, South Carolina and Project Showcase to Provide for Payment of a 
Fee-In-Lieu Of Taxes; Approving the Creation of a Multicounty Park with Hampton County, 
South Carolina; authorizing Certain Infrastructure Credits and; and Other Related Matters.  
 
Mr. Tedder on behalf of Mr. Romano was present to review and present this consideration of 
the 1st reading of an Ordinance authorizing the execution and delivery of a Fee-In-Lieu of Ad 
Valorem Taxes and Incentive Agreement by and between Jasper County, South Carolina and 
Project Showcase to provide for payment of a Fee-In-Lieu Of Taxes; approving the creation of a 
Multicounty Park with Hampton County, South Carolina; authorizing certain Infrastructure 
Credits and; and other related matters. 
 
Motion to approve  – Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 

15. Kim Burgess – Public Hearing and consideration of the 2nd reading of Ordinance  
#O-2023-19 Amending the Business License Ordinance of the County of Jasper to Update the 
Class Schedule as required by Act 176 of 2020.  

 

Kim Burgess was present to review and present this consideration of the 2nd reading of 
Ordinance #O-2023-19 Amending the Business License Ordinance of the County of Jasper to 
Update the Class Schedule as required by Act 176 of 2020. The public hearing was opened but 
there were no comments, so the public hearing was closed. 
 
Motion to approve  – Councilman Adkins  



 
 

Minutes - 
12.04.2023  

 

Second:  Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
16. Ryan Romano – Public Hearing and consideration of the 2nd reading of Ordinance #O-2023-20 
Authorizing and Approving a Loan from the South Carolina Transportation Infrastructure Bank; An 
Intergovernmental Agreement among Jasper County, South Carolina, The City of Hardeeville, 
South Carolina and the South Carolina Transportation Infrastructure Bank; and other related 
matters. (Exit 3 Finance Document)  
 
Mr. Tedder on behalf of Mr. Romano was present to review and present this consideration of the 
2nd reading of Ordinance #O-2023-20 Authorizing and Approving a Loan from the South Carolina 
Transportation Infrastructure Bank; An Intergovernmental Agreement among Jasper County, South 
Carolina, The City of Hardeeville, South Carolina, and the South Carolina Transportation 
Infrastructure Bank; and other related matters. Exit 3 Finance Document The public hearing was 
held but there were no comments so the public hearing was closed. 
 

Motion to approve  – Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
 
17. David Tedder – Public Hearing and consideration of the 2nd reading of Ordinance #O-2023-21 

Amending Section 9-96(3) as adopted by Ordinance No. 2022-39 to provide for the appointment of 

members to the Levy Fire Protection Board.  

Mr. Tedder was present to review and present this consideration of the 2nd reading of Ordinance               

#O-2023-21 Amending Section 9-96(3) as adopted by Ordinance No. 2022-39 to provide for the 

appointment of members to the Levy Fire Protection Board. The public hearing was held but there were no 

comments so the public hearing was closed. 

Motion to approve  – Vice Chairwoman Clark 
Second:  Councilman Adkins 
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 

18. David Tedder – Public Hearing Only for TICO MCIP and FILOT Agreement 

Mr. Tedder was present for this public hearing only for the TICO MCIP and FILOT Agreement.  
The public hearing was opened and there were no comments so the public hearing was 
closed. Mr. Tedder noted that this was an additional public heating tonight to refresh 
everyone’s memory before the final reading in 2024 due to the age of this document. This 
was a public hearing only, so no votes were taken.   
 
 



 
 

Minutes - 
12.04.2023  

 

_____________________________________________________________________________________  
CITIZEN COMMENTS 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
19. Open Floor to the Public per Ordinance 08-17 Any citizen of the County may sign to speak in person at 
the Council Meeting (before the Council Meeting’s 6:30PM start time on the Sign-In Sheet on the 
Podium), to address Council on matters pertaining to County Services and Operations. Presentations will 
be limited to three (3) minutes per person and total public input will be limited to 30 minutes. 
 
1. Alex Guilford was present to discuss Gilmaia Road. 
2. Eric Mungin was present to discuss Gilmaia Road. 
3. Charise Guilford was present to discuss Gilmaia Road. 
4. Kenneth Glasson was present to discuss credit card processing. 
5. Matthew Thompson was present to discuss credit card processing. He said that Mr. Skinner had asked 
him to come speak with the Council, as their new credit card processing company. 
6. Michael Skinner, County Treasurer was present to discuss the Treasurer’s Office and operations. 
7. Jim Grooms of TICO Mfg. was present to address the Council, to speak on behalf of TICO Mfg., and to 
thank the Council for their support. He invited the Council, to TICO Mfg. and noted that they had added 
more than 200 jobs.  
8. Verna Garvin was present to address the Council.  She noted that she had watched the 09.19.2023 
Council Meeting and that 98% of the information given by Treasurer Skinner was inaccurate information. 
She expressed her discontent with his comments.  
_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
20.  Administrator’s Report - Mr. Fulghum reviewed his information. There were no Action Items requiring 
a vote from the Council in the Administrator’s Report.    
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

CONSENT AGENDA 
Motion to approve: Councilman Adkins  
Second:  Vice Chairwoman Clark  
Vote:  Unanimous 
The motion passed. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

 
21.  Wanda Simmons – Consideration of re-appointments to the Planning Commission. 
 
22.  Wanda Simmons – Consideration of the draft schedule of 2024 County Council Schedule 

Meeting Dates for approval at the January 2, 2024, meeting. 

23. Kimberly Burgess – Consideration of awarding the bid for the Church Road Drainage 

Improvement Project. 

24. Rose Dobson Elliott – Consideration of replacement of the lighting at Point South. 



 
 

Minutes - 
12.04.2023  

 

25. Kimberly Burgess – Consideration of the Eagle View Contract for Pictometry (Aerial 

Photography) Services. 

26.  Approval of the Minutes 06.20.2023, 07.17.2023 and 07.20.2023   
_______________________________________________________________________________________  

 
END OF CONSENT AGENDA 

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
27.   Council Members Comments 
Councilmember Comments were given but there were no comments that required action. 

 
28.  Possible Return to Executive Session to Continue Discussion on Matters Regarding Agenda  
Item II. There was no need to return to the Executive Session for this meeting. For additional information on this 
meeting please visit our website for the E-Packet or for the video go to 

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537 . 
 

29. Adjournment: 
Motion to Adjourn:  Vice Chairwoman  
Second:  Councilman  
Vote:  Unanimous 
The meeting adjourned.  
 
Respectfully submitted:      
           
_______________________________________ 
Wanda H. Giles 
Clerk to Council                
                                                                                               ________________________________________   

          L.  Martin Sauls IV 
Chairman     

https://www.youtube.com/@jcmedia6537

	01.16.2024 Agenda - Final and Approved
	Agenda Sheet Item #  8
	Agenda Sheet Item #  9
	Agenda Sheet Item # 10
	Item # 10 - Resolution # R-2024-01 Peddlers and Hawkers Resolution rev
	Agenda Sheet Item # 11   
	Item # 11 -Resolution #R-2024-02 Surplus Property Sheriff's Department
	Agenda Sheet Item # 12
	Item # 12 - Part 1 - Ord # O-2024-01 -Jasper County Project Showcase - FILOT and MCIP Ordinance
	Item # 12 - Part 2 - Ord Redline - Jasper County Project Showcase - FILOT Ordinance (v2 vs. v1)
	Item # 12 - Part 3 - Jasper County Project Showcase - FILOT Agreement
	Item # 12 - Part 4 - Redline - Jasper County Project Showcase - FILOT Agreement (v2 vs. v1)
	Item # 12 - Part 5 - Jasper County Project Showcase - MCIP Agreement (Jasper_Hampton)
	Item # 12 - Part 6 - Redline - Jasper County Project Showcase - MCIP Agreement (JasperHampton) (v2 vs. v1)
	Agenda Sheet Item # 13
	Item # 13 - Ord# O-2023-21 - Ordinance amending Levy VFD appointments Nov 28 2023- 3rd read
	Agenda Sheet Item # 14
	Item # 14 - Part 1 - Ord# O-2022-38 - Jasper County (Gopher Hill Holdings LLC _ Terminal Investment Corporation) - FILOT and SSRC Ordinance (Final)
	Item # 14 - Part 2 - Ord# O-2022-38 - Redline - Jasper County (Gopher Hill Holdings LLC _ Terminal Investment Corporation) - FILOT and SSRC Ordinance (Final) and Jasper County (Gopher Hill Holdings_
	Item # 14 - Part 3 - FILOT -Jasper County (Refurb _ Gopher Hill Holdings LLC) - FILOT Agreement
	Item # 14 - Part 4 - Credit Infrast.Agrmt -  Jasper County (Terminal Investment Corporation) - Infrastructure Credit Agreement
	Item # 14 - Part 5 - MCIP - Jasper County Project Refurb (Cypress Ridge Gopher Hill) MCIP Agreement (003 for Public Hearing Nov 2023) (002)
	Agenda Sheet Item # 15
	Item # 15 - Part 1 - Staff Report - Re-zoning  951 Carolina Drive - Part 1
	Item # 15 - Part 2 - Ordinance - 951 Carolina Drive - Part 2
	Item # 15 - Part 3 - Aerial Map 951 Carolina Dr
	Item # 15 - Part 4 -  Aerial Map with Zoning Layer - 951 Carolina Dr
	Item # 15 - Part 5 - Google Map - Cherry Point Reclamation Facility - Part 5
	Agenda Sheet Item # 16   
	Agenda Sheet Item # 17
	Item # 17 - Administrator's Report 01.16.24
	Agenda Sheet Item # 18-24
	Item # 18 - 2024 COUNCIL MEETING SCHEDULE - Proposed
	Item # 19 - 03 REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) TERMINAL SOUTH REDEVELOPMENT 121223
	Item # 20 - Council MEMO Technical Assistance TPL 01.09.24
	Item # 21 - Proposal Presentation--Upgrades to IP and Audio Recording System and PLC System
	Item # 22 - Ratification of the Payment of Invoice for Installation of New Cat6 Cable
	Item # 23 - Council MEMO Heather Rath Consulting 01.09.24
	Item # 24 - Part 1 - 10.16.2023 Minutes to be approved at the 01.16.2024 meeting
	Item # 24 - Part 2 - 11.06.2023 Minutes for approval at the 01.16.2024 meeting
	Item # 24 - Part 3 - 12.04.2023 Minutes to be approved at the 01.16.2024 meeting



